AN *EX VIVO* ERYTHROCYTE STUDY: THE PROTECTIVE EFFECTS OF ANTIOXIDANTS AGAINST THE TOXICITY OF HEAVY METALS IN CIGARETTE SMOKE

By

Akaashni Nareschandra Bhika

Dissertation submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirement for the degree of

MASTERS OF SCIENCE

(MSc)

In the Faculty of Health Sciences Department of Anatomy University of Pretoria South Africa

Supervisor: Prof MJ Bester Co-supervisor: Miss JC Serem Department of Anatomy Faculty of Health Sciences 2017

AN *EX VIVO* ERYTHROCYTE STUDY: THE PROTECTIVE EFFECTS OF ANTIOXIDANTS AGAINST THE TOXICITY OF HEAVY METALS IN CIGARETTE SMOKE

Summary

Besides environmental exposure to metals, cigarette smoke either primary or secondary also contributes to metal exposure. This exposure in South Africa as well as in the rest of the world is increasing. Exposure to heavy metals such as lead (Pb), cadmium (Cd), chromium (Cr) and aluminium (AI) found in cigarette smoke can cause heavy metal toxicity, which includes the inhibition of antioxidant pathways via the depletion of antioxidant elements such as glutathione (GSH) and inhibition of antioxidant enzymes resulting in improper eradication of reactive oxygen species (ROS) which leads to cellular damage. A diet which is low in endogenous antioxidants such as polyphenols exacerbates this toxic effect. Supplementation with dietary antioxidants, if positive would be a cost effective, relatively simple method in helping to decrease the toxic effects of heavy metal exposure. Therefore the aim of this study was twofold, namely to determine the toxicity of metals commonly found in cigarette smoke using an erythrocyte ex vivo model and then to determine if antioxidants that are bioavailable can reduce toxicity. The methods used by this study are haemolysis assay, Fenton reaction, dichlorodihydrofluorescein diacetate (DCFH-DA) assay, Trolox equivalent antioxidant capacity (TEAC) assay, total flavonoid content (TFC) assay, Glutathione (GSH) assay and Scanning Electron Microscopy (SEM).

Pb was found to be the most toxic metal, causing 50% haemolysis (H50%) at a concentration of 16.00mM and toxicity was associated with echinocyte, type III formation. Pb was a poor catalyst of the Fenton reaction, but exposure of erythrocytes to Pb caused increased ROS formation. Pb did not bind GSH, however in erythrocytes it caused an increase in GSH levels. This implies that the oxidative effect of Pb, is not as a catalyst of the Fenton reaction or due to GSH binding. The observed effects may be due to the ability of Pb to inhibit antioxidant enzyme activity, resulting in an increase in GSH levels and subsequent accumulation of ROS. Catechin, gallic acid and 6-Hydroxy-2,5,7,8-tetramethylchroman-2-carboxylic acid (Trolox) effectively reduced the oxidative effects of Pb. Catechin and gallic acid did not alter Pb induced increase in erythrocyte GSH levels. Catechin, gallic acid and Trolox bound GSH and reduced the amount of free GSH.

Cd induced H50% at a concentration of 33.83mM and the formation of spherocytes. The latter was similar to the effect observed with the oxidant AAPH. Cd catalysed the Fenton reaction and binds GSH, however in erythrocytes Cd did not cause an increase in ROS or alter GSH

levels. This implies that in the erythrocyte, Cd induced ROS formation, directly targets the cell membrane causing changes to membrane fluidity and morphology. Antioxidants did cause some inhibition of haemolysis and antioxidants quercetin and ascorbic acid inhibited the Fenton reaction and bound Cd. This metal antioxidant interaction caused a loss in the antioxidant activity of ascorbic acid but enhanced the activity of caffeic acid. Trolox reduced Cd – GSH binding.

At a concentration of 47.83mM Cr caused H50% and induced echinocyte type III formation. Cr catalysed the Fenton reaction and bound GSH in a manner similar to Cd. Likewise Cr did not cause an increase in ROS formation but did cause changes in GSH levels, similar to those seen with Pb. The higher Cr concentrations required for haemolysis and echinocyte type III formation implies that Cr may be slightly less toxic than Cd and Pb. Catechin and gallic acid reduced Cr induced haemolysis. In the Fenton reaction, quercetin and ascorbic acid scavenged hydroxyl radicals and this caused a loss in the antioxidant activity of ascorbic acid while enhancing the antioxidant activity of quercetin. Catechin and gallic acid reduced the ability of Cr to bind GSH.

Of all the metals investigated AI, was the least toxic, with H50% occurring at 81.26mM and was associated with echinocyte type I formation. AI was a poor catalyst of the Fenton reaction but did bind GSH. In *ex vivo* erythrocytes, AI did not induce ROS formation or changes in GSH levels. Catechin, gallic acid and Trolox reduced haemolysis. Trolox inhibited AI catalysis of the Fenton reaction. AI had no effect on the antioxidant activity of catechin, gallic acid and Trolox although metal antioxidant interactions enhanced the activity of quercetin and caused a loss in the antioxidant activity of ascorbic acid. Catechin and gallic acid caused an increase in erythrocyte GSH levels which was unaltered when erythrocytes were exposed to only AI.

In summary, some antioxidants, especially catechin, gallic acid, Trolox and ascorbic acid prevented metal induced cellular damage. The observed effects may be related to direct radical scavenging, GSH protection against metal binding or may be due to unknown membrane effects especially considering the effect of Trolox. Of concern is the adverse effect of these metals on the bioactivity of ascorbic acid.

Declaration

I, Akaashni Nareschandra Bhika hereby declare that this research dissertation is my own work and has not been presented for any degree of another University;

Signed:

Date:

Department of Anatomy, School of Medicine, Faculty of Health Sciences,

University of Pretoria

South Africa

I dedicate this thesis to my parents. I would not be where I am today without your love, your belief in me and your endless support. Thank you for all that you do and for never giving up on me.

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank my supervisor, Professor Megan Bester for her knowledge, guidance, motivation, patience, time and support throughout this project. Your support and guidance was invaluable and highly appreciated.

To my co-supervisor, June Serem and to the rest of the Anatomy department, thank you for all your guidance and knowledge.

On a personal note:

I would like to thank my better half, Nicholas, for his unwavering support, love, patience and help with this project. You, Thor and Loki have kept me sane throughout this process. Your encouragement, motivation and undying belief in me has been invaluable.

To my siblings Jyoti and Kayur. Thank you for your motivation, love and support.

This thesis would not have been possible without the help and support of the people mentioned above. Thank you.

Table of Contents

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW 2.1 TOBACCO AND ASSOCIATED HEAVY METALS	1 2 2
2.2 REACTIVE OXYGEN SPECIES AND OXIDATIVE STRESS	3
2.3 HEAVY METALS IN CIGARETTE SMOKE AND OXIDATIVE EFFECTS	4
2.3.1 TOXICITY OF LEAD	4
2.3.2 TOXICITY OF CADMIUM	7
2.3.3 TOXICITY OF CHROMIUM	9
2.3.4 TOXICITY OF ALUMINIUM	10
2.4 DISEASES ASSOCIATED WITH SMOKING	11
2.4.1 CHRONIC OBSTRUCTIVE PULMONARY DISEASE	12
2.4.2 LUNG CANCER	13
2.5 ANTIOXIDANTS	14
2.5.1 TYPES OF ANTIOXIDANTS	14
2.6 PROTECTIVE EFFECT OF ANTIOXIDANTS AGAINST HEAVY METAL TOXICI	ГҮ18
2.6.1 Phenolic acids	18
2.6.2 Flavonoids	18
2.6.3 Antioxidant vitamins: Ascorbic acid, B and E	19
2.6.4 Additive and synergistic effects between antioxidants	20
2.7 CLINCAL STUDIES: CHRONIC DISEASES, SMOKING AND ANTIOXIDANTS	20
2.8 AIM AND OBJECTIVES	21
CHAPTER 3: MATERIALS AND METHODS	23 23
3.1.1 REAGENTS, EQUIPMENT AND DISPOSABLE PLASTICWARE	23
3.1.2 EQUIPMENT	23
3.1.3 GLASSWARE AND PLASTICWARE	23
3.1.4 SAMPLE COLLECTION	24
3.2 METHODS	25
3.2.1 HAEMOLYTIC, OXIDATIVE EFFECTS RELATED TO RADICAL FORMATIC	ON AND
GSH BINDING/DEPLETION	25
3.2.2 OXIDATIVE EFFECTS OF Pb, Cd, Cr AND AI	27

3.2.3 EFFECTS OF POLYPHENOLICS, FLAVONOIDS AND VITAMIN DERIVATIVES	3
ON METAL INDUCED OXIDATIVE DAMAGE AND GSH LEVELS)
CHAPTER 4: RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	5
4.1. CONCENTRATIONS OF PB, CD, CR AND AL THAT CAUSES SIGNIFICANT LEVELS OF HAEMOLYSIS IN HUMAN ERYTHROCYES	5
4.2 THE EFFECTS OF AAPH AND METALS ON ERYTHROCYTE MORPHOLOGY	3
4.3 EFFECTS OF METALS ON ERYTHROCYTE MORPHOLOGY	2
4.4 ABILITY OF PB, CD, CR AND AL TO CATALYSE THE FENTON REACTION	3
4.5.1 ABILITY OF METALS TO INDUCE OXIDATIVE DAMAGE IN ERVTHROCYTES4	5
4.6 HEAVY METAL INTERACTIONS WITH GSH 47 4.6.1 DIRECT METAL – GSH BINDING 48	3
4.6.2 EFFECTS OF METALS ON ERYTHROCYTE GSH LEVELS	3
B: PROTECTIVE EFFECTS OF POLYPHENOLIC, FLAVONOIDS AND VITAMIN DERIVED ANTIOXIDANTS ON METAL INDUCED OXIDATIVE DAMAGE)
4.7 ABILITY OF ANTIOXIDANTS TO PREVENT METAL INDUCED ERYTHROCYTE HAEMOLYSIS	2
4.8 PROTECTION AGAINST RADICAL FORMATION	1
4.8.1 ABILITY OF ANTIOXIDANTS TO INHIBIT THE FENTON REACTION	1
4.8.2 ABILITY OF ANTIOXIDANTS TO PREVENT ERYTHROCYTE OXIDATIVE DAMAGE	=
4.9 ABILITY OF ANTIOXIDANTS TO BIND METALS)
4.10 EFFECT OF METAL BINDING TO ANTIOXIDANTS ON THE ANTIOXIDANT ACTIVITY	Г З
4.11 ABILITY OF ANTIOXIDANTS TO PREVENT METAL - GSH BINDING66	3
4.12 EFFECT OF ANTIOXIDANTS ON ERYTHROCYTE GSH LEVELS68	3
CHAPTER 5: CONCLUSION	1
5.2 SUMMARY OF RESULTS	I
5.2.1 METAL TOXICITY	
5.2.2 PROTECTION: METALS AND ANTIOXIDANTS	2
5.3 IMPLICATIONS FOR THE STUDY	3
5.4 LIMITATIONS OF THE STUDY	1
5.5 FUTURE PERSPECTIVES75	5

CHAPTER 6: REFERENCES

List of Tables

Table 2.1: Summary of antioxidant types 15
Table 2.2: Summary of the flavonoid types and sources
Table 4.1: Line equations of graphs (Figure 3.1), curve fit (R^2) and the calculated
concentrations causing haemolysis (Calculated H50%)37
Table 4.2: Summary of the effects of heavy metals, Pb, Cd, Cr and Al
Table 4.3: The effect of antioxidants on the percentage haemolysis induced by Pb, Cd, Cr and
Al53
Table 4.4: Effects of antioxidants and metal mediated formation of radicals 57
Table 4.5: Summary of Fe, Pb, Cd, Cr and Al equimolar ability to bind antioxidants 62
Table 4.6: The fold effect of heavy metals Pb, Cd, Cr and Al on antioxidant activity of
antioxidants66
Table 4.7: Summary the effect of antioxidants on metal induced GSH depletion
Table 4.8: Effect of antioxidants on GSH levels of metal exposed erythrocytes 70

List of Figures

Figure 2.1: Flow diagram summarising the mechanisms of Pb mediated oxidative damage7
Figure 2.2: Mechanism showing how antioxidant enzymes reduce levels of the superoxide
anion15
Figure 3.1: A schematic representation of the experimental design24
Figure 3.2: Chemical structures of the polyphenols and antioxidant vitamins used in this
study
Figure 4.1: Ability of heavy metals Pb (7-13mM), Cd (6-8mM), Cr (25-30mM) and Al (57-
63mM) to cause erythrocyte haemolysis at an exposure time of 16 hrs
Figure 4.2: A time based study on the ability of 86mM AAPH on erythrocyte haemolysis39
Figure 4.3: Morphological changes associated with eryptosis
Figure 4.4: Effects of oxidant AAPH on morphology of human erythrocytes41
Figure 4.5: Predominant morphological effect of 13, 18, 30 and 63 mM of Pb, Cd, Cr and Al
respectively on erythrocyte morphology after 16 hrs of incubation at 37°C43
Figure 4.6: Changes in fluorescence units seen by Co 0.46mM, Pb 2.25mM, Cd 3mM, Cr
4.75mM and AI 11mM seen in A-E. F indicates the changes in fluorescence seen between the
different metals44
Figure 4.7: Percentage oxidative damage induced by 13mM Pb,18 mM Cd, 30mM Cr and
63mM AI measured with the DCFH-DA assay46
Figure 4.8: Example of a typical curve generated with the DCFH-DA assay47
Figure 4.9: Ability of 13mM Pb, 18mM Cd, 30mM Cr and 63mM AI to bind 1mM GSH48
Figure 4.10: GSH levels in erythrocytes exposed to Pb (7-13mM), Cd (6-18mM), Cr (25-
30mM) and AI (57-63mM)
Figure 4.11: Effect of antioxidants catechin, quercetin, gallic acid, caffeic acid, Trolox and
ascorbic acid on free radicals induced by Pb, Cd, Cr, Al as catalysts of the Fenton reaction55
Figure 4.12: Effect of antioxidants catechin (C), quercetin (Q), gallic acid (GA), caffeic acid
(CA), Trolox (T) and ascorbic acid (AA) on free radicals induced by Pb, Cd, Cr, AI and the
Fenton reaction
Figure 4.13: The antioxidant effects of antioxidants, gallic acid, catechin and Trolox on heavy
metal induced oxidative damage58
Figure 4.14: Flavonoids: catechin (C) and quercetin (Q) equimolar binding capacity to metal
ions, Fe(II) and Fe(III)(controls), Pb(II), Cd(II), Cr(III) and Al(III)60
Figure 4.15: Phenolic acid: gallic acid (GA) and caffeic acid (CA) equimolar binding capacity
to metal ions, Fe(II) and Fe(III)(controls), Pb(II), Cd(II), Cr(III) and Al(III)61
Figure 4.16: Vitamins: Trolox (T) and ascorbic acid (AA), equimolar binding capacity to metal
ions, Fe(II) and Fe(III)(controls), Pb(II), Cd(II), Cr(III) and Al(III)

Figure 4.17: Antioxidant activity of flavonoids, catechin and quercetin in the presence of
metals Pb, Cd, Cr and Al63
Figure 4.18: Antioxidant activity of phenolic acids, gallic acid and caffeic acid in the presence
of metals Pb, Cd, Cr and Al64
Figure 4.19: Antioxidant activity of vitamins, Trolox and ascorbic acid in the presence of
metals Pb, Cd, Cr and Al65
Figure 4.20: The ability of a 0.25mM concentration of antioxidants gallic acid (GA), Trolox (T),
catechin (C) to prevent A) 13mM Pb, B) 18mM Cd, C) 30mM Cr and D) 63mM AI binding to
0.25mM GSH67
Figure 4.21: Ability of 0.25mM antioxidants (catechin (C), Trolox (T) and gallic acid (GA)) to
prevent erythrocyte GSH depletion by 13mM Pb, 18mM Cd, 30mM Cr and 63mM Al69

List of Abbreviations, Symbols and Chemical Formulae

%	Percentage
°C	Degrees centigrade
μg	Micrograms
μΙ	Microlitres
%H	Percentage Haemolysis
µg/µl	Microgram per microliter
µg/dL	Microgram per decilitre
hð\ð	Microgram per gram
AAPH	2,2'-azobis(2-amidinopropane) dihydrochloride
ABTS	2,2'-azino-bis(3-ethylbenzothiazoline-6-sulfonic acid) diammonium salt
ABTS ^{.+}	ABTS radical
AI	Aluminium
AgNPs	Silver nanoparticles
ALA	Alpha-Linolenic acid
ALAD	δ-Aminolevulinate dehydratase
AICI ₃	Aluminium chloride
AI_2O_3	Aluminium oxide
ANOVA	Analysis of Variance
CAA	Cellular antioxidant activity
Ca ²⁺	Calcium ion
Cd	Cadmium
Со	Cobalt
СО	Carbon monoxide
COPD	Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease

Cr	Chromium
Cu	Copper
DCFH-DA	Dichlorodihydrofluorescein diacetate
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
DTNB	5,5'-Dithiobis–(2-nitrobenzoic acid)
EDTA	Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
FDA	Fluorescein diacetate
Fe	Iron
GIT	Gastrointestinal tract
GPx	Glutathione peroxidase
GR	Glutathione reductase
GSSG	Glutathione oxidized
GSH	Glutathione reduced
H_2O_2	Hydrogen peroxide
Hb	Haemoglobin
HCN	Hydrogen cyanide
Hg	Mercury
HMDS	Hexamethyldisilazane
HO ₂	Perhydroxyl radical
HOCI	Hypochlorous acid
HORAC	Hydroxyl radical averting capacity
Hrs	Hours
HT	Hydroxytyrosol
IARC	International Agency for Research on Cancer
IHD	Ischaemic heart disease
Iso PBS	Isotonic phosphate buffered saline
KCI	Potassium chloride
K ₂ CrO ₄	Potassium chromate

Kg	Kilogram
KRA	Kirsten rat sarcomas
L	Litres
MDA	Malondialdehyde
mM	Millimolar
Μ	Molar
Mg	Milligram
MPO	Neutrophil myeloperoxidase
NAC	N-acetlycysteine
Ni	Nickel
Nm	Nanometre
NO	Nitric oxide
¹ O ₂	Singlet oxygen
0 ₂ ⁻	Superoxide anion
OH.	Hydroxyl radical
OH	Hydroxyl anion
ONOO ⁻	Peroxynitrite
P-value (p)	Probability value
PAH	Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons
Pb	Lead
PBS	Phosphate buffered saline
рН	Logarithmic scale for measurement of the acidity or alkalinity of an aqueous solution
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
RNA	Ribonucleic acid
RNS	Reactive nitrogen species
RT-PCR	Reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction
SCAL1	Smoke and Cancer Associated LncRNA 1

SDS	Sodium dodecyl sulphate
SEM	Scanning electron microscopy
SH	Sulfhydryl
SOD	Superoxide dismutase
ТВ	Tuberculosis
тос	Tocopherols and tocotrienols
TP53	Tumour protein 53
Trolox	6-Hydroxy-2,5,7,8-tetramethylchroman-2-carboxylic acid
Zn	Zinc

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION

'If smokers had the same death rate as non-smokers, 58% of lung cancer deaths, 37% of COPD deaths, 20% of tuberculosis deaths and 23% of vascular deaths would have been avoided in South Africa. Approximately 8% of all deaths in South Africa (more than 20 000 deaths per year) were caused by smoking.¹

These statistics were reported in a study conducted by Sitas¹ *et al.* (2004) which identified that smoking annually contributes significantly to deaths in South Africa.¹ In this population smoking is directly linked to several diseases including chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), lung cancer and ischaemic heart disease (IHD).² In addition cigarette smoke worsens conditions such as asthma and tuberculosis (TB). The main components of cigarette smoke that contribute to the above-mentioned diseases are gasses such as carbon monoxide (CO), hydrogen cyanide (HCN), nitrogen oxides, hydrocarbons such as benz(a)pyrene as well as toxic heavy metals, aluminium (AI), cadmium (Cd),chromium (Cr), copper (Cu), lead (Pb), mercury (Hg), nickel (Ni) and zinc (Zn).³ Cigarette smoke interferes with the metal homeostasis of the body which results in the development of several diseases.⁴ The metals found in cigarette smoke are also catalysts of the Fenton reaction. They inhibit antioxidant components and/or enzymes which alter normal physiological processes resulting in oxidative stress which leads to inflammation and damage to cells, tissue and organ systems. This leads to cancers, cardiovascular and degenerative disease as well as accelerated aging.⁴

Animals and humans have many defence mechanisms which limit the levels of reactive oxygen species (ROS) and the levels of subsequent damage. These defence systems include endogenous antioxidant molecules and enzymes and exogenous dietary antioxidants. To counteract the effects of heavy metal toxicity due to cigarette smoking and/ or other sources such as environmental exposure, exogenous dietary antioxidants are believed to play an important role in counteracting the oxidative effects of heavy metals. This could be by inhibiting the Fenton reaction, by directly binding the metal or by preventing the depletion of glutathione (GSH).

The aim of this exploratory study was to determine the oxidative toxicity of cigarette associated metals, Pb, Cd, Cr and Al in an *ex vivo* erythrocyte model. In addition the ability of common, bioavailable antioxidants to reduce metal induced oxidative toxicity was also determined.⁵

CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW

Tobacco represents the single most preventable cause of disease and death in the world today.⁶ In a study conducted by Reddy⁷ *et al.* (1996) it was predicted that within a few decades of the study being completed that tobacco use and cigarette smoking would become one of the most significant causes of premature death in South Africa. In this publication, it was emphasised that there was an urgent need to develop multilevel interventions that target tobacco use and the smoking of cigarettes.⁷ The prevalence of smoking in South Africa in the year 2004 was similar to the rates found amongst other international based population studies conducted within a similar time frame. This study found that approximately 54.8% of males and 15.8% of females in South Africa are smokers.¹ Walbeek⁸ *et al.* (2002) reported that between 1993 and 2000 there was a narrowing of the 'gender prevalence gap' between males and females. This narrowing gap was seen not just in South Africa but was consistent with international studies, indicating that worldwide more females now smoke.⁸ In a South Africa based study, Sitas¹ *et al.* (2004) reported that smoking cigarettes significantly increases the risk for diseases such as TB, lung cancer, upper aerodigestive cancer and IHD.

2.1 TOBACCO AND ASSOCIATED HEAVY METALS

Tobacco plants (Nicotianan tabacum) are grown in almost every country in the world and approximately 80% of the world consumption of tobacco is through cigarette smoking.⁹ Plants are exposed to different types of xenobiotics which is either deliberate in cases of pesticides and fertilizers or accidental in cases of polluted soil, water and air.¹⁰ Tobacco can easily accumulate a number of heavy metals in the stalk and the leaves.^{9,11} Concentrations of heavy metals are higher in the older leaves compared to the younger leaves and stalks. The phosphate fertilizers used in the cultivation of tobacco generally also contains high concentrations of heavy metals.¹¹ When the harvested tobacco is processed into cigarettes these toxic elements pass from the tobacco to the cigarette smoke and the environment as secondary smoke. Cigarette filters retain only a small portion of the elements. The environmental pollution due to secondary smoke does not consist solely of the smoke exhaled by the smoker, but also the side stream of smoke that is released by the burning cigarette. This side stream smoke is inhaled by non-smokers and usually contains high concentrations of many of the toxic substances including heavy metals.⁹ The four most common types of heavy metals found in cigarette smoke are Pb, Cd, Cr and Al and these metals were used in this study and the known effects thereof were discussed in greater detail.

2.2 REACTIVE OXYGEN SPECIES AND OXIDATIVE STRESS

Free radicals can be defined as molecules or molecular fragments that contain one or more unpaired electrons in their outer orbital. This unpaired electron usually makes these molecules highly reactive and they can either donate or accept an electron and consequently, these molecules are less reactive.

Reactive oxygen species (ROS) and reactive nitrogen species (RNS) are products of normal cellular metabolism and play a dual role as both harmful and beneficial species. The beneficial effect of ROS and RNS occurs at low concentrations and plays an important role in cellular functioning and preventing infection by activation of the innate immune system. However excess ROS formed by pro-oxidative enzymes, lipid peroxidation, inflammation, smoking, air pollution and other harmful stressors¹² has an adverse effect on cellular functioning. Oxidative stress occurs when the critical balance between ROS and antioxidants is disrupted, which then leads to a number of diseases.¹³ This takes place in biological systems when there is an over production of ROS/RNS and/or a decrease or deficiency of enzymatic and non-enzymatic antioxidants.

ROS includes free radicals like the superoxide anion radical (O_2^{-}), perhydroxyl radical (HO_2^{+}), hydroxyl radical (OH^{+}), nitric oxide (NO) and other species such as hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2), hypochlorous acid (HOCI), singlet oxygen ($^{1}O_2$) and peroxynitrite ($ONOO^{-}$).¹⁴ Radicals that are derived from oxygen are the most important physiologically relevant radicals. Molecular oxygen has two unpaired electrons in its outer orbital making it extremely unstable. Most oxygen that is taken up by human cells is reduced to water by means of mitochondrial cytochrome oxidase. The intermediate step in the reduction of oxygen produces O_2^{-} , H_2O_2 and OH^{+} .¹⁵

The O_2^- is formed either through metabolic processes of oxygen activation or through physical irradiation. The superoxide anion is seen as the "primary" ROS, and can interact with other molecules to produce "secondary" ROS. This can occur either directly or by enzyme or metal catalysed reactions.¹⁶ OH[•] is extremely reactive, and is formed via the metal catalysed Fenton reaction. In the Fenton reaction, ferrous iron (Fe) (II) is oxidised by H₂O₂ to ferric Fe (III), OH[•] and a hydroxyl anion (OH⁻) is then formed as shown in the reaction below.¹⁷

$Fe^{2+} H_2O_2 \rightarrow Fe^{3+} OH^{-} + OH^{-}$

Numerous other metals such as Cu, Cr and cobalt (Co) can also act as catalysts as shown in the reaction below, resulting in the formation of hydroxyl radicals.

Metal (oxidised) + $H_2O_2 \rightarrow$ Metal (reduced) + $OH^{-} + OH^{-}$

2.3 HEAVY METALS IN CIGARETTE SMOKE AND OXIDATIVE EFFECTS

Humans are continuously being exposed to heavy metals such as Pb, Cd, Cr and Al. Sources of exposure include contaminated food, water, soil and air.¹⁸ The consequences of exposure are structural damage to proteins, membrane lipids and nucleic acids that result in altered cellular structure and function which can then lead to diseases such as COPD, cardiovascular disease and lung cancer.^{19,20} A common mechanism that is involved in the development of these diseases is the induction of oxidative damage. Toxic heavy metals increase the production of highly reactive ROS and can also inactivate antioxidant enzymes and elements such as GSH, and decrease the availability and accessibility of antioxidants in the body to neutralise ROS production. This in turn results in oxidative damage and disease.²¹ Several *in vitro* studies have been conducted and show that alveolar leukocytes and macrophages from smokers spontaneously release elevated amounts of oxidants such as O₂[•] and H₂O₂ when compared to those from non-smokers.²²⁻²⁵

2.3.1 TOXICITY OF LEAD

Pb is without a doubt one of the oldest occupational and environmental toxins around, and evidence of Pb toxicity can be dated back to Roman times where people suffered from *Colica Pictomum*, a deadly disease that causes severe colic, paralysis and other dysfunctions of the central nervous system. This disease was later identified as chronic Pb disease, which was associated with ingesting Pb-laced wines. The custom of treating and sweetening sour wines with Pb-containing flavourings is traced back to the Romans.^{26,27}

In the last few decades the detection and prevention of Pb toxicity has been a priority in international public health and several measures have been taken to decrease the exposure of Pb. Some of these measures include: decreasing the amount of Pb in paint, removing Pb from petrol thus producing unleaded petrol and banning of Pb solders in food cans. These measures have reduced Pb exposure. However Pb toxicity is still a major problem throughout the world affecting both children and adults.²⁸ Even though the incidence of severe Pb exposure has decreased in many countries, occupational Pb exposure is still common. Workers are exposed to Pb in several industries including the assembly of motor vehicles, battery manufacturing and recovery, Pb mining and smelting, production of Pb alloys and in the production of glass, paint, plastics and ceramics.

The concern regarding Pb is that recent research has shown that it has adverse health effects at much lower concentrations than previously accepted.²⁸ In the 1960's a blood Pb level of 60µg/dL was considered safe.²⁸ With research and new findings, the acceptable blood Pb level was reduced in 1985 to 25µg/dL, and was reduced further in 1991 to 10µg/dL. In spite of this, indications are that even lower levels can have toxic consequences.²⁸

Pb is a persistent environmental toxin that has a negative impact on many systems in the body and these include the haematological, neurological, gastrointestinal, reproductive, circulatory, immunological and urinary systems which when affected can lead to associated pathologies.^{21,29} Low Pb levels have also been shown to cause cognitive dysfunction and neurobehavioral disorders.²¹ The International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC) has classified Pb as a human carcinogen based on adequate data from animal studies and is classified as a weak human carcinogen that most likely contributes to lung cancer, stomach cancer and gliomas.³⁰

Pb can be absorbed though ingestion, inhalation and small amounts can be absorbed through the skin. Up to 50% of inhaled inorganic Pb can be absorbed through the lungs. Adults absorb between 10-15% of Pb found in food through the gastrointestinal tract (GIT), while children can absorb up to 50% of Pb through the GIT. Pb found in blood binds to erythrocytes and elimination of blood bound Pb is slow and via the urine. Pb also accumulates in the skeleton. The half-life of Pb in the blood is approximately one month and approximately 20-30 years in the skeleton.³⁰ Inorganic Pb does not cross the blood brain barrier in adults, however in children the blood brain barrier is not fully developed and consequently Pb can cross into the brain which can lead to brain damage and other neurological pathologies.³⁰

Smoking is not the main source of Pb uptake by humans, however the involvement and contribution of smoking to the total Pb load in humans has become increasingly relevant over the years.⁴ The average concentration of Pb in filter-tip cigarettes is approximately 2.4µg/g. Of this 2.4µg/g of Pb, roughly 6% passes into mainstream smoke which is inhaled by the smoker.^{4,9} In a study conducted by Chiba and Masironi⁹ (1992) it was reported that smokers and former smokers have higher blood Pb levels than non-smokers.⁹ Passive smoking plays a significant role in Pb exposure to children. In a study done by Andren³¹ *et al.* (1988) blood Pb levels in children with parents that smoke were much higher than in children of non-smokers.³¹

Increasing exposure to Pb is seen to cause an increase in both hypochromic and normochromic anaemia.^{21,32} A main target of Pb toxicity is the haematological system and Pb can inhibit heme and haemoglobin (Hb) synthesis and adversely affects the morphology and survival of erythrocytes. Pb exposure can also cause Hb oxidation which can also lead to erythrocyte haemolysis. The mechanism behind this reaction is Pb-induced inhibition of δ -

aminolevulinate dehydratase (ALAD) activity. ALAD is the enzyme most sensitive to Pb toxicity and inhibition of this enzyme leads to decreased heme production. With decreased heme production, elevated levels of alpha-linolenic acid (ALA) are found in both circulating blood and excreted urine of Pb-exposed subjects.^{21,32} There have been several studies conducted concerning accumulated ALA and ROS generation. These studies show that the accumulated ALA generates H_2O_2 and O_2^- . The excess ALA also reacts with oxyhaemoglobin which results in the formation of OH[•].^{21,32-34} As ALA becomes more oxidised it forms 4,5-dioxavalenic acid. This acid is a probable genotoxic compound and is a potential mechanism for the metal-dependent DNA carcinogenicity of Pb.

As erythrocytes have a high affinity for Pb, the erythrocyte model has been used to evaluate Pb toxicity. Following *ex vivo* exposure to Pb it was found that the erythrocytes become more vulnerable to osmotic and mechanically induced cellular damage.¹⁸ Other studies have found a direct correlation between the toxic effects of Pb and Pb-induced oxidative damage in erythrocytes. ¹⁸ Yiin and Lin³⁵ (1995) reported that Pb causes lipid peroxidation in essential unsaturated fatty acids which is also a probable mechanism of the toxic effects of Pb, which causes damage to the polyunsaturated fatty acids found in cell membranes. Kasperczyk³⁶ *et al.* (2015) investigated the effect of occupational Pb exposure on lipid peroxidation, protein carbonylation and plasma viscosity. Malondialdehyde (MDA) and protein carbonyl levels were found to be significantly increased, whereas protein and protein sulfhydryl levels were significantly decreased. In this study, it was concluded that Pb exposure leads to oxidative stress that results in lipid and protein damage.³⁶ These studies identified that Pb caused membrane damage, altered membrane lipid composition and structure altering membrane integrity, permeability and function.^{32,37}

Besides its effect on ALAD and the erythrocyte membrane, several studies have shown that heavy metals cause alterations in antioxidant enzyme activities. Pb is shown to both increase and suppress blood levels of superoxide dismutase (SOD), catalase, glutathione peroxidise (GPx) and glutathione reductase (GR).^{21,38} Pb has several cellular targets and the effect on these targets either produces ROS or inhibits antioxidant systems which leads to an imbalance in the pro-oxidant/ antioxidant cellular equilibrium resulting in oxidative damage.³² The consequence thereof in erythrocytes is direct enzyme inhibition, altered protein function as well as ROS induced changes in lipid and protein structures (Figure 2.1). The effects of Pb are not limited to the effects on erythrocytes as described in this section. Oxidative effects in other cell types can lead to altered deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA) structure and mutations leading to the development of cancer (Figure 2.1 and Section 2.4.2).





2.3.2 TOXICITY OF CADMIUM

Cd has been recognised as an environmental hazard for many decades.³⁹ The risk of Cd exposure to the general public and to environmentally exposed populations was emphasized after the 1930's when a case of Cd poisoning in the Jinzu River in Japan was reported. Water was contaminated with very high levels of Cd and rice plantations were irrigated with this water. This lead to mass exposure to Cd which resulted in the development of Itai-Itai disease which is a combination of osteoporosis and osteomalacia, which results in weak deformed bones and extreme pain. This was exposure on a massive scale and consequently worldwide studies were undertaken to monitor Cd levels and to keep these levels to the minimum.⁴⁰ Even though this monitoring occurs, public exposure to Cd from various sources is still common.⁴⁰

Like Pb, Cd is present in air, dust, soil and water in various amounts and each can act as a route of exposure in humans and animals. Even though Cd is a non-essential element it is still present in almost all food sources.⁴¹ The concentration of Cd varies according to the food type

and the level of environmental contamination. Seafood such as molluscs, crustaceans and oysters have a high Cd content. Food from plant sources can also contain high Cd levels and Cd can bio-accumulate in animal sources such as meat and dairy products.³⁹ Cd can be absorbed in the body by ingestion (a few percentage units) or inhalation (10-50%). Once in the body, Cd is transported by the erythrocytes and proteins.^{39,42} Cd is efficiently retained mainly in the kidney with a biological half-life of approximately 10-30 years. In the kidneys, Cd exposure has been seen to cause irreversible renal tubular and glomerular damage.⁴²

Cd affects several systems in the body and is implicated in several clinical disorders such as renal dysfunction, bone disease and has been linked to the development of breast, prostate, colon, rectal, kidney and lung cancer. Cd has also been classified by IARC as a known human carcinogen.⁴³

Cd is found naturally in ores, as well as PVC paints, in rechargeable Ni-Cd batteries, anticorrosion agents, phosphate fertilizers, industrial emissions, contaminated food sources and cigarette smoke.^{30,44,45} The main source of exposure for smokers is tobacco smoke while for non-smokers it is dietary.³⁰ In food sources, contaminated soil leads to an increased uptake of Cd by crops and vegetables and subsequent bio-accumulation in dairy and meat products.

Cd accumulates in tobacco plant leaves in unusually high concentrations.⁹ This is because tobacco plants have an unusual ability to absorb and store Cd.⁹ The concentration of Cd found in cigarettes ranges between 0.5 to 3.5µg/g, with an average of 1.7µg/g per cigarette.⁹ The results of several studies show that blood Cd concentrations are elevated with increased smoking.⁹ With smoking, Cd is converted to CdO which is then inhaled. Approximately 10% of the inhaled smoke deposits in the lungs and 20-50% of this is transferred to the circulation.⁴ Cd exposure is known to cause harmful effects in both humans and animals. The mechanism of damage is not entirely known, however oxidative stress has been identified as a probable mechanism of action.

Cd can act as a catalyst of the Fenton reaction which converts H_2O_2 into free radicals¹⁷ (see Fenton reaction in Section 2.2). These free radicals then cause oxidative stress. In addition Cd inhibits the antioxidant enzymes, SOD, GSH, and catalase.^{43,46} Cd affects SOD by binding to the amino acid residue histidine 74 of the SOD enzyme which causes inactivation of the enzyme.⁴⁷ Cd binds the thiol group of GSH thereby altering its structure and function.⁴³ Loss of this cellular antioxidant molecule leads to increased accumulation of ROS such as O_2^{\bullet} , H_2O_2 and OH[•]. This then leads to lipid peroxidation, damage to the DNA, oxidation of proteins and may eventually lead to cellular dysfunction and/or death. In erythrocytes, this destruction causes haemolysis.⁵¹ In rats Cd exposure resulted in increased ROS formation and lipid peroxidation which in turn lead to haemolysis and anaemia.⁵¹

Furthermore, Cd displaces Fe and Cu in different cytoplasmic and membrane proteins, for example in ferritin and apoferritin. This causes an increase in the amount of unbound, free Fe and Cu ions which can then also catalyse the Fenton reaction with the formation of OH[•] radicals.^{17,48}

Besides the blood, exposure to Cd can also cause oxidative damage to a variety of tissues and organs such as the lungs, kidneys, bone, central nervous system, reproductive organs and heart.¹⁷

2.3.3 TOXICITY OF CHROMIUM

Cr has been used in numerous industries for over a century and its excessive exposure in the work place has shown that it is an acute irritant, a carcinogen and an allergen to humans and animals.⁵² Cr is found in several oxidation states. Cr(VI) ion has been established as the main cause of chrome toxicity, and the Cr(III) ion has been established as more of an irritant than a carcinogen or allergen. Cr has a very high affinity for erythrocytes thus, once Cr(VI) crosses the erythrocyte membrane, it is reduced to Cr(III) which binds to the cellular components and in this form Cr accumulates in erythrocytes.^{52,53} Cr(VI) compounds are more toxic as Cr(VI) can easily cross the cell membrane while Cr(III) is the major toxicant.⁵³

Cr like the other metals can be found in air, soil, dust and water and each source can act as a route of exposure in humans and animals.⁵² Cr is used in several industries including chromate production, metal plating, manufacturing of alloys, metal welding and forming processes.⁵² The general public is exposed to Cr through contaminated food and water sources, and cigarette smoke. Cr(III) is an essential element in the body and is needed in minute amounts for normal glucose metabolism and functioning.⁵⁴ The estimated safe and sufficient daily dietary intake for Cr is between 50 and 200µg.⁵⁵ Cr deficiency has been noted in a number of patients and results in impaired glucose tolerance, glycosuria and elevated insulin and glucagon levels, which mimic symptoms similar to those of non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus and associated cardiovascular disease.^{54,55} In excessive amounts Cr is toxic to humans and animals. Cr (VI) was declared a human carcinogen in 1980 by the IARC.⁵⁶ Exposure is via ingestion, inhalation or dermal absorption. This metal is seen to accumulate in epidermal tissue such as hair and nails, bones, blood, liver, kidney, spleen, lungs, large intestine and muscles.⁵⁷ Several studies have been conducted on Cr toxicity and the results of these studies indicated that Cr causes pathological and anatomical changes in the lungs, kidneys and liver of humans and animals. Cr has been found to affect the respiratory system by causing perforation of the nasal septum, nasal bleeding, conjunctivitis, lung cancer, hyperaemia, erosion and inflammatory changes in the respiratory system in patients after

inhalation of Cr compounds. Acute Cr exposure also results in renal tubular necrosis and kidney damage.⁵⁷⁻⁵⁹

Beside food sources, in the general population cigarette smoke is a key source of Cr exposure. Based on several studies the Cr levels found in main stream cigarette smoke ranges between $0.0002-0.5\mu g$ per cigarette.⁴ Cr accumulates in tissue, especially in the lung. The average concentration of Cr in lung tissue of smokers is $4.3\mu g/g$ compared to $1.3\mu g/g$ in non-smokers. This concentration increases with age and smoking time. The presence of Cr in cigarette smoke is also linked to the development of emphysema.^{4,60,61}

With the reduction of Cr(VI) to Cr(III) several free radicals are generated and high levels of Cr-DNA-adducts are formed which results in mutations and DNA damage. Intermediate oxidative states of Cr are also suggested to cause genotoxicity, carcinogenicity and oxidative stress, either through direct mechanisms or through reactions like the Fenton reaction with the formation of ROS.^{17,62,63} Cr(III) can be reduced to Cr(II) by the Fenton reaction, where H₂O₂ and free radicals are formed. Thus, to sum up oxidative stress when dealing with all the different oxidative states of Cr; Cr reduction leads to the production of numerous free radicals such as O_2^- and OH[•].¹⁵ These free radicals react with the cell membrane and DNA bases causing cellular damage.^{17,64}

Although erythrocytes do not have DNA or organelles such as mitochondria, Cr also adversely affects erythrocytes leading to apoptosis-like cell death called eryptosis which is characterised by cell shrinkage and scrambling of the plasma membrane. Eryptosis can occur as a result of an increase in cytosolic Ca²⁺ activity, ATP depletion or ceramide formation. Exposure of erythrocytes to $\geq 10\mu$ M Cr(IV) for 48 hours (hrs) caused an increase in cytosolic Ca²⁺ levels associated with the depletion of cytosolic ATP, leading to eryptosis and scrambling of the cell membrane resulting in haemolysis.⁶⁵ Exposure of rats to Cr(IV) for one and two weeks caused increased erythrocyte haemolysis, lipid peroxidation, carbonyl formation as well as a decrease in GSH and ascorbic acid levels.⁶⁶

2.3.4 TOXICITY OF ALUMINIUM

Over one hundred years ago Siem and Dollken conducted the first studies on the neurotoxicity of AI. Since then numerous studies have been conducted and AI has been established as a potent neurotoxin.⁶⁷ AI has a long history of being used for purification of water and in medications. The Romans used AI salts to purify water, and in the Middle Ages this metal was mixed with honey and used as a treatment for ulcers. This metal is still used today in water purification and AI salts are still used in medications such as antacids and aspirin.⁶⁸ AI is also

used in numerous products such as food preservatives, colouring agents, some antiperspirants and foil packaging. Other sources of exposure are industrial exposure to Al containing dust, and Al in cigarette smoke.⁶⁹

Like most other metals AI is found in, air, dust, soil and water sources with the latter being the major cause of food contamination. AI can be absorbed into the body by inhalation, ingestion and dermal absorption.⁶⁸ AI chemistry is similar to the chemistry of Fe, thus AI is transported in the body by the Fe-binding protein transferrin. AI accumulation in the brain is linked to its neurotoxicity and a possible link has been reported between the AI accumulation in the brain and Alzheimer's disease, due to AI induced neurofibrillar degeneration. Elevated levels of AI are found in the degenerating neurons of patients with Alzheimer's disease.⁷⁰

The AI content of cigarette smoke is relatively high. However, several studies have shown that blood, urine and plasma levels of AI are not elevated when comparing smokers to non-smokers.^{4,60} Although elevated AI levels are found in the brain of Alzheimer's patients no direct link between smoking and Alzheimer's disease has been found.⁴

Oxidative events have often been linked with Alzheimer's disease and whether the presence of these oxidative events is the cause or the consequence of ROS formation during neurodegeneration is unknown. Al cannot form ROS directly but can potentiate the formation of these species by Fe and Cu. A hypothesis is that Al may bind to these metals and alter their ability to promote metal-based oxidative reactions. Consequently, these metal colloidals have a pro-oxidant effect by catalysing the Fenton reaction resulting in oxidative damage.

Intraperitoneal injection of AI gluconate administered over a period of three weeks increased both the rate of ROS formation and the levels of GSH in cortical brain tissue of rats.⁷¹ AI has also been found to facilitate Fe-mediated oxidation in biological membranes. AI is also capable of causing damage to erythrocytes such as increased lipid peroxidation and inhibition of the activity of erythrocyte antioxidant enzymes, SOD, catalase and GPx. AI also causes morphological changes to the surface of the erythrocyte membrane.⁷² The erythrocytes of rats that were exposed to 50mg/kg body weight of AI in drinking water were found to have increased MDA and H_2O_2 levels and decreased GSH levels. The activity of SOD, catalase and GPx were also decreased in these rats.⁷³

2.4 DISEASES ASSOCIATED WITH SMOKING

There is overwhelming evidence from research done over the years that proves that smoking and several components found in cigarette smoke at least partially contributes to the development of various life-threatening diseases such as emphysema, cardiovascular disease and cancer.⁷⁴ The role of cigarette smoke and oxidative damage in the development of COPD and cancer will be discussed in greater detail.

2.4.1 CHRONIC OBSTRUCTIVE PULMONARY DISEASE

COPD is a debilitating disease and although in most instances this disease is preventable and treatable, the incidence of COPD continues to rise due to the worldwide epidemic of smoking.⁷⁴ COPD is characterised by the development of a persistent obstruction or limitation of airflow which cannot be entirely reversed. The clinical syndrome of COPD includes different disease conditions such as chronic obstructive bronchitis which causes obstruction of the small airways, and emphysema which is characterised by enlargement of airspaces and destruction of lung parenchyma, decrease in lung activity and closing of the small airways.^{75,76}

The most common onset and development of COPD occurs between the ages of 45 and 60 years in smokers and is the fourth most common cause of death in the United States.^{77,78} Clinical features in patients with COPD are based on the occurrence of a productive cough, wheezing, and shortness of breath.

The main tissue associated features of this disease are hypertrophy and hyperplasia of the submucosal glands, varying amounts of inflammatory cell infiltration of the mucosa and smooth muscle hyperplasia as well as numerous inflammatory changes in the respiratory bronchioles. Upon physical examination of the patient, air flow obstruction may be noted.^{77,78} Patients with COPD may also present with the following systemic manifestations and comorbidities: skeletal muscle wasting, loss of fat free muscle, lung cancer, pulmonary hypertension, ischaemic heart disease, congestive heart failure, osteoporosis, anaemia, diabetes, metabolic syndrome, obstructive sleep apnoea and depression.

Cigarette smoking is the most significant and well documented risk factor for COPD. Genetic alpha₁-antitrypsin deficiency is also associated with an increased susceptibility to COPD. Air pollution and chronic childhood infections are additional risk factors for COPD.^{77,78} Other risks include airway hypersensitivity, occupational exposure to dusts and exposure to oxidant gases often found in low socioeconomic environments.⁷⁷

Patients with COPD have a 3-4 times increased risk of developing lung cancer than smokers with normal lung function. Lung cancer is a common cause of death among COPD patients.⁷⁹ The sources of increased oxidative stress in COPD patients is due to the presence of oxidants in cigarettes or those produced following absorption of metals found in cigarette smoke. It is

also due to disease related increase in the number of inflammatory leukocytes and alveolar macrophages in both the circulation and alveolar spaces.⁸⁰⁻⁸² Neutrophil myeloperoxidase (MPO) levels are increased and this correlates with pulmonary dysfunction. The depletion of the body's antioxidant systems and/or a dietary deficiency of these antioxidants is also a contributing factor to oxidative stress. Carcinogenic hydrocarbons and oxidative damage due to the presence of heavy metals can act independently or synergistically in the development and progression of lung cancer. This indicates that oxidative stress mediated by increased levels of MPO in the neutrophils plays a role in inflammation of the lung.^{80,81,83} Cigarette smoking also increases RNS formation which leads to the nitration and oxidation of plasma proteins. In vitro exposure of blood to cigarette smoke results in increased erythrocyte lipid peroxidation and protein carbonylation in the plasma.⁸⁴ The antioxidant defence systems of the cells are also altered with cigarette smoking. GSH is the predominant form of glutathione with the oxidized form, glutathione disulfide (GSSG) being a marker/indicator of a poor oxidative status. In the sputum of patients with COPD, GSH levels are reduced and GSSG levels are increased.⁸⁰ This indicates that oxidative stress plays a major role in the pathology of COPD's, and cigarette smoke is a contributing factor.

2.4.2 LUNG CANCER

Lung cancer is the second most common type of cancer found in both males and females in the United States and is the number one cause of cancer-related death.⁸⁵ Worldwide, lung cancer kills over one million people every year.⁸⁶ Extensive studies revealed that cigarette smoke is the leading cause of lung cancer.⁸⁷ As with other cancers, lung cancer is thought to arise after a progression of pathological changes or preneoplastic lesions in the bronchial epithelium.⁸⁸ Most types of lung cancers are associated with multiple gene alterations and preneoplastic bronchial lesions. The role of tobacco smoking in the development of lung cancer is recognized for squamous and small cell type lung carcinoma. Studies also show a greater risk of adenocarcinoma among smokers than non-smokers.⁸⁹ Patients suffering from COPD's also have an increased risk of lung cancer. This link is probably due to the elevated amounts of inflammation and oxidative stress in COPD. Pro-inflammatory cytokines that are present in COPD can also promote the formation of tumours which increases the rate of cell growth and metastases. Transcription and growth factors are also altered in patients with COPD and may contribute to their susceptibility to lung cancer.⁷⁹

The mechanisms of carcinogenic metabolic activation and detoxification have been extensively researched⁷⁹ and include ROS induced lipid peroxidation, protein carbonylation and DNA nicking such as single-strand DNA breaks.^{87,90}

Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAH) which are also found in cigarette smoke are a large group of structurally related molecules formed during the incomplete combustion and heat associated breakdown of organic matter. Many PAHs are carcinogenic in humans and exposure to these PAHs includes air pollution, occupational exposure in Al production, roofing, paving with tar and cigarette smoke.⁹¹

The metabolic activation of absorbed PAH, leads to PAH diol epoxide metabolite formation which results in the formation of metabolic adducts that bind covalently to DNA.⁹¹ If these adducts escape cellular repair mechanisms, miscoding can result in permanent DNA mutations leading to the development of cancer. Cells with damaged DNA are generally removed from tissue by apoptosis however, if there is a permanent mutation in a vital region of an oncogene or tumour suppressor gene it can cause oncogene activation or tumour suppressor gene deactivation. This leads to abnormal cellular proliferation or loss of normal growth control which can then lead to the development for example of lung cancer.^{87,89} Besides initiating these processes cigarette smoke has also been identified as a tumour promoter.⁸⁷ Synergism between components in cigarette smoke can also increase the risk for lung cancer.

2.5 ANTIOXIDANTS

According to Halliwell and Gutteridge⁹² an antioxidant is "any substance that when present at low concentrations compared with that of an oxidizable substrate significantly delays or inhibits oxidation of that substrate".⁹² These include both enzymatic and non-enzymatic antioxidants. Antioxidants efficiently prevent the accumulation of oxidative elements thereby preventing or delaying the onset of diseases such as cancer, heart disease, COPD and aging.⁹³

2.5.1 TYPES OF ANTIOXIDANTS

Antioxidants can be divided according to their origin, nature, chemical-physical properties, structure and their mechanism of action as shown in Table 2.1.

Table 2.1: Summary of antioxidant types	
Origin	Natural or synthetic
Nature	Enzymatic or non-enzymatic
Chemical-physical properties	Hydrophilic or hydrophobic
Structure	Polyphenols, flavonoids etc.
Mechanism	Preventative, chain breaking, etc

2.5.1.1 ENZYMATIC ANTIOXIDANT SYSTEMS

All eukaryotic organisms have effective enzymatic antioxidant defence systems and include the enzymes SOD, catalase GPx and GR.⁹⁵ Antioxidant enzymes provide protection by directly scavenging O_2^{\bullet} radicals and H_2O_2 and converting them to less reactive species. Nonenzymatically molecular oxygen is converted to O_2^{\bullet} . SOD converts this O_2^{\bullet} to H_2O_2 . Even though H_2O_2 is not a radical, radicals can be formed from H_2O_2 by the Fenton reaction. Catalase neutralizes H_2O_2 forming $H_2O + O_2$, where O_2 can form O_2^{\bullet} . GPx neutralizes H_2O_2 by removing both hydrogen atoms from two GSH molecules which results in the formation of two H_2O molecules and one GSSG (oxidized GSH). GR then regenerates GSH from GSSG as shown in Figure 2.2.⁹⁶



<u>Figure 2.2:</u> Mechanism showing how antioxidant enzymes reduce levels of the superoxide anion (Adapted from Mozaffaarieh⁹⁶, 2008).

2.5.1.2 NON-ENZYMATIC/CHEMICAL ANTIOXIDANTS

Non-enzymatic antioxidants are classified into two groups, namely hydrophilic and hydrophobic antioxidants. Hydrophilic antioxidants are able to dissolve into blood and cytosol and can react with free radicals.⁹³ These non-enzymatic antioxidants include antioxidant enzyme cofactors such as selenium and coenzyme Q10, oxidative enzyme inhibitors such as aspirin, transition metal chelators such as ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA) and radical scavengers such as ascorbic acid and E.⁹⁷ Non enzymatic antioxidants have two different mechanisms of action. Firstly, these molecules can act directly by scavenging free radicals or secondly, by indirectly taking part in the regulation of enzyme activity.⁹⁴

2.5.1.3 VITAMINS AS ANTIOXIDANTS

Besides their described physiological effects, several vitamins also have antioxidant activity. This discussion focused on vitamin E and C as the effects of these vitamins on metal induced oxidative damage was investigated.

Tocopherols and tocotrienols (TOC) are a class of vitamin E derivatives that are present in biological membranes. In membranes, TOCs have both antioxidant and non-antioxidant functions. The non-antioxidant function of these TOC's is to provide stability to the membranes and play an important role in the fluidity and permeability of membranes. As an antioxidant, these TOC's act as chain breaking components, which prevent the promotion of chain lipid autoxidation.⁹⁴

Ascorbic acid (ascorbic acid) is a soluble micronutrient that is needed for multiple biological functions. It acts as a cofactor for several enzymes, and participates in post-translational hydroxylation of collagen. It is also plays an important role in the uptake of Fe, promoting absorption of Fe in the gastrointestinal tract (GIT). Ascorbic acid is also known for its reducing property which protects cellular components from oxidative damage. It has been shown to scavenge oxidising free radicals and other harmful oxygen-derived species. Ascorbic acid exhibits pro-oxidant effects associated with increased H₂O₂ formation which is responsible for its antibacterial and antiviral properties.⁹⁸

2.5.1.4 DIETARY POLYPHENOLS AS ANTIOXIDANTS

Polyphenols are the most abundant dietary antioxidants.^{99,100} Most polyphenols are secondary metabolites of plant origin and are present in polyphenol rich fruits, vegetables and beverages

such as wine and tea.¹⁰¹ These molecules are reducing agents and play a role in protecting the body against oxidative stress and associated diseases such as neurodegenerative diseases, cardiovascular disease and cancer.¹⁰¹

Polyphenols are defined according to the structure of their carbon skeleton dividing them into different classes, ie, anthocyanins, proanthocyanidins, flavanols, flavones, flavanols, flavanones, isoflavones, hydroxybenzoic acids, hydroxycinnamic acids, stilbenes and lignans.¹⁰⁰

Phenolic acids are found in large number of food sources. The most abundant phenolic acids are caffeic and ferulic acid. Caffeic acid is usually found in the form of esters and the most common form of this ester found in the diet is chlorogenic acid which is present in various fruits, vegetables and in coffee. Other forms of phenolic derivatives are the hydrolysable tannins. These are either gallic acid in gallotannins or other forms of phenolic acids which contain galloyl residues. These antioxidants can be found in berries, wine and brandy that have been aged in oak barrels. Finding gallic acid as a free molecule in the diet is rare as gallic acid usually occurs as structural components of condensed tannins.

Flavonoids can be further divided into several classes and are found in a wide variety of vegetables and fruits (Table 2.2). Flavonoids as antioxidants are potent scavengers of radicals and are metal chelators. In addition, flavonoids have hypolipidemic, antithrombotic, and vasoprotective effects.¹⁰⁰⁻¹⁰²

Type of flavonoid	Food source of flavonoid
Flavones	Red pepper, celery, parsley
Flavonols (quercetin)	Many fruits, vegetables and beverages including onions
Isoflavones	Soy-bean derived products
Anthocyanins	Red fruits such as cherries, plums, strawberries, grape, red and black currents, aubergine, rhubarb
Flavanols (catechins)	Abundant in green and black tea, red wine, chocolate, apples, beans
Proanthoctanidins	Apples, pears, grapes, wine, tea, chocolate
Flavanones	Citrus fruits

Table 2.2: Summary of the flavonoid types and sources ¹⁰⁰⁻¹⁰²

Flavonoids can protect the body against ROS. These molecules can act alone by directly scavenging free radicals or they can have an additive effect together with endogenous scavenging compounds.¹⁰³ Flavonoids can also reduce RNS formation as shown in the

reaction below, by directly scavenging the O_2^{-} radical, thereby protecting cells and tissue against the effects of the highly reactive peroxynitrite radical (ONOO⁻).¹⁰³

NO (nitric oxide) + O_2^{-} (superoxide) \rightarrow ONOO⁻ (peroxynitrite)

Flavonoids also inhibit xanthine oxidase, that catalyses the conversion of xanthine to uric acid with the formation of H_2O_2 .¹⁰³

During ischemia and inflammation, leukocytes which normally move freely, bind to the endothelial wall and become immobilised. This results in an increase in the levels of oxygenderived free radicals, the release of other cytotoxic oxidants and inflammatory markers which cause cellular injury. Administration of oral flavonoids has been shown to decrease the number of immobilised leukocytes and consequently decrease free radical production and oxidative damage.¹⁰³ Flavonoids can chelate Fe and other metals thereby removing metal ions responsible for the production of free radicals from H_2O_2 via the Fenton reaction. The anti-inflammatory and antithrombogenic properties of flavonoids are due to the inhibition of arachidonic acid metabolism.¹⁰³

2.6 PROTECTIVE EFFECT OF ANTIOXIDANTS AGAINST HEAVY METAL TOXICITY

Cessation of smoking is one of the most effective ways to reduce Pb, Cd, Cr and Al exposure. In addition, several studies have shown that antioxidants can protect against heavy metal induced oxidative damage. Examples of protective effects of antioxidants against specifically heavy metals Pb, Cd, Cr and Al will be described.

2.6.1 Phenolic acids

Phenolic acids are secondary metabolites that are widely spread throughout the plant kingdom. They are known for their various effects and uses in agricultural, biological, chemical and medical studies.¹⁰⁴ Phenolic acids have antioxidant, radical scavenging and cellular protective effects.¹⁰⁵

2.6.2 Flavonoids

Flavonoids such as quercetin chelate Pb by forming coordination bonds with the Pb ions. An extract of garlic protects rats against Pb induced liver toxicity.¹⁰⁶ The antioxidant curcumin has both radical scavenging activity and metal chelating abilities.¹⁰⁶

In an *in vitro* model, tea catechins were found to have protective effects against altered oxidative stress parameters and ROS formation caused by Pb exposure in PC12 cells (a cell line derived from a pheochromocytoma of the adrenal medulla of a rat). In addition, tea catechins were found to increase cell viability in the PC12 cells.¹⁰⁷ Polyphenols EGCG (catechin), quercetin and rutin protected mouse erythrocytes against Cr(VI) induced damage.¹⁰⁸ Tea catechins, especially those found in green tea have been reported to have neuroprotective properties. One of the mechanisms by which this occurs is likely the metal/antioxidant chelating characteristic of the catechin polyphenols against metals like AI, which have been associated with the pathogenesis of neurodegenerative diseases such as Alzheimer's disease.¹⁰⁹

2.6.3 Antioxidant vitamins: Ascorbic acid, B and E

Deficiencies of antioxidant vitamins such as ascorbic acid, B₁ and B₆ have been associated with an enhanced sensitivity towards Cd and Pb toxicity. Vitamin supplementation has proved to be effective against Cd and Pb toxicity in both animals and humans.^{110,111} The antioxidant, selenium was found to protect adult rat lungs against Al induced lung damage.¹¹² Vitamins B, C and E have been shown to chelate Pb thereby restoring the pro/antioxidant balance.¹⁰⁶ Vitamin E supplementation was also found to reduce Pb toxicity by inhibiting Pb absorption and this effect is possibly due to vitamin E chelation of Pb.³²

El-Demerdash¹¹³*et al.* (2004) showed that vitamin E and β-carotene protected male rats exposed to Pb from lipid peroxidation, haematological changes and improved semen quality.¹¹³ El-Demerdash¹¹³ showed that vitamin E and selenium reduced lipid peroxidation and increased antioxidant enzyme activities in rats exposed to Al by reducing the levels of free radicals. Vitamin E was also found to reduce the effects of Al induced degeneration in rat testis.¹¹⁴ Sugiyama¹¹⁵*et al.* (1991) reported that vitamin E protected hamster cells against cellular damage and mutations caused by sodium chromate exposure. The results of this study showed that vitamin E may be both antimutagenic and anticarcinogenic against the effects of Cr compounds.¹¹⁵ In a cell culture based study it was shown that intracellular vitamin E prevented Cr mediated inhibition of GR (Figure 2.2) which would result in reduced GSH generation. Vitamin E and selenium have been shown to decrease Cr(VI) toxicity in broiler chicks.¹¹⁶

In animal studies, ascorbic acid was found to significantly reduce blood Pb levels.¹⁹ In a cell culture study, intracellular ascorbic acid was found to reduce the toxicity and mutagenicity of

Cr. Ascorbic acid was also found to reduce Cr induced submandibular gland damage in rats.^{117,118}

These *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies indicate that antioxidants protect against heavy metal induced oxidative damage.

2.6.4 Additive and synergistic effects between antioxidants

Vitamin E, ascorbic acid and selenium in combination inhibited rat testicular damage induced by Cd.¹¹⁹ Exogenous antioxidant supplementation including ascorbic acid, vitamin E, β -carotene, Coenzyme Q10, and green tea replenished endogenous antioxidant supply thereby reducing oxidative stress and free radical formation¹²⁰.¹²⁰

It has recently been hypothesized that oxidative stress is one of the main participants in the pathogenesis of hypertension. A combination supplement containing ascorbic acid, vitamin E, β -carotene and zinc resulted in a significant decrease in systolic blood pressure but a non-significant reduction in diastolic blood pressure.^{121,122}

Synergistic beneficial effects are related to the specific bioactivity of each antioxidant related to radical scavenging, chelating ability and targeting of specific enzymes such as xanthine oxidase and antioxidant pathways such as the GSH pathway.

2.7 CLINCAL STUDIES: CHRONIC DISEASES, SMOKING AND ANTIOXIDANTS

Cigarette smoke contains a variety of toxic substances that causes cellular and tissue damage, and one of the mechanisms whereby the heavy metals found in cigarettes mediate toxicity is via the formation of ROS contributing significantly to diseases such as COPD and lung cancer. Since ROS and oxidative stress play a major role in the genesis of these diseases, antioxidants should aid in their prevention and treatment. Although the use of antioxidants in the prevention and treatment of COPD is limited, antioxidants can play an important role in reducing oxidative damage and inflammation associated with COPD.¹²³

Vitamin E has been found to have a beneficial effect on lung function, thereby delaying or preventing the development of COPD.¹²⁴ N-acetlycysteine (NAC) a thiol antioxidant, which is also a precursor for GSH was found to reduce pulmonary emphysema in rats.¹²⁵ It has also been reported that through the reduction of O_2^- to H_2O_2 , the antioxidant enzyme SOD can decrease damage to the lung caused by emphysema.¹²⁶

Certain cruciferous plants such as broccoli are being evaluated for the treatment of COPD, as the antioxidants found in these plants positively impacts on endogenous redox processes. These plants contain a range of molecules including natural antioxidants, folate, ascorbic acid and β -carotene.¹²³ A pilot study conducted on the effect that broccoli has on male smokers showed that broccoli caused plasma antioxidants to be upregulated, it influenced GSH activity and increased cellular defences against oxidative stress.¹²⁷

Much debate has arisen about whether antioxidant supplementation is beneficial to cancer patients and whether it alters the efficacy of chemotherapy.¹²⁸ A number of studies have been conducted where antioxidant treatment has been incorporated into treatment for cancer patients undergoing chemotherapy and radiation treatment.¹²⁹⁻¹³¹ Preliminary evidence is limited due to sample size and quality, but does suggest that addition of antioxidants to the chemotherapy regime is safe and that certain antioxidant supplements may reduce adverse effects of chemotherapeutic and radiation treatment like mucositis/stomatitis, neurotoxicity and weight loss, resulting in improved quality of life.¹²⁸⁻¹³¹ A reduction in these side effects associated with toxicity may result in more patients completing their chemotherapy treatment. Besides reduced toxic effects, antioxidant supplementation may increase survival times and/or increased tumour response to therapy.¹²⁸

Antioxidant treatment intervention studies in COPD and lung cancer is not well researched as the effect is often difficult to quantify, however indications are that antioxidant supplementation does reduce the amount of oxidative stress and has shown a decrease in toxicity.¹³² Further research is required to identify the best antioxidant combinations related to specific targets, mechanisms as well as the measurement of endpoints related to antioxidant effects.

2.8 AIM AND OBJECTIVES

The aims of this exploratory study were to investigate the oxidative toxic effects of Pb, Cd, Cr and Al, found in cigarettes and to further investigate how dietary antioxidants can protect against this induced oxidative damage.

In the first part of the study the objectives were:

- 1. To determine the concentration of Pb, Cd, Cr and Al that causes 50% human erythrocyte haemolysis.
- 2. To compare the change in morphology of induced by Pb, Cd, Cr and Al, compared to that induced by a known oxidant AAPH.
- 3. To determine if Pb, Cd, Cr and Al can catalyse the Fenton reaction resulting in the formation of hydroxyl radicals.
- 4. To determine in *ex vivo* erythrocytes if Pb, Cd, Cr and Al induces ROS.
- 5. To determine if Pb, Cd, Cr and Al can bind GSH.
- 6. To determine in *ex vivo* erythrocytes if Pb, Cd, Cr and Al reduces GSH levels.

In the second part of the study the objectives were:

- 7. To determine whether dietary polyphenolic acids, flavonoids and vitamin derivatives, catechin, gallic acid and Trolox protects against Pb, Cd, Cr and Al induced haemolysis.
- 8. To determine if phenolic acids, flavonoids and antioxidant vitamins inhibit the Fenton reaction catalysed by Pb, Cd, Cr and Al.
- 9. To determine whether dietary polyphenolic acids, flavonoids and vitamin derivatives, catechin, gallic acid and Trolox protects against Pb, Cd, Cr and Al induced oxidative damage in erythrocytes.
- 10. To determine if polyphenolic acids, flavonoids and antioxidant vitamins inhibit ROS formation by binding metals.
- 11. To determine if polyphenolic acids, flavonoids and antioxidant vitamins inhibit metal/GSH interactions.
- 12. To determine if antioxidants binding to Pb, Cd, Cr and Al alters the antioxidant activity of antioxidants.
- 13. To determine whether dietary polyphenolic acids, flavonoids and vitamin derivatives, catechin, gallic acid and Trolox protects against Pb, Cd, Cr and Al induced changes in GSH levels.

CHAPTER 3: MATERIALS AND METHODS

All methodologies required to achieve the objectives listed in Section 2.8 are contained in sections 3.1 and 3.2 and a summary of the experimental procedures is presented in Figure 3.1. All research was conducted in the research facilities of the Departments of Anatomy and Pharmacology of the Faculty of Health Sciences and the Unit for Microscopy and Microanalysis, University of Pretoria.

3.1 MATERIALS

3.1.1 REAGENTS, EQUIPMENT AND DISPOSABLE PLASTICWARE

Reagents, 2,2'-azobis(2-amidinopropane) dihydrochloride (AAPH), catechin, Trolox, gallic acid, ascorbic acid, caffeic acid, quercetin, Fe(II) sulphate hydrate, fluorescein, 5,5'-dithiobis– (2-nitrobenzoic acid) (DTNB), AI chloride (AICI₃), 2,2'-azino-bis(3-ethylbenzothiazoline-6-sulfonic acid) diammonium salt (ABTS), were obtained from the Sigma-Aldrich Company, Atlasville South Africa (SA). Iso PBS (isotonic phosphate buffered saline) (0.137M NaCl; 3M KCl; 1.9 M NaH₂PO₄. 2H₂O; 8.1 M Na₂HPO₄) were obtained from Merck Chemicals, Modderfontein SA. The metals lead acetate (Pb(C₂H₃O₂)₂), cadmium sulphate (CdSO₄), chrome potassium sulphate (CrK(SO₄)₂) and aluminium ammonium sulphate (AINH₄(SO₄)₂) were also obtained from Merck Chemicals, Modderfontein SA.

3.1.2 EQUIPMENT

Equipment that was used includes: BioTek plate reader purchased from Analytical and Diagnostic Products (ADP) Johannesburg, SA. Hermle Z300 centrifuge, Crison GLP 21 pH meter and Eppendorf pipettes from Eppendorf AG Hamburg, Germany were all supplied by the Scientific Laboratory Equipment Company (LASEC), Cape Town, SA.

3.1.3 GLASSWARE AND PLASTICWARE

All glassware and disposable plasticware including 96 well plates, 600ml Eppendorf tubes, and pipette tips (10, 25, 100, 200, and 1000µl) were from Greiner Bio-one supplied by LASEC, Cape Town, SA and NUNC[™] supplied by AEC-Amersham, Johannesburg, SA.

3.1.4 SAMPLE COLLECTION

Blood samples were obtained from ten healthy, non-smoking, consenting volunteers with ethical approval, ethics number 268/2015. Approval was obtained from the Research Ethics Committee, Faculty of Health Sciences, University of Pretoria.



Figure 3.1: A schematic representation of the experimental design.

3.2 METHODS

3.2.1 HAEMOLYTIC, OXIDATIVE EFFECTS RELATED TO RADICAL FORMATION AND GSH BINDING/DEPLETION

3.2.1.1 HEAMOLYTIC EFFECTS OF Pb, Cd, Cr AND AI

The haemolysis assay was used to determine the concentrations at which Pb, Cd, Cr and Al caused erythrocyte haemolysis. A blood sample was collected from a consenting donor, thereafter the erythrocytes were collected by centrifugation at 5000xg in the laboratory. A 5% solution was then made by diluting the erythrocytes in an isotonic phosphate buffered solution (IsoPBS) (0.137M NaCl, 0.003M KCl, 0.0019M NaH₂PO₄.2H₂O, 0.0081M Na₂HPO₄ containing 0.005M of glucose) and were either used immediately or stored at 4°C for a maximum of five days. For each assay done in triplicate a 100µl sample was placed in a 600µl microcentrifuge tube. The positive control (H₁₀₀) was prepared by adding 40µl of a 2% sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS) (an ionic detergent that causes erythrocyte lysis) solution to the 5% erythrocyte suspension. The negative control (H₀) contained 40µl IsoPBS solution added to the 5% erythrocyte suspension.

For all metals a 1.0M stock solution was prepared and from these, working solutions at the respective concentrations were further prepared. A volume of 40µl of each working solution was added to a 100µl volume of the erythrocyte suspension in 600µl microcentrifuge tubes.

For Pb acetate (Pb(II) referred to as Pb), from the stock solution, 25, 35 and a 45mM working solutions in dH₂O were prepared. The final concentrations were 7, 10 and 13mM. For Cd sulphate (Cd(II) referred to as Cd) from the stock solution 20, 40 and 60mM working solutions in dH₂O were prepared. The final concentrations were 6, 12 and 18mM. Likewise, for Cr potassium sulphate (Cr(III) referred to as Cr) from the stock solution, 85, 95 and a 105mM working solution in dH₂O were prepared. The final concentrations were 25, 27 and 30mM. Finally, for Al ammonium sulphate (Al(III) referred to as Al) working solutions of 180, 200 and 220mM working solutions in dH₂O were prepared. The final concentrations were 57, 60 and 63mM.

All tubes were gently mixed and were incubated at 37°C for 16 hrs. After this period of incubation, the erythrocytes were re-suspended and thereafter centrifuged at 3500g for 2

minutes (min). A 50µl volume of the supernatant was placed into the wells of a 96 well plate and the absorbance was measured at a wavelength of 540nm using a BioTek plate reader. The percentage haemolysis was calculated as follows:

Percentage haeomolysis = H_{sample} – H₀/H₁₀₀-H₀ X100

3.2.1.2 EFFECTS OF AAPH AND METALS ON ERYTHROCYTE MORPHOLOGY

Scanning electron microscopy (SEM) is used to evaluate the effect of molecules such as metals on the surface morphological features of cells such as erythrocytes. Toxicity such as oxidative damage causes changes in the plasma membrane structure resulting in increased lipid peroxidation, loss of trans-membrane asymmetry, increased permeability and erythrocyte membrane blebbing.¹³³ The extent of oxidative damage is dependent on the concentration of the oxidant and incubation time.

In order to identify exposure time related changes to erythrocyte morphology, erythrocytes were exposed to AAPH and at specific time intervals and the morphology of the erythrocytes was then examined. In order to achieve this, the effect of 40µl of a freshly prepared 300mM AAPH solution (final concentration 85.7mM) on erythrocyte membrane morphology was evaluated at 1, 2, 6, 8 and 16 hrs. The typical morphological features were defined as described by Gyawali *et al.* 2015.¹³⁴ This experiment allowed for the description of the sequence of events that leads to haemolysis.

In order to evaluate the effects of the heavy metals the highest concentration in Figure 4.1(filled bar) was used, and these concentrations were for Pb 13mM; Cd 18mM; Cr 27mM and AI 63mM. The experimental conditions were as described in Section 3.2.1.1 and erythrocyte morphology was evaluated after 16 hrs of incubation.

For SEM, all samples were processed as follows: after incubation, 100µl of fixative (2.5% glutaraldehyde, 2% formalin in 0.1M phosphate buffer, pH 7.4) was added to the erythrocyte suspension. The microcentrifuge tube was inverted 3 times and the erythrocytes were then fixed for 1 hr. The erythrocytes were allowed to settle by gravity. A 100µl volume of PBS was added to the erythrocyte suspension in the 600µl microcentrifuge tubes. It was left for 5 min, and then removed. This was repeated three times per tube. 100µl osmium tetroxide was added to the erythrocytes and left to stand for 30 min, after which the erythrocytes were rinsed 3 times with PBS. The erythrocytes were then dehydrated through ethanol in the following ascending concentrations for 5 min each of 30%, 50%, 70% and 90 and finally 100% ethanol, three times, for 7 min each. The erythrocytes were dried by critical point drying and chemically

treated with hexamethyldisilazane (HMDS) under a fume hood for 30 min. The HMDS was removed by centrifugation and fresh HMDS was added to the centrifuge tubes. Two drops of the cell suspension were dropped onto a cover slip and left to dry. The erythrocytes were coated with carbon evaporation and viewed using Carl Zeiss Ultra Plus Field emission SEM.¹³⁵

3.2.2 OXIDATIVE EFFECTS OF Pb, Cd, Cr AND AI

Oxidative damage can be the result of the formation of reactive hydroxyl, oxygen and nitrogen species and/or the depletion of the cellular radical scavenging components such as GSH.

3.2.2.1 PB, CD, CR AND AI AS CATALYSTS OF THE FENTON REACTION

In the Fenton reaction, metals such as Fe catalyse the formation of OH^{*} radicals from H₂O₂. In the hydroxyl radical averting capacity (HORAC) assay, the ability of antioxidants to prevent OH^{*} mediated quenching of fluorescein is measured. Although generally the Fenton reaction involves Fe, in the HORAC assay, Co as an oxidising agent was proven to be more effective and a better catalyst of OH^{*} formation.¹³⁶⁻¹³⁸ Co was effective at low concentrations and effectively catalysed the formation of OH^{*} at a high pH via the reaction given below.¹³⁸

$Co(II) + H_2O_2 \rightarrow Co(III) + OH^{-139}$

In order to determine the ability of Pb, Cd, Cr and Al to catalyse the formation of OH[•], 10µl of each metal solution (45mM Pb, 60mM Cd, 105mM Cr and 220mM Al) was added to separate wells in a 96 well plate. A 180µl volume of a 0.01mM fluorescein solution was added to the wells. After 2 min of incubation at 37°C, 20µl H_2O_2 was added to each well. The final concentrations of each metal were 2.14mM Pb, 2.85mM Cd, 5.00mM Cr and 10.47mM Al. The change in fluorescence was read at an excitation wavelength of 485nm and emission at 520nm, twice every min for 30 cycles. The negative control (0% ROS production) contained 10µl PBS added to 180µl fluorescein and 20µl H_2O_2 . Co was used as a positive control and the final concentration of Co was 0.46mM.¹³⁷

3.2.2.2 ABILITY OF METALS TO INDUCE OXIDATIVE DAMAGE IN ERYTHROCYTES

The DCFH-DA assay is an assay used to detect oxidative damage caused by ROS and RNS.¹⁴⁰ Erythrocytes exposed to AAPH will form ROS and the intracellular levels can be measured using the DCFH-DA assay. The DCFH-DA assay is an assay widely used to detect

oxidative damage caused by ROS and RNS. In this assay, the DCFH-DA diffuses into the erythrocytes where it is hydrolysed to DCFH by intracellular esterases. The peroxyl radicals generated from the oxidant (for example AAPH), oxidises the DCFH to its fluorescent derivative DCF. Thus, an increase in fluorescence indicates oxidative activity.¹⁴¹ If oxidative damage occurs the non-fluorescent DCFH-DA forms the fluorescent diacetate (FDA).

In order to a volume of 225µl of the erythrocyte suspension which was prepared as described in section 3.2.1.1, 225µl of a 75mM DCFH-DA solution was added. Tubes were incubated at 37°C for 1 hr and the erythrocytes were then collected by centrifugation at 3500g for 2 min. The erythrocytes were washed twice then re-suspended in 450µl of IsoPBS. In order to a 75µl volume of the erythrocytes 75µl of a 45mM Pb, 60mM Cd, 105mM Cr and 220mM Al solution was added. The final concentration of each metal was 35.5mM Pb, 30mM Cd, 52.5mM Cr and 110mM Al. As a positive control, AAPH was used and 75µl of a 20mM AAPH, final concentration 10mM was added. For the negative control 75µl volume of IsoPBS solution was added. The change in fluorescence was measured at 0 to 5 min following the addition of the metals. An excitation wavelength of 485nm and an emission wavelength of 520nm were used. The gradient from 0-20 min (cycle 1-9) was determined.

3.2.2.3 GSH BINDING AND EFFECTS OF METALS ON ERYTHOCYTE GSH LEVELS

The reduced form of GSH is the principle free thiol found in almost all living cells and is a part of numerous biological processes which includes the detoxification of xenobiotics, the removal of hydroperoxides, and maintaining the oxidation state of protein sulfhydryls. Glutathione is mostly found in cells in its reduced state as GSH (between 90-95% of total glutathione) and the remainder in the oxidised state, GSSG. Intracellular levels of reduced GSH levels are good indicators of the overall cellular health and wellbeing as well as the ability of a cell to cope with toxins and other stressors such as oxidative stress. Metals can directly bind GSH or inhibit GSH recycling dependent enzymes and this can result in the accumulation of GSH or depletion of GSH depending on the inhibited enzyme (Figure 2.2).

3.2.2.4 DETERMINATION OF METAL-GSH BINDING

GSH is a cysteine containing tripeptide and in biological systems the amount of free cysteine can be quantified in protein using DTNB also known as Ellman's Reagent. The ability of Pb,

Cd, Cr and Al to bind to GSH was determined. Binding of these metals to GSH would decrease the amount of free GSH that can bind DTNB.

A 1mM GSH solution was prepared in a PBS solution ($0.2M Na_2HPO_4$, $0.2M NaH_2PO_4$, H_2O , 0.15M NaCl, pH 8). A pH of 8 is necessary for GSH to bind DTNB. In order to prepare a 10mM DNTB stock solution, 3.96mg DTNB powder was first dissolved in 100µl methanol (MeOH), sonicated until dissolved and was then added to 900µl of PBS. A 0.01mM working solution was then prepared from the stock solution. In addition to 50µl of the GSH solution, 50µl of the metal solutions were added, mixed well and then 50µl DNTB was added. The volumes of all solutions were adjusted to a final volume of 200µl with the addition of 50µl H₂O. After an incubation period of 5 min the absorbance was measured at 405nm using a BioTek plate reader. In each well the final concentration of GSH was 0.25mM. The final concentrations of Pb, Cd, Cr and Al were 13, 18, 30 and 63mM respectively and were in excess of GSH. All results were expressed as a percentage of the control, GSH alone with no metals added and were calculated as follows:

Percentage GSH_{unbound} = Abs_{sample} – Abs_{metal blank}/Abs_{GSH alone} – Abs_{PBS blank}

3.2.2.5 EFFECTS OF METALS ON ERYTHOCYTE GSH LEVELS

In order to determine the effect of each metal on erythrocyte GSH levels an erythrocyte suspension was prepared as for the haemolysis assay in 3.2.1.1. A 4µl volume of three concentrations of each metal was added to 100µl of the erythrocyte suspension in 600µl microcentrifuge tubes. These were 25, 35 and 45mM solutions for Pb with final concentrations of 7, 10 and 13mM. For Cd this was 20, 40 and 60mM and the final concentrations in solution were 6, 12 and 18mM. Likewise, for Cr 85, 95 and 105mM working solutions were used and the final Cr concentrations were 25, 27 and 30mM. The concentrations of the working solutions for Al were 180, 200 and 220mM and the final concentrations were 57, 60 and 63mM. For the control a 40µl volume of PBS was added instead of metals.

The erythrocytes were then incubated at 37°C for 16 hrs. After incubation the cells were haemolysed by adding 100µl of a 2% SDS solution to each tube. Thereafter the erythrocytes were vortexed for 1 min to ensure complete haemolysis before a 100X dilution was prepared. A 50µl volume of the diluted haemolysed erythrocytes was pipetted into the wells of a 96 well plate. A volume of 100µl DTNB prepared as described above was added and the absorbance was measured at 405nm, 5 min after adding the DTNB.

3.2.3 EFFECTS OF POLYPHENOLICS, FLAVONOIDS AND VITAMIN DERIVATIVES ON METAL INDUCED OXIDATIVE DAMAGE AND GSH LEVELS

Metal catalysed oxidative damage can be reduced by antioxidants. These molecules act by directly binding the metal, preventing the depletion of GSH and/or scavenging the formed radicals. The ability of several antioxidants (Figure 3.2) to prevent haemolysis, to scavenge radicals, to prevent binding to GSH and to prevent erythrocyte depletion was evaluated. Finally the effect of metals on the antioxidant activity of the polyphenols and antioxidant enzymes was determined.

Catechin



Quercetin



Gallic acid



Caffeic acid

Ascorbic acid



<u>Trolox</u>





Figure 3.2: Chemical structures of the polyphenols and antioxidant vitamins used in this study. Structures from Chem-Spider.¹⁴²

3.2.3.1 ABILITY OF ANTIOXIDANTS TO PREVENT ERYTHROCYTE HAEMOLYSIS

The ability of antioxidants; catechin, gallic acid and Trolox to inhibit Pb, Cd, Cr and Al induced haemolysis was determined. Erythrocyte suspensions were prepared as described in section 3.2.1.1. Metal concentrations that induce H_{50} were used (Table 4.1) and the effect of increasing concentrations of antioxidants was then evaluated. The final concentration of each metal was 13mM Pb, 18mM Cd, 30mM Cr and 63mM Al. The working concentration for each antioxidant evaluated was 1mM with the final concentration being 0.2mM. For the positive control, 40µl volume of a 2% SDS solution was used and for the negative control a 40µl volume of IsoPBS solution was used.

All tubes were gently mixed and were incubated at 37°C for 16 hrs, after which the erythrocytes were collected by centrifugation at 3500xg for 2 min. A 50µl volume of the supernatant was placed into the wells of a 96 well plate and the absorbance was measured at 540nm and the percentage haemolysis was calculated as follows:

Percentage haemolysis = $H_{sample} - H_0/H_{100} - H_0 X100$

The percentage haemolysis calculated for the metal antioxidant combinations was then compared to the percentage haemolysis caused by the metals alone. Statistical difference (p≤0.001) indicated a protective effect and was calculated using One-Way Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) with a confidence level of 95%.

3.2.3.2 ABILITY OF ANTIOXIDANTS TO INHIBIT THE FENTON REACTION

All metal and fluorescein solutions were prepared as described in Section 3.2.2.2. A volume of 50μ I of 1mM catechin, quercetin, gallic acid, caffeic acid, Trolox and ascorbic acid was added. The final concentration of each antioxidant was 0.025mM. The change in fluorescence was measured at an excitation wavelength of 485nm and emission at 520nm, twice every min for 30 cycles. The negative control (0% ROS production) contained 10µI antioxidant added to 180µI fluorescein and 20µI H₂O₂.

3.2.3.3 ABILITY OF ANTIOXIDANTS TO PREVENT ERYTHROCYTE OXIDATIVE DAMAGE

The DCFH-DA assay as described in Section 3.2.2.2 was used. A third of the reaction volume of reaction mixture was replaced with 75µl of 1mM catechin, gallic acid or Trolox. The final concentration of each antioxidant was 0.3mM. As described in Section 3.3.2.1 the change in fluorescence was measured at an excitation and emission wavelength of 485nm and 520nm respectively. The effect of antioxidants on the measured levels of percentage oxidative damage for each metal was calculated. Statically significant differences in the measured levels of oxidative damage indicated a possible protective effect.

3.2.3.4 ABILITY OF ANTIOXIDANTS TO INHIBIT THE FENTON REACTION BY BINDING METALS

The traditional AlCl₃ method used for the quantification of flavonoids involves the formation of acid stable complexes with the C-4 keto group and either the C-3 or the C-5 hydroxyl group of flavones and flavonols. Flavonoids that bind Al, would reduce the ability of Al to take part in the Fenton reaction. Likewise using the same strategy was possible to determine if Pb, Cd and Cr also bind flavonoids thereby reducing the toxic effects of these metals. The ability of catechin, quercetin, gallic acid, caffeic acid, Trolox and ascorbic acid to bind metals was also determined.

The original method used for the determination of the total flavonoid content of samples is as follows: A 10µl volume of increasing concentrations of flavonoids or antioxidant containing mixtures was added to the wells of a 96 well plate. A volume of 30μ l of a 2.5% solution of sodium nitrite is then added to the samples in the plate followed by 25µl of a 2.5% AlCl₃ solution after which 100µl of a 2% sodium hydroxide solution was added. The absorbance was measured at 405nm.¹⁴⁰

In this study the above method was slightly adapted. The 2.5% AlCl₃ solution was replaced with a 116mM Pb, 157mM Cd, 270mM Cr and a 566mM Al solution. In this assay the final metal concentrations were 13mM, 18mM, 30mM and 63mM respectively. A concentration series of each antioxidant was used and this was 0, 0.16, 0.33, 0.67, 0.8 and 1mM.

3.2.3.5 EFFECT OF METAL BINDING TO ANTIOXIDANTS ON THE ANTIOXIDANT ACTIVITY

Several assays can be used to determine antioxidant activity. Two main types of assays are the electron transfer and the hydrogen atom transfer assays. The TEAC assay which is an electron transfer assay measures the ability of an antioxidant to quench ABTS⁺⁺ which is bluish-green chromophore. Activity is compared to the antioxidant activity of Trolox which is a water-soluble vitamin E analogue. The addition of heavy metals may cause the flavonoids to bind the metals, thereby reducing the measured antioxidant activity of the flavonoids. When antioxidants are added to the radical cation it is reduced to ABTS. This results in a decolourization of the dark green ABTS⁺⁺ radical.¹⁴³

A concentration of 7mM ABTS was dissolved in PBS and then 2.45mM potassium persulfate was added. The mixture was then left to stand at room temperature, in the dark for 12 hrs. This produced a dark bluish-green solution. A 1ml volume of this stock solution was diluted in a volume of 29ml of PBS to produce the working solution.

A 290µl volume of the ABTS working solution was then added to 10µl of 45, 60, 105 and 220mM solutions of Pb, Cd, Cr and Al respectively and the final concentrations were 22.5, 30, 52.5 and 110mM respectively. Then 10µl of 1mM solutions of catechin, quercetin, gallic acid, caffeic acid, Trolox and ascorbic acid was added. The final concentration for each antioxidant used in this assay was 0.33mM. Controls were ATBS without metals and antioxidants as well as ATBS with metals. The absorbance was measured at a wavelength of 630nm.⁹⁷

3.2.3.6 ABILITY OF ANTIOXIDANTS TO INHIBIT METAL - GSH BINDING

GSH solutions were prepared as described in Section 3.2.2.4. Instead of the addition of 50μ I H₂O, 50μ I of a 1mM solution of catechin, gallic acid or Trolox was added prior to the addition of 50μ I DTNB solution. The final concentration of GSH was 0.25mM and the metals were 13, 18, 30 and 63mM. The final concentration of each antioxidant was 0.25mM. The absorbance was measured at 405nm and all results were expressed as percentage of control, GSH alone with no metals added and was calculated using the following equation. Samples containing antioxidants were compared to samples containing metals and GSH.

Percentage GSH_{unbound} = Abs_{sample} – Abs_{metal blank}/Abs_{GSH alone} – Abs_{PBS blank}

3.2.3.7 EFFECT OF ANTIOXIDANTS ON ERYTHROCYTE GSH LEVELS

Erythrocyte suspensions were prepared as described in Section 3.2.1.1. Following the addition of 40µl of the metal solutions (Section 3.2.2.5), 40µl of 1mM catechin, gallic acid or Trolox was then added to the erythrocytes. After 16 hrs incubation at 37°C GSH levels were quantified as described in section 3.2.2.4.

CHAPTER 4: RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

A: HEAVY METAL TOXICITY

Smoking contributes to 58% of lung cancer deaths, 37% of COPD deaths, 20% of TB deaths and 23% of vascular related deaths in South Africa. Approximately 8% of all deaths in South Africa (more than 20 000 deaths per year) are caused by smoking.¹ Cigarette smoke contributes to several preventable diseases worldwide which include COPD, lung cancer and IHD.¹⁴⁴ Cigarette smoke is a complex mixture of molecules which includes toxic hydrocarbons, gases as well as metals. In this study, the oxidative effects of metals Pb, Cd, Cr and AI that are found in cigarette smoke were evaluated.

4.1. CONCENTRATIONS OF PB, CD, CR AND AL THAT CAUSES SIGNIFICANT LEVELS OF HAEMOLYSIS IN HUMAN ERYTHROCYES

Erythrocytes contain a lipid bi-layer which surrounds and protects the cell. Once this lipid bilayer is damaged haemolysis occurs and Hb escapes.¹²⁹ Quantification of the released Hb from erythrocytes is the basis of the haemolysis assay used to evaluate toxicity such as that which occurs with oxidative stress. The haemolysis assay measures the percentage haemolysis relative to a positive control that causes complete haemolysis (100%) and a negative control where no haemolysis occurs. Erythrocytes are exposed to a range of serial dilutions of a specific drug or chemical that is being tested.¹²⁹

In order to determine the concentration of Pb, Cd, Cr and Al that causes haemolysis erythrocytes were exposed for 16 hrs to increasing concentrations of each metal. For each metal a dosage effect was observed across a narrow concentration range and this was for Pb (7-13 mM), Cd (6-18 mM), Cr (25-30 mM) and Al (57-63 mM) (Figure 4.1). The line equation of each graph was determined and from this the concentration of each metal that causes 50% haemolysis (H50%) was calculated (Table 4.1).



<u>Figure 4.1:</u> Ability of heavy metals Pb (7-13mM), Cd (6-8mM), Cr (25-30mM) and Al (57-63mM) to cause erythrocyte haemolysis at an exposure time of 16 hrs. Data is an average of three experiments with three data points each. Standard error of the mean < 0.02%. Means with different letters are significantly different, $p \le 0.001$. The filled bar is the concetration for each metal that was further used in the present study.

Metal	Equation	<u>R</u> ²	Calculated H50% (mM)
Pb	y = 3.1213x - 1.113	0.989	16.00
Cd	y = 1.4977x - 3.754	0.886	33.38
Cr	y = 1.0794x - 3.269	0.508	47.83
AI	y = 0.6270x - 1.858	0.606	81.26

Table 4.1: Line equations of graphs (Figure 4.1), curve fit (R²) and the calculated concentrations causing haemolysis (Calculated H50%)

The order of toxicity was Pb > Cd > Cr > Al. Pb was 2.06, 2.93 and 5.06 times more toxic than Cd, Cr and Al respectively.

Pb has been described to cause changes in the integrity of membranes, as well as changes in their permeability and function and possibly an increase in susceptibility to lipid peroxidation.^{32,37} Lawton and Donaldson¹⁴⁵ reported that Pb has a destabilizing effect on cellular membranes. In erythrocytes, Pb decreased the fluidity of the cell membrane and increases the rate of erythrocyte haemolysis. This change in fluidity was the result of ROS formation that caused peroxidation of the lipids present in the outer membrane of the erythrocyte.^{145,146} In patients, Pb exposure causes hypochromic or normochromic anaemia which is a result of ROS generation, which leads to membrane peroxidation and consequently erythrocyte haemolysis.^{21,32} The blood erythrocyte counts, Hb levels, haematocrits and mean corpuscular volumes of workers exposed to Pb was lower than non-exposed workers.¹⁴⁷

Kiyoatake¹⁴⁸ *et al.* (2015) examined the interactions of different metals on bio-membranes of human erythrocytes. In this study erythrocytes exposed to heavy metals were subjected to a pressure of 200MPa. Changes in membrane integrity due to Hg and Cd exposure increased cellular susceptibility to pressure induced haemolysis.¹⁴⁸

Human erythrocytes were exposed to $0 - 160\mu$ M Cr(VI) and only after 48 hrs was haemolysis observed.¹⁴⁹ In the present study at a higher concentration of 25mM Cr(III) erythrocyte haemolysis was observed after 24 hrs.

Few studies are available on the effects of AI on human erythrocytes. The effects of macrosized AI oxide (Al_2O_3) nanoparticles on rat, rabbit and human erythrocytes have been investigated and the results of these studies showed a time and concentration dependent increase in haemolysis.¹⁵⁰

Although the effects of Pb and Cd are well described, information on the effects of Cr and Al on the erythrocyte membrane is limited. In the present study Cr and Al were found to cause haemolysis although to a lesser degree than Pb and Cd.

4.2 THE EFFECTS OF AAPH AND METALS ON ERYTHROCYTE MORPHOLOGY

4.2.1 EFFECT OF AAPH – INDUCTION OF OXIDATIVE DAMAGE

In order to identify and describe the sequential morphological changes that erythrocytes undergo following exposure to oxidants, human erythrocytes were exposed to 300mM of AAPH for 16hrs at 37°C. At times, 1, 2, 4, 6, 8 and 16 hrs, the degree of haemolysis was measured (Figure 4.2) and changes to erythrocyte morphology was determined with SEM (Figure 4.4). Erythrocyte morphology was described and classified according to the classification in Figure 4.3.

AAPH is an azo compound which generates free radicals by thermal decomposition in an aqueous state and was used as a source of peroxyl radicals.¹⁵¹ During AAPH decomposition, molecular nitrogen and free radicals are formed. The radicals then react with oxygen to produce peroxyl radicals which attack the erythrocyte membrane.¹⁵² AAPH has a half-life of approximately 175 hrs at 37°C and neutral pH, thus the rate of free radical production is basically constant within the first few hrs in solution.¹⁵³

Oxidative damage causes nucleated cells to undergo cell death via apoptosis. Mature erythrocytes do not contain nuclei or organelles but also have the ability to undergo self-destruction similar to nucleated cells. Although the process of apoptosis is well described for nucleated cells, less is known about this process in anucleate cells. In nucleate cells ROS activates the mitochondria mediated intrinsic pathway of apoptosis. Although mature erythrocytes do not contain mitochondria and nuclei, these cells do undergo several changes associated with apoptosis such as cell shrinkage, membrane blebbing, and shape transformation from a discocyte to a spherocyte which is associated with the externalization of phosphatidylserine.^{154,155} Gyawali¹³⁴ *et al.* (2015) observed that an increase in oxidative stress and inflammation caused morphological changes to human erythrocytes.¹³⁴ When exposed to oxidants and inflammatory agents erythrocytes lose their discoid shape and progress to become echinocytes and finally spherocytes/ sphero-echinocytes and can be classified according to Figure 4.3. These morphological changes are due to changes that occur to the structure of the cytoskeleton as a result of oxidative stress.¹⁵⁶⁻¹⁵⁸



<u>Figure 4.2:</u> A time based study on the ability of 86mM AAPH on erythrocyte haemolysis. Data is an average of three experiments with three data points each. Standard error of the mean < 0.02%. Means with different letters are significantly different, $p \le 0.001$. Solid blue bars indicates significant levels of AAPH induced haemolysis.



<u>Figure 4.3:</u> Morphological changes associated with eryptosis. Adapted from http://vetbook.org/wiki/cat/images/4/4f/EchinoFig1.jpg.¹⁵⁹

At time intervals of 1, 2 and 4 hrs the measured levels of haemolysis was < 5%. At 6 and 8 hrs, the percentage of haemolysis was 10% and after 16 hrs 40% haemolysis occurred (Figure 4.2). Time dependent morphological changes due to increased oxidative damage was observed (Figures 4.4) from images A through to H. At 0 hrs, the erythrocytes had a typical biconcave discoid shape associated with discocytes. At 1, 2 and 4 hrs, AAPH induced the formation of echinocytes which have characteristic rounded projections or spicules. At 1 hr exposure type I or early echinocyte formation occurs while at 2 and 4 hrs primary echincyte formation (type II and III respectively) was observed. These structures were associated with haemolysis of only \pm 5%.

As echinocytosis progresses the spicules become more numerous and eventually bud off in the form of extracellular vesicles which consist of plasma membrane material (Figure 4.4 D),

and at 4 hrs this is associated with \pm 10% haemolysis. At the same time the spicules also begin to swell and become more and more spherical (Figures 4.4 E & F). The spherical erythrocytes with spicules are known as sphere-echinocytes (Figure 4.4 G) and types I and II have been described. Once the vesicles have budded off spherical smooth erythrocytes form (Figure 4.4 H). This type of erythrocyte has a smaller volume and surface area than the original discocyte and echinocyte forms. These spherocytes (Lim 2002) or a sphere-echinocyte type II (Figure 4.3) is associated with 40% haemolysis after 16hrs.

Erythrocytes undergoing eryptosis have a plasma membrane that is essentially intact and only with further exposure to ROS a more necrotic phenotype develops with increased permeability and consequently leakage of Hb, and this occurs at the stages of spheroechinocyte and spherocyte formation.

Erythrocyte cell membranes are usually firm and have little channel activity. In cases of oxidative stress, channel activity increases and the tightness of the membrane is compromised. Osmotic and oxidative stress causes calcium (Ca²⁺) permeable cation channels in erythrocytes to open which increases cytosolic Ca²⁺ levels that are responsible for the breakdown and externalization of phosphatidylserine associated with eryptosis.¹⁶⁰⁻¹⁶³ Oxidative stress was also observed to cause cell shrinkage which is most likely due to the activation of the Ca²⁺ sensitive K⁺ channels present in the erythrocyte membrane. This leads to hyperpolarization of the erythrocyte membrane and thus the consequent loss of K⁺ ions.^{160,161} In addition to eryptosis, the activity of not only the Ca²⁺ channels but also that of the K⁺ channels, anion channels, taurine channels as well as the Na⁺/H⁺ exchange channels are affected. Oxidative stress triggers the opening of the above non-selective cation channels which in turn has an effect on the permeability of the cell membrane as well as membrane integrity.¹⁶⁰⁻¹⁶³

Similar to the peroxyl radicals generated by AAPH, OH[•] radicals formed from H_2O_2 via the Fenton reaction catalysed by Fe²⁺ would also have an adverse effect on erythrocyte morphology and membrane permeability. H_2O_2 has been reported to induce echinocytosis.¹⁶⁴ Oxidants such as acrolein and phenylhydrazine were also found to cause echinocytosis.¹⁶⁵ Longer incubation times caused increased haemolysis and severe damage to the erythrocyte membranes, including pitting and the formation of holes.

Α



Control (PBS): Normal biconcave morphology. Discocyte



1 hr: Early echinocyte formation:
Spicules form on erythrocte
membrane. Echinocyte, type I, ±
5%H



4 hrs: Primary echinocyte **Erythrocyte start to swell.** Echinocyte, type III, ± 5%H



6 hrs: Early formation of spheroechinocytes: Erythrocyte continue to swell and membrane starts to detatch. Spheroechinocytes , type I, ± 10%H



С

F

2 hrs: Primary echinocyte:
Erythrocyte, deformation. Spicules
beome nodule-like projections.
Echinocyte, type II, ± 5%H



8 hrs: Formation of spheroechinocytes: Erythrocyte continue to swell and membrane detaches further.

Spheroechinocytes, type I, ± 10%H



16 hrs: Spheroechinocyte Some erythrocytes become spherical, with with a few nodule like projections still present. Spheroechinocytes , type II, ± 40%H



16 hrs: Spherocyte: Some erythrocytes burst open, loss of content and cell death of the cell.
→ → → progression, > 40%H

<u>Figure 4.4:</u> Effects of oxidant AAPH on morphology of human erythrocytes. SEM images of (A) Control treated with PBS, the rest of the erythrocytes were treated with 86mM AAPH for (B) 1, (C) 2, (D) 4, (E) 6, (F) 8 and (G), (H) 16 hrs. All images are the same magnification, bar in A = $10\mu m$.

4.3 EFFECTS OF METALS ON ERYTHROCYTE MORPHOLOGY

Once the sequential changes in erythrocyte morphology was identified, erythrocytes were then exposed to Pb, Cd, Cr and Al at 13mM, 18mM, 30mM and 63mM respectively for 16 hrs. All metal concentrations induce H50%. It is predicted that if OH' radical formation was the only mechanism of action, the observed erythrocyte morphology would be similar to that presented in Figure 4.4 G and H. Following exposure to Pb, (Figure 4.5 A), the erythrocytes had the typical morpology of echinocytes, type II. For Cd, completely smooth spherocytes form and this is structurally similar to the spherocytes observed in Figure 4.4 H. Although in Figure 4.4 H the spherocyte has burst. Following exposure to Cr, the typical morphology is that associated with echinocytes, type III. Al also causes the formation of echinocytes, type III although the observed changes are more advanced than that observed for Cr i.e fewer and smaller spicules. The morphology observed for Pb, Cr and Al are not typical of that for H50% (Figure 4.2 and 4.4 G and H) which may imply that mechanisms other than membrane effects are involved that leads to haemolysis. Only Cd was found to induce a typical morphology assicated with oxidative damage that leads to H50%. Pb, Cr and Al at: 13mM; 30mM and 63mM concentrations respectively produce echinocytes associated with low levels of haemolysis and that Cd at 18mM produces spherocytes associated with high levels of haemolysis. Differences following exposure of erythrocytes to Pb, Al and Cr may be that these metals have additional cellular targets such as inhibition of antioxidant enzymes and the depletion of GSH.

Α

D



Pb: 13mM Deformation and swelling of erythrocyte, spicules form on the surface of the erythrocyte. Echinocyte, type III

В



Cd: 18mM Small, spherical, erythrocytes with no spicules on the surface of the cells. Spherocytes



Cr: 30mM Deformation and swelling of erythrocyte, spicules form on the surface of the erythrocyte. **Echinocyte, type III**



AI: 63mM Deformation and swelling of erythrocyte, spicules form on the surface of the erythrocyte. Echinocyte type I

<u>Figure 4.5:</u> Predominant morphological effect of 13, 18, 30 and 63 mM of Pb, Cd, Cr and Al respectively on erythrocyte morphology after 16 hrs of incubation at 37°C. All images are the same magnification, bar in A = 10µm.

4.4 ABILITY OF PB, CD, CR AND AL TO CATALYSE THE FENTON REACTION

The ability of each metal to act as catalysts in the Fenton reaction was then determined using a modification of the HORAC assay. The principle of the HORAC assay is based on the oxidation of fluorescein by OH[•] radicals generated from metal catalysis of H_2O_2 . In this assay the free radicals generated by H_2O_2 quench the fluorescence of the fluorescein over time.^{28,137} Usually this assay is used to evaluate the antioxidant activity of compounds or plant extracts, which scavenge radicals thereby preventing the quenching of fluorescein fluorescence. Usually the reaction is catalysed by Co, instead Co was replaced by Pb, Cd, Cr or Al at a 1/6 of the concentration used to induce H50%.

The results of this assay showed that all the metals; Pb, Cd, Cr, Al and Co (which was used as a control), catalysed, to varying degrees, the conversion of H_2O_2 with the formation of OH[•] radicals (Figure 4.6). The fluorescence units quenched per mM metal was then calculated and was the highest for Cr > Cd > Pb > Al. Both Pb and especially Al were poor catalysts of the Fenton reaction. Therefore observed echinocyte formation was partially due to OH[•] formation generated by the Fenton reaction.



<u>Figure 4.6:</u> Changes in fluorescence units seen by Co 0.46mM, Pb 2.25mM, Cd 3mM, Cr 4.75mM and Al 11mM shown in A-E. F indicates the changes in fluorescence seen between the different metals. Data is an average of two experiments with three data points each. Standard error of the mean < 0.02%.

4.5 OXIDATIVE DAMAGE

 H_2O_2 which is produced by various reactions and in several cellular compartments acts as a secondary messenger molecule and regulates several important cellular processes. Excessive amounts of H_2O_2 can be toxic to cells and when in the presence of metals with low oxidative states, it can be reduced to form OH[•] radicals.¹⁶⁶ In a cellular environment H_2O_2 levels are tightly controlled by antioxidant enzymes such as catalase, thereby protecting cells such as erythrocytes against oxidative damage. Although metals such as Cd and Cr were found to effectively act as catalysts in the Fenton reaction, it is only in a cellular environment that the actual cellular effect can be determined.

4.5.1 ABILITY OF METALS TO INDUCE OXIDATIVE DAMAGE IN ERYTHROCYTES

The DCFH-DA assay is an assay widely used to detect oxidative damage caused by ROS and RNS.¹⁴⁰ This method was used in this study to determine if ROS contributes to erythrocyte haemolysis. AAPH was used as a control inducing 100% oxidative damage. Metal concentrations that induce H50% were evaluated. For the haemolysis assay, erythrocytes were exposed to each metal for 16 hrs and to DCFH-DA for 1hr, where after a time dependent increase in fluorescence was measured. The rate of increase in fluorescence was measured and was expressed as percentage oxidative damage compared to the control, AAPH that induced 100% damage.

Pb caused 61.74% oxidative damage while no increase in ROS was observed for Cd, Cr and Al (Figure 4.7). Evaluation of a typical example of a DCFH-DA curve (Figure 4.8) reveals no ROS formation for Cd, Al and Cr over the time period evaluated. The measured fluorescence for Al and Cr over the period evaluated (2-18 min) was less than the blank. The DCFH-DA is dependent on intracellular esterase enzymatic activity and these results indicate that both metals in varying degrees may inhibit enzyme activity.

In a study conducted by Xu¹⁶⁷ *et al.* (2008), ROS produced by Pb acetate in mice liver cells was measured using the DCFH-DA assay as an indicator of oxidative stress.¹⁶⁷ Mice were exposed to Pb acetate orally for 4 weeks at doses of 0, 10, 50 and 100mg/kg of body weight every 48 hrs. The results showed that Pb acetate statistically increased the levels ROS in mice.¹⁶⁷ In the present study, Pb caused significant amounts of ROS induced damage at the highest concentration tested (13mM).

In contrast to the present study, Jing¹⁶⁸ *et al.* (2012) reported that 5µM Cd increased ROS production evaluated with the DCFH-DA assay in bronchial epithelial cells.¹⁶⁸ In the present

study, although Cd was shown to catalyse ROS formation, the DCFH-DA assay shows a lack of ROS formation. For metals to catalyse the Fenton reaction there must be sufficient levels of H_2O_2 . High levels of the enzyme catalase found in erythrocytes converts H_2O_2 to H_2O and O_2 and this may account for the lack of ROS that forms following exposure of erythrocytes to Cd. Although a short-term increase in ROS production was not observed in the present study, SEM evaluation of the morphology of erythrocytes following 16 hr exposure to Cd indicates that ROS associated morphological changes do occur.



<u>Figure 4.7:</u> Percentage oxidative damage induced by 13mM Pb,18 mM Cd, 30mM Cr and 63mM AI measured with the DCFH DA assay. AAPH was used as the control, 100% oxidative damage. Data is an average of three experiments. Standard error of the mean < 0.02%. Means with different letters are significantly different, $p \le 0.001$. Green indicates the metals that cause oxidative damage.



Figure 4.8: Example of a typical curve generated with the DCFH-DA assay. Erythrocytes were exposed to 20mM AAPH, 115mM NaCl, 13mM Pb, 18mM Cd, 30mM Cr and 63mM Al and the change in fluorescence was measured for 1 hr. Each cycle represents 2 min. Data is an average of three experiments with three data points each. Standard error of the mean < 0.02%.

Using the DCFH-DA assay, Ye^{169} *et al.* (1999) found that Cr(VI) was able to generate ROS in human epithelial cells.¹⁶⁹ Analysis of the distribution of the dye with fluorescence microscopy revealed that there was an increase in both OH^{*} and H₂O₂ in the mitochondria of treated cells.¹⁶⁹ It was concluded that ROS formation in these cells was dependent on mitochondrial pathways and as erythrocytes lack mitochondria this may account for the lack of ROS mediated toxicity, observed in the present study.

Vota¹⁷⁰ *et al.* (2012) observed an increase in ROS generated in erythrocytes exposed to Al for 21 days.¹⁷⁰ Using erythrocytes in the present study it was found that there was no short-term ROS formation. Lack of an oxidative effect observed for Al and Cr with SEM or the DCHF-DA assay may also be a function of the concentration used and exposure time.

4.6 HEAVY METAL INTERACTIONS WITH GSH

Besides radical formation, metals may cause toxicity by depleting cellular antioxidant elements such as GSH. Depletion of GSH reduces a cell and tissues ability to scavenge radicals. GSH is a tripeptide consisting of glutamate, cysteine and glycine and the functional – (sulfhydryl) SH group of cysteine plays a major role in heavy metal binding. Studies have shown that rats exposed to Pb have decreased GSH in organs such as the brain and liver.^{18,60,171}

4.6.1 DIRECT METAL – GSH BINDING

GSH levels can be quantified using DTNB or Ellman's reagent and the formation of a yellow product can be quantified. This assay can be used to quantify GSH levels in whole blood, serum, lung samples, cerebrospinal fluid as well as tissue and cell extracts.^{80,172} Binding of a metal to GSH would result in a decrease in absorbance. In addition to 1mM GSH an excess of Pb, Cd, Cr and AI (13mM Pb, 18mM Cd, 30mM Cr and 63mM AI) was added and mixed well. The amount of free, unreacted GSH was then quantified with Ellman's reagent. At the concentrations evaluated, Cd, Cr and AI bound a 100% GSH while the binding ability of Pb was only 16% compared to >94% for Cd, Cr and AI (Figure 4.9). Therefore, it appears that Pb induces oxidative damage possibly via ROS formation while Cd, Cr and AI preferably bind GSH. As all metals were added at concentrations greater than GSH, it would be of value to determine the binding effect of increasing concentrations of metals in order to determine the specific binding capacity of Cd, Cr and AI.



<u>Figure 4.9:</u> Ability of 13mM Pb, 18mM Cd, 30mM Cr and 63mM AI to bind 1mM GSH. Data is an average of three experiments with three data points each. Standard error of the mean < 0.02%. Means with different letters are significantly different, p≤0.001.

4.6.2 EFFECTS OF METALS ON ERYTHROCYTE GSH LEVELS

The GSH pathway consists of GSH, GSSG and two key enzymes, GR and GPx that neutralizes H_2O_2 by removing both hydrogen atoms from two GSH molecules which results in the formation of two H_2O molecules and one molecule of GSSG. GR then regenerates GSH from GSSG as shown in Figure 2.2.⁹⁶ Binding of metals to GSH will result in a decrease in intracellular GSH levels. Inhibition of GR will result in the accumulation of GSSG while inhibition of GPx causes the accumulation of GSH.

Erythrocytes were exposed for 16 hrs to 13mM, 18mM, 30mM and 63mM of Pb, Cd, Cr and Al respectively. No significant decrease in GSH levels was measured (Figure 4.10). A dosage dependant increase in erythrocyte GSH levels was only measured for Pb at 7-13mM as well as 27 and 30mM Cr. This implies that Pb inhibits GPx while Cr inhibits GPx but also binds GSH.

The effect of heavy metals, Ag(I), Hg(II), Cu(II) and Pb(I) on GSH and associated enzymes in an erythrocyte model was found to cause a decrease in GSH content and in GPx activity. The researchers could not determine the effect of Cu(II) on GPx as Cu(II) rapidly oxidises GSH and prevents accurate estimation of enzyme, although previous studies have shown that Cu(II) inhibits GPx.¹⁷³



<u>Figure 4.10:</u> GSH levels in erythrocytes exposed to Pb (7-13mM), Cd (6-18mM), Cr (25-30mM) and Al (57-63mM). Data is an average of three experiments with three data points each. Standard error of the mean < 0.02%. Means with different letters are significantly different, p<0.001.

A known effect of GSH is that it protects cells from oxidative stress. Any changes in GSH levels (an increase or decrease) indicates that the oxidative status has been disturbed. When cells are oxidatively challenged GSH synthesis may increase. With continued stress, the GSH pathway cannot efficiently supply the demand, and consequently GSH depletion occurs. Cd toxicity has been reported to cause an initial increase in GSH levels followed by depletion of GSH. A similar effect was also observed for Hg and this was also associated with an increase in H_2O_2 levels.¹⁸ In the present study Pb(II) was found not to bind GSH but did cause an increase in GSH levels indicating that Pb(II) is likely to have the similar mechanism to Hg where GSH levels are initially raised together with increase in GSH levels. Cd and AI had no significant effects on GSH levels.

To summarize, Table 4.2 shows metal concentrations that induce H50%, the associated change in erythrocyte morphology and GSH levels. The possible mechanism related to the ability to catalyse the Fenton reaction and to bind GSH is also indicated.

Pb causes echinocyte formation, and is a poor catalyst of the Fenton reaction, although it does induce ROS formation. Pb does not bind GSH but does cause the accumulation of GSH possibly due to GPx inhibition. Both Cd and Cr appear to have similar effects as both are effective catalysts of the Fenton reaction, do not cause ROS formation but do bind GSH. However, Cd and Cr have different morphological effects on the cell membrane. Al only causes haemolysis at high concentrations, and only induced echinocyte, type I formation. Al is a poor catalyst of the Fenton reaction and does not induce ROS formation in erythrocytes. Al does bind GSH but has no effect on intracellular levels in erythrocytes.

This preliminary study identified erythrocyte targets but also provided an indication that these metals have multiple targets and effects are a function of concentration and exposure time.

	Table 4.2: Summar	y of the effects of heavy	y metals, Pb,	Cd, Cr and Al
--	-------------------	---------------------------	---------------	---------------

EFFECT	<u>Pb</u>	Cd	<u>Cr</u>	<u>AI</u>
<u>H50% (mM)</u>	16.00	33.38	47.83	81.26
Erythrocyte morphology	Echinocyte, type III	Spherocytes Echinocyte, type III		Echinocyte, type I
Oxidative damage				
Radical formation				
Change in fluorescence / mM	74.80	252.17	276.12	22.52
Erythrocyte oxidative damage	Time dependent	NC	NC	NC
GSH effects				
Percentage GSH binding	16.48	95.53	94.14	99.18
Erythrocyte GSH levels	Increased	NC	Increased	NC

NC = No change

B: PROTECTIVE EFFECTS OF POLYPHENOLIC, FLAVONOIDS AND VITAMIN DERIVED ANTIOXIDANTS ON METAL INDUCED OXIDATIVE DAMAGE

Heavy metal binding of antioxidants such as polyphenols and depletion of dietary antioxidants results in cells and tissue being more susceptible to oxidative damage. Nevertheless, this is also a mechanism whereby cells and tissue can be protected against oxidative damage. This is often the first line of defence where dietary polyphenols scavenge heavy metals prior to them reaching cellular and tissue targets. The mechanisms involved will be discussed in greater detail in sections 4.7 to 4.12.

In this study several dietary antioxidants that occur in foods and that are bio-available were identified. Two of these were gallic acid and catechin. Gallic acid is widely found in black and green tea, red wine, nuts, plants like sumac and witch-hazel and fruits for example grapefruit, grape seed oil, dates, apples and pomegranates.¹⁷⁴ Gallic acid and isoflavones are the best absorbed polyphenols followed by catechins, flavanoids and quercetin glucosides.¹⁷⁵ Catechin is a major antioxidant found in black tea, apples, pears, grapes, chocolate and red wine.¹⁷⁶ The absorption of catechins differs, with pure catechins being absorbed better in humans, while catechins that have undergone galloylation are absorbed less effectively. In order to evaluate how antioxidants reduce metal mediated OH^{*} formation the effects of caffeic acid and quercetin were also determined. Caffeic acid is primarily found in high concentrations in coffee but is also found in a number of food sources including bean sprouts, chia seeds, blueberries,

plums, kiwis, cherries, apples, artichokes and wine.¹⁷⁸ Quercetin is found in a variety of food sources including teas, apples, capers, berries, kale and onions.¹⁷⁹

Identified antioxidant vitamins were Vitamin E and C. Vitamin E and its derivatives are found in several food sources such as walnuts, soy, corn, grape seed, almond, sunflower and palm oil. Vitamin E and its derivatives inhibit lipid peroxidation by scavenging lipid peroxyl radicals, quicker than these radicals can react with fatty acid side-chains or membrane proteins.¹⁷⁷ Vitamin E is water insoluble and therefore Trolox, an α -tocopherol derivative was used in this study. The hydrophobic phytyl group of α -tocopherol is replaced with a hydrophilic carboxylic group to produce Trolox, which is water soluble. Trolox can terminate two peroxidation chains (chain breaking antioxidant), and can also quench and react with singlet O₂.

Ascorbic acid is found in a variety of fruits and vegetables including strawberries, oranges, lemons, mandarins, kiwi fruit, grapefruit, mangoes, cauliflower, broccoli, cabbage, garlic and tomatoes.¹⁸⁰ Ascorbic acid is an essential vitamin but is also a strong reducing agent and scavenger of oxidising free radicals and harmful oxygen-derived species such as OH[•], H₂O₂, and ¹O₂. As a strong reducing agent it is willingly reversibly oxidised to dehydroascorbic acid. As a vitamin, ascorbic acid is essential for the synthesis of neurotransmitters and hormones, it participates in neurochemical, chemical and enzymatic reactions, enhances Fe absorption, cell growth and differentiation, is essential for wound healing, and maintains blood vessel health and integrity.⁹⁸

An aim of this part of this study was to determine if the identified antioxidants have a protective effect against heavy metal induced toxicity. Antioxidants were chosen based on abundance in the diet (catechin, gallic acid and Trolox) and type (flavonoid, polyphenol and vitamins). Antioxidants can protect the cells from damage and are able to decrease the toxic effect of these metals by using various mechanisms. These mechanisms were evaluated and the results were presented in sections 4.7 to 4.12.

4.7 ABILITY OF ANTIOXIDANTS TO PREVENT METAL INDUCED ERYTHROCYTE HAEMOLYSIS

An antioxidant is defined by Halliwell and Gutteridge¹⁷⁷ as "any substance that when present at low concentrations compared with that of an oxidizable substrate, significantly delays or inhibits oxidation of that substrate".¹⁷⁷ Erythrocytes were exposed to 0.2mM of gallic acid, Trolox and catechin and then increasing concentrations of each metal. The gradient of each line was calculated and compared to that of erythrocytes only exposed to metals (Table 4.1). Pre-incubation of the erythrocytes with antioxidants caused a significant decrease in measured percentage haemolysis. The line equations for each combination and the fold decrease in haemolysis is presented in Table 4.3.

Metal + antioxidant	Equation		Fold decrease*
Pb + gallic acid	y = 2.01x + 0.57	R ² = 0.992	1.5
Pb + Trolox	y = 1.73x - 1.25	R ² = 0.959	1.8
Pb + catechin	y = 3.59x + 1.03	R ² = 0.993	1.2
Cd + gallic acid	y = 1.67x - 10.35	R ² = 0.985	1.4
Cd + Trolox	y = 1.40x - 7.52	R ² = 0.990	1.3
Cd + catechin	y = 1.91x - 9.35	R ² = 0.998	0.9
Cr + gallic acid	y = 4.77x - 109.25	R ² = 0.994	1.9 ^e
Cr + Trolox	y = 5.03x - 117.93	R ² = 0.989	1.7
Cr + catechin	y = 3.09x - 77.55	R ² = 0.772	2.5 ^c
Al + gallic acid	y = 2.67x - 123.04	R ² = 0.774	3.2 ^b
AI + Trolox	y = 3.66x - 192.43	R ² = 0.953	2.0 ^d
AI + catechin	y = 0.73x - 36.577	R ² = 0.974	10.5 ^a

Table 4.3: The effect of antioxidants on the percentage haemolysis induced by Pb, Cd, Cr and Al

Compared to gradients Table 4.1. Letter a-e indicate the most effective metal – antioxidant combinations.

Gallic acid, Trolox and catechin decreased the degree of haemolysis induced by all metals by variable degrees. Compared to the divalent metals, antioxidants bound more effectively to the trivalent metals with a 1.7-2.5 fold and 2.0 - 10.5 fold decrease in haemolysis for Cr and Al respectively. Of all combinations, catechin was the most effective in inhibiting the haemolytic effects of Cr, resulting in a 10.5 fold decrease in the measured levels of haemolysis. This implies that catechin found in tea can effectively reduce the toxicity of Al. This is of specific value as Al toxicity is associated with the development of Alzheimer's disease.

Tagliafierro¹⁸¹ *et al.* (2015) investigated the protective effects of the phenolic acid, hydroxytyrosol (HT) found in olive oil against Hg induced haemolysis. Hg concentrations of 40µM and 80µM induced a dosage and time dependent increase in haemolysis. HT at a concentration of 10µM significantly inhibited haemolysis.¹⁸¹ Likewise, Oficioso¹⁸² *et al.* (2016) also observed that HT protected human erythrocytes against Hg induced haemolysis and eryptosis.¹⁸² In the present study, low concentrations of the phenolic acid, gallic acid effectively inhibited Pb, Cd, Cr and Al induced haemolysis.

Catechin is a flavonoid found in tea. Liu and Huang¹⁸³ (2015) evaluated the antioxidant effects of black tea extracts by using the erythrocyte haemolysis assay, plasma oxidation and cellular

antioxidant activity (CAA) assay. Black tea was found to be an effective antioxidant against oxidative stress and decreased ROS induced haemolysis.¹⁸³ In the present study catechin reduced the levels of haemolysis induced by each metal. The greatest effect was observed for AI (57 – 63mM), where 0.2mM catechin induced a 10.5-fold decrease in haemolysis.

4.8 PROTECTION AGAINST RADICAL FORMATION

4.8.1 ABILITY OF ANTIOXIDANTS TO INHIBIT THE FENTON REACTION

The Fenton reaction requires metals to serve as catalysts to convert H_2O_2 to OH^{*}. Antioxidants such as phenolic acids, flavonoids and antioxidant vitamins can either directly bind the metals thereby inhibiting the Fenton reaction or the antioxidants do not bind the metals but directly scavenge the formed OH^{*}. The ability of the antioxidants to reduce OH^{*} mediated quenching of fluorescein fluorescence was evaluated. In this part of the study the effect of quercetin, caffeic acid and ascorbic acid was also investigated. As a result the effect of two phenolic acids, flavonoids and vitamins on the ability of Co (control), Pb, Cd, Cr and Al to generate OH^{*} radicals was determined and this is presented in Figure 4.11. Three effects could be identified and these were a pro-oxidant effect associated with an increase in radical formation, no effect or an antioxidant effect associated with a decrease in radical formation.

The observed effects, between metals, Pb, Cd, Cr and Al and the antioxidants evaluated is presented in Figure 4.11 while in Figure 4.12 the effectivity of each antioxidant is summarised in Table 4.4.

Although Pb is a poor catalyst of the Fenton reaction, when combined with catechin a strong pro-oxidant effect is observed. Also in combination with Cd, catechin also has a strong pro-oxidant effect. Lessor effects were observed with Cd and Cr in combination with catechin and caffeic acid as well as gallic acid in combination with Al. A pro-oxidant effect has been reported for several polyphenols and these include catechin, gallic acid, caffeic acid, quercetin, ferulic acid and activity is a function of concentration and experimental conditions.¹⁸⁴



Figure 4.11: Effect of antioxidants catechin, quercetin, gallic acid, caffeic acid, trolox and ascorbic acid on free radicals induced by Pb, Cd, Cr, Al as catalysts of the Fenton reaction. Data is an average of two experiments with three data points each. Standard error of the mean < 0.02%.



Figure 4.12: Effect of antioxidants catechin (C), quercetin (Q), gallic acid (GA), caffeic acid (CA), Trolox (T) and ascorbic acid (AA) on free radicals induced by Pb, Cd, Cr, Al and the Fenton reaction. Observed effects showed no change (orange bars), pro-oxidant effect (green bars) and anti-oxidant (blue bars). Values below 1 indicate an antioxidant effect.

С

	Catechin	Quercetin	Gallic acid	Caffeic acid	<u>Trolox</u>	Ascorbic acid
Pb	23.70 ¹	0.87	3.14	0.65	1.15	1.15
Cd	4.91	-0.39 ¹	0.76	3.16	1.14	0.44 ³
Cr	4.97	-0.39 ¹	0.76	3.16	1.14	0.44 ³
AI	6.38 ²	0.46	6.12 ³	4.85	0.21 ²	0.63

Table 4.4: Effects of antioxidants and metal mediated formation of radicals

Bold indicates a pro-oxidant effect. Bold italic indicates an antioxidant effect. 1-3 indicates interactions with the highest effect.

The proposed mechanism of action is that polyphenols either scavenge free radicals or act as metal chelators thus inhibiting free radical formation.¹⁸⁵ An antioxidant effect was observed with Cr and Cd in combination with quercetin, Al in combination with Trolox and Cd as well as Cr in combination with ascorbic acid.

A limitation of this study was that a single dosage of the antioxidants tested was used and whether an antioxidant has a pro-oxidant effect is dependent on concentration. For example, at low concentrations gallic acid is an antioxidant while at higher concentrations has a pro-oxidant effect. This effect is most likely due to gallic acids strong reducing power.¹⁸⁶

Tocopherols can also reduce Fe^{3+} to Fe^{2+} and Cu^{2+} to Cu^+ thus exerting pro-oxidant effects *in vitro*. This Fe-reducing ability of vitamin E and its derivatives was the basis for several colorimetric methods used to detect tocopherols.¹⁷⁷ In a study by EI Demerdash¹¹³ *et al.* (2004) it was found that vitamin E and β -carotene reduced Cd induced lipid peroxidation effects. The effects seen in the present study also indicates that vitamin E and its derivatives decrease ROS formation. In this study, Trolox did not effectively reduce Cd catalysed radical formation but Trolox did reduce the effect of AI.

4.8.2 ABILITY OF ANTIOXIDANTS TO PREVENT ERYTHROCYTE OXIDATIVE DAMAGE

Binding of metals to antioxidants would reduce the ability of the metals Pb, Cd, Cr and Al to induce haemolysis via the induction of ROS (Figure 4.13). The antioxidants, gallic acid, catechin and Trolox alone did not induce oxidative damage. In this study only the effect of Pb could be evaluated as Pb was the only metal that induced an increase in ROS formation measured with the DCFH-DA assay. Antioxidants, gallic acid, catechin and Trolox inhibited the oxidative effects of Pb (Figure 4.13). A pro-oxidant effect, due to the synergistic toxic effects was not observed for any metal and antioxidant combinations.


<u>Figure 4.13:</u> The antioxidant effects of antioxidants, gallic acid, catechin and Trolox on heavy metal induced oxidative damage. Controls: NaCl (0% ROS) and AAPH (100% ROS). Antioxidants are gallic acid (GA), catechin (C) and Trolox (T) alone and in combination with Pb, Cd, Cr and Al. Data is an average of three experiments with three data points each. Standard error of the mean < 0.02%. Means with different letters are significantly different, $p\leq 0.001$.

Mandal¹⁵⁵ *et al.* (2013), evaluated the protective effect of tea against Cu toxicity in erythrocytes. The results showed that tea (which contains both catechins and gallic acid), prevented morphological alterations to erythrocytes associated with oxidative damage and prevented Cu induced cellular death.¹⁵⁵ The protective effect of HT against Hg induced toxicity in erythrocytes has also been investigated.¹⁸¹ Using the DCFH-DA assay, increased ROS formation was observed after 4 and 24 hrs exposure to Hg. With the addition of HT, at concentrations as low as 10µM, a decrease in ROS was measured. NAC a thiol containing antioxidant molecule inhibited silver nanoparticles (AgNPs) induced ROS formation in human hepatoma cells.¹⁸⁷ Likewise, in the present study low levels of the antioxidants, gallic acid, catechin and Trolox reduced ROS formed by Pb.

4.9 ABILITY OF ANTIOXIDANTS TO BIND METALS

As shown in Table 4.4 several antioxidants effectively reduced the oxidative effects of Pb, Cd, Cr and Al. It is unknown whether this is due to direct metal binding or the direct quenching of formed radicals.

Traditionally the AlCl₃ assay is used to quantify flavonoids. This colorimetric assay is based on the binding of AlCl₃ to flavonoids such as catechin and quercetin. In order to evaluate if Pb, Cd and Cr has a similar binding ability, Al was substituted in this assay with Pb, Cd and Cr while Fe(II) and Fe(III) were used as controls. The binding capacity was determined and was reported as the mM metal that had bound 1mM polyphenol (Figures 4.14-4.16 and Table 4.5).

The binding effect of flavonoids, catechin and quercetin was evaluated. Both flavonoids were found to be strong metal binders. From the above results, catechin and quercetin bind with an increasing strength to the metals as follows: catechin: Cr(III) < AI(III) < Pb(II) < Fe(II) < Fe(III) < Cd(II); and quercetrin: Cr(III) < AI(III) < Pb(II) < Fe(III) < Cd(II). Cd(II) binds the strongest to both catechin and quercetrin.

Flavonoids are found in a variety of fruits and vegetables such as buckwheat, apples and onions. Flavonoid rich drinks are juices, tea and wine.¹⁸⁸ Besides directly scavenging radicals, these polyphenols are also able to bind metals, preventing radical generation and therefore are highly efficient antioxidants.¹⁸⁹⁻¹⁹² Ostrowaska¹⁹³ *et al.* (2006) reported that catechins found in tea have the ability to chelate metal ions and prevent their participation in the Fenton and Haber-Weiss reactions, thus decreasing or even preventing the formation of free radicals.^{193,194} In this study catechin and quercetin bound all the metals but to varying degrees. In the present study Cd bound the strongest to both flavonoids. Renugadevi and Prabu¹⁹⁵ (2009) evaluated the effect of green tea on Cd induced liver toxicity and found that flavonoids present in green tea effectively quenched free radicals and thus decreased lipid peroxidation.

Three possible mechanisms were identified and these were the direct quenching of radicals, improvement in cellular antioxidant status and the ability of flavonoids to chelate metals. This study confirms that both flavonoids, catechin and quercetin have the ability to chelate heavy metals and protect cells from metal induced oxidative damage.¹⁹⁵ Catechol and gallol groups found in catechin are effective metal chelators and when deprotonated can bind metals. Metals such as Fe(II) and Fe(III) prefer octahedral geometry and can bind up to three catecholate or gallate groups.¹⁹⁶ Likewise, Cd, Cr and Al will also bind. Catechin and quercetin also bind Fe(II).



Figure 4.14: Flavonoids: catechin (C) and quercetin (Q) equimolar binding capacity to metal ions, Fe(II) and Fe(III)(controls), Pb(II), Cd(II), Cr(III) and Al(III). Data is an average of three experiments with three data points each.

The ability of each metal to bind phenolic acids, gallic acid and caffeic acid was then determined (Figure 4.15) and was compared to the binding ability of flavonoids catechin and quercetin (Table 4.5). Both gallic acid and caffeic acid were found to have a moderate metal binding capacity. Gallic acid binds Fe(II), Fe(III) and Cd(II) while caffeic acid binds Fe(III). These phenolic acids do not bind Pb, Cr and Al.



Figure 4.15: Phenolic acid: gallic acid (GA) and caffeic acid (CA) equimolar binding capacity to metal ions, Fe(II) and Fe(III)(controls), Pb(II), Cd(II), Cr(III) and Al(III). Data is an average of three experiments with three data points each.

The ability of Pb, Cd, Cr and Al to bind antioxidant vitamins, Trolox and ascorbic acid was also determined (Figure 4.16). As expected Trolox, a vitamin E analogue does not bind any metals. In contrast, ascorbic acid did bind Fe(III) and showed strong Cd(II) binding ability. Numerous studies have shown that ascorbic acid significantly decreases damage caused by Cd. Ji¹⁹⁷ *et al.* (2012) reported that ascorbic acid alleviated Cd-induced histopathological damage in testes of rats and reduced testicular oedema.¹⁹⁷ Likewise Erdogan¹⁹⁸ *et al.* (2005) reported that oxidative stress induced by Cd caused a decrease in performance of broiler chickens and that dietary supplements of ascorbic acid were useful and reversed these effects and decreased Cd induced lipid peroxidation.¹⁹⁸ Ascorbic acid was also found to reduce Cd absorption and distribution in rats.¹⁹⁹

Likewise in the present study it was found that ascorbic acid possibly reduces Cd induced ROS formation by direct binding. Ascorbic acid is oxidised to form dehydroascorbic acid in a reversible reaction. During oxidation, it loses an electron to form a radical cation, then loses a second electron to form dehydroascorbic acid. It then typically reacts with ROS.⁹⁸ Its oxidised form is relatively unreactive. Surplus ascorbate in the presence of metal ions can initiate and promote free radical reactions, thus making it a potential pro-oxidant.⁹⁸

In this part of the study polyphenols have been shown to bind metals thereby reducing the toxicity of these metals irrespective of whether these metals cause ROS formation, bind GSH or inhibit the antioxidant pathways.

In addition, these findings also confirm that this modified version of the AlCl₃ assay can be used to screen antioxidant molecules and possibly mixtures for metal binding abilities.



Figure 4.16: Vitamins Trolox (T) and ascorbic acid (AA), equimolar binding capacity to metal ions, Fe(II) and Fe(III)(controls), Pb(II), Cd(II), Cr(III) and Al(III). Data is an average of three experiments with three data points each.

	<u>Fe(II)</u>	<u>Fe(III)</u>	Pb(II)	<u>Cd(II)</u>	<u>Cr(III)</u>	<u>AI (III)</u>
Catechin	5.37 [°]	3.70	1.86	7.99 [°]	0.30	0.36
Quercetin	2.10	6.61 ^d	1.40	10.55 ^b	0.00	0.68
Gallic acid	2.42	3.12	0.27	2.70	0.01	0.01
Caffeic acid	0.88	3.47	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01
Trolox	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01
Ascorbic acid	0.01	1.38	0.01	11.11 ^ª	0.01	0.01

Table 4.5: Summary of Fe, Pb, Cd, Cr and Al equimolar ability to bind antioxidants

Letters a-e indicates binding ability from high to low

Of all the antioxidants evaluated gallic acid, catechin and ascorbic acid were the most effective in scavenging the effects of Cd(II). Catechin and quercetin also bound Pb and Al but to a lesser degree than Cd. Of concern is the ability of these antioxidants also to bind Fe(II) and Fe(III). High levels of the antioxidants in the diet such as antioxidants found in health product formulations may reduce Fe levels possibly leading to anaemia, although this effect should be further evaluated in an animal model. Besides antioxidant activity, ascorbic acid also plays an essential role in several metabolic processes which includes the activation of vitamin B and folic acid, the conversion of cholesterol to bile acids and the conversion of the amino acid tryptophan to the neurotransmitter serotonin.²⁰⁰ Depletion of ascorbic acid levels can result in defects in biological processes, diseases such as scurvy, decreased collagen synthesis which leads to poor wound healing, skin lesions and blood vessel fragility.⁹⁸

4.10 EFFECT OF METAL BINDING TO ANTIOXIDANTS ON THE ANTIOXIDANT ACTIVITY

The metals Pb, Cd, Cr and Al bind to varying degrees to antioxidants, thus preventing GSH depletion and the ability of these metals to catalyse the Fenton reaction. The question is raised whether if with binding the antioxidant activity of the antioxidants is lost. Antioxidant activity can be evaluated using several different assays and these include the TEAC assay. Using the TEAC assay, the ability of antioxidants to scavenge the generated ABTS⁻⁺ radical was evaluated. Activity is expressed as relative to that measured for Trolox.¹⁵⁴ In this study the TEAC assay was used to determine the antioxidant capacity of mixtures of polyphenols and metals. These results are presented in Figures 4.17, 4.18 and 4.19.



<u>Figure 4.17:</u> Antioxidant activity of flavonoids, catechin and quercetin in the presence of metals Pb, Cd, **Cr and Al.** Data is an average of three experiments with three data points each. Standard error of the mean < 0.02%. Means with different letters are significantly different, $p \le 0.001$. Green indicates a loss of antioxidant activity, purple an enhancement of activity.

All metals do not react with the ABTS⁺ radical. The flavonoids catechin and quercetin (Figure 4.17) effectively reduces radical formation by 94.5% and 82.8% respectively. Catechin and quercetin binding to Pb caused a decrease in the measured antioxidant activity of these flavonoids. Cd binding to catechin and quercetin (Table 4.5) did not alter the antioxidant activity of these flavonoids. Cr and Al had no effect on the antioxidant activity of catechin but did enhance the antioxidant activity of quercetin.



<u>Figure 4.18:</u> Antioxidant activity of phenolic acids, gallic acid and caffeic acid in the presence of metals Pb, Cd, Cr and Al. Data is an average of three experiments with three data points each. Standard error of the mean < 0.02%. Means with different letters are significantly different, $p \le 0.001$. Green indicates a loss of antioxidant activity, purple an increase in activity.

The interaction between the metals, Pb, Cd, Cr and Al with gallic acid and caffeic acid was then evaluated. Measured antioxidant activity of gallic and caffeic acid was 92.20% and

53.56% respectively. Pb, Cd, Cr and Al had no effect on the antioxidant activity of gallic acid. Pb, Cr and Al reduced the antioxidant activity of caffeic acid. The mechanism involved is not metal binding (Table 4.5). Cd binding to caffeic acid caused an enhancement of the antioxidant activity of caffeic acid although the mechanism involved is unknown.



<u>Figure 4.19</u>: Antioxidant activity of vitamins, Trolox and ascorbic acid in the presence of metals Pb, Cd, Cr and Al. Data is an average of three experiments with three data points each. Standard error of the mean < 0.02%. Means with different letters are significantly different, p≤0.001. Green indicates a loss of antioxidant activity, purple an increase in activity.

Antioxidant vitamins, ascorbic acid and Trolox reduced radical formation by 88.08% and 90.80% respectively. The antioxidant activity of Trolox when mixed with metals was reduced, it was only statistically significant for the combination of Pb and Trolox. In contrast, all metals reduced the antioxidant activity of ascorbic acid and the greatest effect was observed for

ascorbic acid in combination with Pb. The loss of antioxidant activity between ascorbic acid and Cd was due to binding (Table 4.6). The mechanism whereby Pb, Cr and Al reduces activity is unknown.

For each combination, the fold change in antioxidant activity was calculated to determine which metals to the greatest degree compromised the activity of antioxidants (Table 4.6).

The greatest effect was observed for Pb in combination with ascorbic acid while the lowest effect was for quercetin in combination with Cr and Al. All metals evaluated had a major impact on the antioxidant activity of ascorbic acid. This is of major concern as ascorbic acid is a major vitamin in fresh fruits and vegetables and loss of activity may result in depletion and consequently several biochemical pathways may become compromised.

Table 4.6: The fold effect of heavy metals Pb, Cd, Cr and Al on antioxidant activity of antioxidants

	Flavonoids		Phenolic acids		<u>Vitamins</u>	
Metal	<u>Catechin</u>	<u>Quercetin</u>	Gallic acid	Caffeic acid	<u>Trolox</u>	Ascorbic acid
Pb	2.4	2.1	1.5	1.9	3.9 ^e	10.5 ^ª
Cd	1.3	1.1	1	0.02 ^e	3.1	8.0 ^b
Cr	1.1	0.6 ^f	0.9	1.6	3.1	7.8 ^c
AI	1.1	0.6 ^ŕ	0.8	1.4	3.0	6.3 ^d

Letters, a-e indicates loss of antioxidant activity, from high to low. Letter e-f indicates enhanced activity, from high to low.

4.11 ABILITY OF ANTIOXIDANTS TO PREVENT METAL - GSH BINDING

In addition to antioxidants preventing ROS formation, metal antioxidant binding may also cause the depletion of GSH (Figure 4.20 and Table 4.7). In Section 4.6.1 it was found that Cd, Cr and Al bound GSH and reduced the measured GSH levels. For Pb only a 20% decrease in the GSH levels was measured. In the presence of the antioxidants, gallic acid, Trolox and catechin, Pb levels were further reduced. While in contrast, a small protective effect was observed for Cd and Cr with Trolox and catechin (Table 4.7). Antioxidants had no effect on Al binding of GSH. In Table 4.7, catechin protected GSH from Cr binding while Trolox reduced the binding ability of Cr, Cd and Pb.

In this experiment 0.25mM of each antioxidant, 0.25mM GSH and 13mM Pb, 18mM Cd, 30mM Cr and 63mM AI were combined. In order to better understand the mechanisms

involved, metal levels should be reduced and a dosage study should be undertaken as the type of reaction may be a direct stoichiometric interaction between the antioxidants, metal and GSH.



<u>Figure 4.20:</u> The ability of a 0.25mM concentration of antioxidants gallic acid (GA), Trolox (T), catechin (C) to prevent A) 13mM Pb, B) 18mM Cd, C) 30mM Cr and D) 63mM Al binding to 0.25mM GSH. Data is an average of three experiments with three data points each. Standard error of the mean < 0.02%. Means with different letters are significantly different, p≤0.001. Blue indicated GSH with the metal, orange indicates partial depletion of GSH, whereas red indicates complete depletion of GSH.

Metal	Catechin	Gallic acid	Trolox
Pb	2.02 ^b	2.13 ^ª	1.57 [°]
Cd	1.70	NS	1.75 ^f
Cr	3.31 ^d	NS	2.76 ^e
AI	NS	NS	NS

Table 4.7: Summary the effect of antioxidants on metal induced GSH depletion

Letters a-c indicates binding ability, increase in binding, from high to low. Letters d-f indicates protection against metal GSH binding effects from high to low. NS indicates, no statistical difference.

4.12 EFFECT OF ANTIOXIDANTS ON ERYTHROCYTE GSH LEVELS

In contrast to previous reported findings in the present study, it was found that incubation of erythrocytes with heavy metals did not cause a depletion of GSH levels. Pb caused a significant increase in GSH levels and this was attributed to the ability of Pb to inhibit the antioxidant enzyme GPx. Cd, Cr and Al had no effect on GSH levels. Therefore, if the metals, especially Pb adversely affect the function of GPx, then the addition of antioxidants will lower GSH levels to normal.

The effect of antioxidants, catechin, Trolox and gallic acid on erythrocyte GSH levels was determined following exposure to Pb, Cd, Cr and Al (Figure 4.21, Table 4.8). Levels were compared to metals alone. For Pb, catechin and gallic acid caused a statistical 1.2 and 1.1 fold increase in GSH levels. No change in GSH levels was observed for Cd, Cr or Al. As for the inhibition of metal-GSH binding, by antioxidants in contrast to low concentrations of antioxidants required to inhibit ROS formation to inhibit the effects of metals on antioxidant pathways may require higher concentrations or pre-incubation with antioxidants prior to the addition of metals.

Supplementation with curcumin and vitamin E reduced diazinon-induced oxidative damage in rat livers and erythrocytes and modulated GSH levels.^{201,202} Administration of the antioxidant selenium prior to exposure of male rats to Pb caused a noticeable prophylactic action by increasing the activities of SOD and GR and increasing the GSH content.²⁰² The effect of *Emblica officinalis* (Amla) on metal–induced lipid peroxidation in human erythrocytes was investigated. Antioxidants found in Amla increased the levels of GSH, which the authors attributed to the increased specific activity of GPx.²⁰³ However, erythrocytes exposed to toxic



inhibition by Pb of the GSH-GSSG antioxidant pathway.
Pb

levels of Pb, have increased GSH levels and in this study this is attributed to the direct

<u>Figure 4.21:</u> Ability of 0.25mM antioxidants (catechin (C), Trolox (T) and gallic acid (GA)) to prevent erythrocyte GSH depletion by 13mM Pb, 18mM Cd, 30mM Cr and 63mM Al. Data is an average of three experiments with three data points each. Standard error of the mean < 0.02%. Means with different letters are significantly different, $p \le 0.001$. Solid filled indicates a significant increase in GSH compared to metal alone.

	<u>Catechin</u>	Gallic acid	Trolox
Pb	1.2	1.1	NS
Cd	NS	NS	NS
Cr	NS	NS	NS
AI	NS	NS	NS

Table 4.8: Effect of antioxidants on GSH levels of metal exposed erythrocytes

NS indicates no statistical difference.

In conclusion several aspects of antioxidant protection against the adverse effects of Pb, Cd, Cr and Al as radical scavengers and as molecules that prevent metal GSH binding. In general antioxidants had a beneficial effect although effects were variable. Although this is an exploratory study, it highlights the importance of a mixed diet of fruit and vegetables, containing different types and concentrations of antioxidants. The molecules may act synergistically or have different mechanisms or targets thereby protecting cells and tissue against oxidative damage.

CHAPTER 5: CONCLUSION

5.1 RATIONALE FOR THE STUDY

Besides environmental exposure to metals, cigarette smoke either primary or secondary contributes to exposure. This exposure in South Africa as well as in the rest of the world is increasing.¹ Exposure to heavy metals such as Pb, Cd, Cr and Al can cause heavy metal toxicity and this includes depletion of antioxidant pathways via the depletion of antioxidant elements such as GSH, and inhibition of antioxidant enzymes. A diet low in endogenous antioxidants such as polyphenols and antioxidant enzymes acerbates this toxic effect. Supplementation with dietary antioxidants, if positive would be a cost effective, relatively simple method in helping to decrease the toxic effects of heavy metals exposure. Therefore, the aim of this study was twofold, namely to determine the toxicity of metals commonly found in cigarette smoke using an *ex vivo* model and then to determine if antioxidants that are bioavailable can reduce toxicity.

5.2 SUMMARY OF RESULTS

5.2.1 METAL TOXICITY

Pb was found to be the most toxic metal investigated in this study causing H50% at 16.00mM which was associated with echinocyte, type III formation. Pb was compared to Cd, Cr and Al and was a poor catalyst of the Fenton reaction. However, following exposure of erythrocytes to Pb, increased ROS formation occurred. Pb did not bind GSH but in erythrocytes increasing concentrations of Pb resulted in an increase in GSH levels. This implies that Pb does affect the erythrocyte oxidative pathways but this is not as a catalyst of the Fenton reaction or due to GSH binding. The observed effect/s may be due to Pb inhibiting antioxidant enzyme activity, causing an increase in GSH levels or the effect of Pb on ALAD as described in Section 2.3.1.²⁸

Cd induced H50% at 33.83mM and the degree of haemolysis and the associated changes in erythrocyte morphology (formation of spherocytes) was similar to that induced by the oxidant AAPH. Cd catalysed the Fenton reaction and bound GSH, however in erythrocytes Cd did not cause an increase in ROS or alter GSH levels. This observed effect in erythrocytes may be due to the high catalase activity found in erythrocytes or due to the lack of endogenous H_2O_2 required for the generation of OH[•] radicals. Alternatively, Cd may directly target cellular

components such as the cell membrane causing changes in morphology and fluidity leading to haemolysis or cause energy depletion.

At 47.83mM Cr causes H50% and induced echinocyte type III formation. Cr catalysed the Fenton reaction and bound GSH in a manner similar to Cd. Likewise, Cr did not cause an increase in ROS formation but did cause changes in GSH levels. The higher Cr concentrations required for haemolysis and echinocyte type III formation implies that Cr may be slightly less toxic than Cd. The mechanism of action may be similar to Cd.

Of all the metals investigated AI, was the least toxic, with H50% occurring at 81.26mM associated with formation of echinocytes, type I. AI was a poor catalyst of the Fenton reaction but did bind GSH. In *ex vivo* erythrocytes, AI did not induce ROS formation or cause changes in GSH levels. AI has been implicated in the development of neurological disease such as Alzheimer's disease, Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis (ALS), dementia and Parkinson's disease.²⁰⁴ Observed effects may be due to differences in the cell types used where neurons may be more sensitive to the oxidative effects of AI.

5.2.2 PROTECTION: METALS AND ANTIOXIDANTS

Pb was the most toxic metal investigated and caused haemolysis and ROS induced oxidative damage. Pb was a poor catalyst of the Fenton reaction and did not bind GSH. Antioxidants did cause some inhibition of haemolysis. Catechin, gallic acid and Trolox effectively reduced the oxidative effects of Pb and GSH levels remained increased in the presence of catechin and gallic acid. Catechin, gallic acid and Trolox appeared to bind GSH and reduce the amount of free GSH that could be quantified.

Cd caused haemolysis, catalysed the Fenton reaction and bound GSH although these effects did not cause an increase in ROS formation. Antioxidants did cause some inhibition of haemolysis and antioxidants, quercetin and ascorbic acid inhibited the Fenton reaction and bound Cd. This metal antioxidant interaction caused a loss in the antioxidant activity of ascorbic acid but enhanced the activity of caffeic acid. Trolox reduced, Cd–GSH binding.

Similar to Cd, Cr caused haemolysis however this was not associated with ROS formation. Cr did catalyse the Fenton reaction and bind GSH. Catechin and gallic acid reduced haemolysis. In the Fenton reaction, quercetin and ascorbic acid scavenged hydroxyl radicals. Cr decreased the antioxidant activity of ascorbic acid, and enhanced the antioxidant activity of quercetin. Catechin and Trolox reduced the ability of Cr to bind GSH.

Al was the least toxic of all the metals evaluated. Al did cause haemolysis although this was not associated with ROS formation or changes in GSH levels. Al was a poor catalyst of the Fenton reaction but did bind GSH. Catechin, gallic acid and Trolox reduced haemolysis. Trolox inhibited Al catalysis of the Fenton reaction. Al had no effect on the antioxidant activity of catechin, gallic acid and Trolox, although metal antioxidant interactions enhanced the activity of quercetin and caused a loss in the antioxidant activity of ascorbic acid. Antioxidants did not alter erythrocyte GSH levels.

In summary, some antioxidants especially catechin, gallic acid, Trolox and ascorbic acid prevented metal induced cellular damage. The observed effects may be related to direct radical scavenging, GSH protection against metal binding or may be due to unknown membrane effects especially considering the effect of Trolox. Of concern is the adverse effect of these metals on the bioactivity of ascorbic acid.

5.3 IMPLICATIONS FOR THE STUDY

Ascorbic acid supplementation ameliorates the adverse effects of nicotine on placental haemodynamics and histology in non-human primates. Lo *et al.* (2015)²⁰⁵ suggest that supplementation of ascorbic acid decreased the harmful effects of prenatal nicotine exposure and is suggestive of limiting some of the adverse effects associated with smoking during pregnancy.²⁰⁵ A randomised clinical trial showed that offspring of women that smoke and who had received ascorbic acid supplementation had significantly decreased wheezing up to the age of 1 year. Both studies show that ascorbic acid supplementation may be a cost effective and simple approach to decrease the effects of smoking in pregnant women on the pulmonary function of neonates.²⁰⁶

This study using erythrocytes clearly showed that Ascorbic acid effectively reduced metal toxicity. This implies that this model can be used to rapidly identify additional antioxidants with bioactivity or be used to evaluate and optimize formulations that can reduce the adverse effects of smoking, especially on the pulmonary function of neonates. This effect may also include individuals exposed to secondary smoke and high levels of air pollution.

In a randomised, double blind, placebo-controlled, cross-over trial conducted by Bo *et al,*. (2013)²⁰⁷ stated that the anti-inflammatory and antioxidant effects of the antioxidant resveratrol in healthy smokers was evaluated. Resveratrol was found to have both antioxidant and anti-inflammatory effects and supplementation may reduce cardiovascular disease risk seen in healthy smokers.²⁰⁷ Polyphenols also have anti-inflammatory and anticancer activity and supplementation may prevent the development of COPD and lung cancer.^{178, 207} The role of

polyphenols as anti-inflammatory and anti-cancer agents has to do with their chemical makeup and their effect on molecular pathways. One molecular mechanism that has been identified in their anti-inflammatory effect is the inhibition of enzymes related to inflammation. ^{178, 207}

Oxidative stress plays a major role in the development of chronic pulmonary complications. Panahi *et al.* (2016)²⁰⁸ conducted a randomised controlled trial, which found a beneficial effect of curcuminoids-piperine combinations on systemic oxidative stress, clinical symptoms and quality of life in subjects with chronic pulmonary complications caused by sulfur mustard (a cytotoxic warfare agent).²⁰⁸ The study concluded that these phytochemical formulations such as the ones used in this study can be used as safe adjuncts in patients suffering from pulmonary complications caused by sulphur mustard and who are receiving standard treatment.²⁰⁸ In the present study, ascorbic acid prevented metal induced cellular damage by inhibiting oxidative damage caused by the Fenton reaction, by scavenging free radicals formed by the Fenton reaction and by binding to heavy metals.

5.4 LIMITATIONS OF THE STUDY

The concentrations per cigarette of each metal are $1.2\mu g$ (0.006µmol) Pb, 0.5-1.5µg (0.0044-0.013µmol) Cd, 0.002-0.5µg (0.0004-0.0096µmol) Cr, 699-1200µg (25.91-44.47µmol) Al (Bernhard⁴ et al. (2005)). For example, if 20 cigarettes are smoked per day this translates to 24µg (0.12µmol) Pb, 30µg (0.26µmol) Cd, 10µg (0.192µmol) Cr and 24000µg (889.4µmol) Al. The blood volume of an individual weighing 70kg is 5.25L, therefore blood concentrations with 100% absorption and where no metabolism and excretion occurs, the total dosage/day is 0.022µM Pb, 0.050µM Cd, 0.037µM Cr and 169.40µM Al. Therefore, metal concentrations used in this study are too high to reflect the effects *in vivo*. However, this study does identify possible modes of action.

The concentration of metals (Pb, Cd, Cr and Al) were not the same since concentrations were chosen that caused approximately H50% and provides little information on equimolar effects. However, the concentrations do to some degree reflect the different concentrations of each metal found in cigarette smoke where Pb, Cd and Cr is in the same range and Al is much higher. Metals in cigarettes are found as a mixture and this study did not investigate the possible synergistic toxic effects between metals.

This was an exploratory study to develop models for rapid evaluation of toxicity (erythrocyte haemolysis, DCFH-DA assay and the measurement of GSH levels).²⁰⁹ The exploratory nature of this study allows it to provide insights into the toxicity of the heavy metals and the protection

of antioxidants, however a more comprehensive study must be conducted to acquire further results. Cigarettes affect the mucosa of the bronchial tree which consists of the larynx, the trachea, primary bronchus, secondary bronchus, tertiary bronchus, bronchioles, alveolar ducts with alveoli and the air blood barrier of the lungs making the latter more permeable.²¹⁰ Therefore, due to the oxygen carrying properties of erythrocytes these cells are often the first targets of exposure following absorption of the components of cigarette smoke due to the close proximity of blood vessels to the alveoli.^{211,212}

Carcinogenesis is associated with alterations to DNA structure such as DNA adduct formation.²¹³ If these adducts are not excised by the DNA repair enzymes, permanent mutations in the DNA can occur. If these mutations occur in critical regions of an oncogene such as Kirsten rat sarcomas (KRA) or a tumour suppressor gene such as tumour protein 53 (TP53), it results in a loss of normal growth control mechanisms and leads to the development of cancer.²¹³ A limitation in using human erythrocytes is that these cells do not contain organelles and DNA, thus the effect of cigarette smoke and its toxins on nucleated cells of the bronchial tree and the lungs, and specific sites of tumour development cannot be investigated. For the same reasons this study provides no information on the effect of these metals on the development of COPDs like emphysema.

For all assays a dosage effect was not determined such as in the DCFH-DA assay. In addition, it was found that to form free radicals, H_2O_2 is required as the substrate of the Fenton reaction as shown in Section 2.4.4. Therefore, if H_2O_2 was added as a substrate in the DCFH-DA assay, metals, Cd and Cr may have cellular oxidative effects due to radical formation. Erythrocytes have high levels of catalase and consequently it may be necessary to mix the metals with H_2O_2 prior to exposure to erythrocytes.^{123,214}

Dietary polyphenols have been shown to reduce the risk for cancer. A limitation of this study due to the cell type used, did not allow for this aspect of antioxidant action to be investigated.

5.5 FUTURE PERSPECTIVES

The erythrocyte model can be used to further investigate the effects of other metals that are environmental pollutants alone and in combination. Metals can be chosen that have an impact on the health and well-being of the South African population.²¹⁵

This study identified that the oxidative effects of Pb caused haemolysis, however for Al, Cr and Cd this was not the mode of action. Another possible mechanism is energy depletion which is associated with changes in Ca^{2+} channel functioning. Loss of K⁺ through these

channels leads to cell shrinkage, whereas the exit of K⁺ and entry of Na⁺ leads to swelling. Ca²⁺ entry into cells also leads to alterations of the membrane phospholipids and induces morphological changes.²¹⁶ Excessive swelling may lead to cell membrane dysfunction leading to haemolysis.^{217,218}

Further studies can also include the effect of these metals on organ specific cell lines such as the immortalised HBE1 (human bronchial epithelial cell line), the non-invasive lung cancer cell line, the CL1-0 (lung adenocarcinoma cell line), and its more metastatic clone CL1-5 (lung adenocarcinoma cell line). Thai²¹⁹ *et al.* (2013) investigated the effect of cigarette smoke on a novel long non-coding Ribonucleic acid (RNA), Smoke and Cancer Associated LncRNA 1 (SCAL1) cell line. A549 (adenocarcinomic human alveolar basal epithelial cells) were used in a study by Checa²²⁰ *et al.* (2016) to investigate if cigarette smoke increases the expression of profibrotic molecules in alveolar epithelial cells.^{219,220} Many of these cell lines are cancer cell lines and do not necessarily reflect the response of normal epithelium of the bronchi and lungs. Primary cultures or an animal based study can be used to address these limitations. According to Churg *et al.* (2008), the C57BL/6 mouse model is the most appropriate model when investigating lung complications associated with cigarette smoke.²²¹

In addition, the effects of metal mixtures as found in cigarettes can also be investigated using both *in vitro* and *in vivo* models to investigate their synergistic effects. The effect on RNA and protein expression as well as cellular metabolic activity compared to control cells can be determined. The effect of these metals alone and in combination on the expression of cancer associated genes such as tumour suppressor genes is also an important aspect that can be further researched. Immunohistochemistry, protein blotting, *in situ* hybridisation and quantitative reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) can be used to examine changes in gene expression in cell lines and animals exposed to each metal alone and in combination.

Polyphenols were found to reduce the toxic effects of Pb, Cd, Cr and Al. In order to reduce the toxic effect of Pb, Cd, Cr and Al it is necessary to identify polyphenols that do not undergo neutral pH degradation and that are bioavailable.²²² Likewise, the effect of fruit and/or vegetable water extracts on markers of Pb mediated oxidative damage can also be further investigated in a rat model.

Kasperczyk³⁶ *et al.* (2015) showed that Pb caused MDA and protein carbonyl levels that were significantly increased, whereas proteins and protein sulfhydryls were significantly decreased in Pb exposed workers.³⁶ Likewise, using an animal model the effects of Cd, Cr and Al on lipid peroxidation, protein carbonylation and GSH can also be determined in blood and lung tissue.

The effects of polyphenols as well as fruits and vegetables rich in polyphenols can then be determined. This can lead to dietary intervention studies.

A concern identified in this study was that ascorbic acid can bind metals. Khand²²³ *et al.* (2014) reported that smoking caused a significant decrease in plasma ascorbic acid and α -tocopherol levels compared to non-smokers.²²³ It has also been found that the incidence of periodontal disease in smokers is much higher than that of non-smokers, and this was associated with lower plasma ascorbic acid levels in smokers.²²⁴ Furthermore ascorbic acid is also an important co-factor in many important biochemical processes such as collagen biosynthesis and disruption of these pathways can lead to non-lung associated disease such as periodontal disease.

CHAPTER 6: REFERENCES

- Sitas F, Urban M, Bradshaw D, Kielkowski D, Bah S, Peto R. Tobacco attributable deaths in South Africa. Tob. Control 2004; 13(4):396-399.
- Yach D, McIntyre D, Saloojee Y. Smoking in South Africa: the health and economic impact. Tob.Control 1992;1(4):272.
- Harris JE. Cigarette smoke components and disease: cigarette smoke is more than a triad of tar, nicotine, and carbon monoxide. Smoking and tobacco control monograph. 1996; (7):59-75.
- Bernhard D, Rossmann A, Wick G. Metals in cigarette smoke. IUBMB Life 2005;57(12):805-809.
- Ames BN, Shigenaga MK, Hagen TM. Oxidants, antioxidants, and the degenerative diseases of aging. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 1993; 90(17):7915-7922.
- 6. Banoczy J, Squier C. Smoking and disease. Eur.J. Dent. Educ. 2004; Suppl 4:7-10.
- Reddy P, Meyer-Weitz A, Yach D. Smoking status, knowledge of health effects and attitudes towards tobacco control in South Africa. S.Afr.Med.J. 1996; 86(11):1389-1393.
- van Walbeek C. Recent trends in smoking prevalence in South Africa--some evidence from AMPS data. S.Afr.Med.J. 2002; 92(6):468-472.
- Chiba M, Masironi R. Toxic and trace elements in tobacco and tobacco smoke. Bull.World Health Organ. 1992; 70(2):269-275.
- Gichner T, Patkova Z, Szakova J, Demnerova K. Toxicity and DNA damage in tobacco and potato plants growing on soil polluted with heavy metals. Ecotoxicol.Environ.Saf. 2006; 65(3):420-426.
- 11. Golia E, Dimirkou A, Mitsios† I. Heavy-metal concentration in tobacco leaves in relation to their available soil fractions. Commun.Soil Sci.Plant Anal. 2009; 40(1-6):106-120.
- Lee J, Koo N, Min D. Reactive oxygen species, aging, and antioxidative nutraceuticals. Comp.Rev. Food. Sci. Food.Saf. 2004; 3(1):21-33.
- Pandey KB, Rizvi SI. Markers of oxidative stress in erythrocytes and plasma during aging in humans. Oxid Med.Cell.Longev. 2010; 3(1):2-12.
- 14. Lu JM, Lin PH, Yao Q, Chen C. Chemical and molecular mechanisms of antioxidants: experimental approaches and model systems. J.Cell.Mol.Med. 2010; 14(4):840-860.
- Bergendi L, Benes L, Durackova Z, Ferencik M. Chemistry, physiology and pathology of free radicals. Life Sci. 1999; 65(18-19):1865-1874.
- Valko M, Leibfritz D, Moncol J, Cronin MT, Mazur M, Telser J. Free radicals and antioxidants in normal physiological functions and human disease. Int.J.Biochem.Cell Biol. 2007;39(1):44-84.
- Jomova K, Valko M. Advances in metal-induced oxidative stress and human disease. Toxicology 2011; 283(2-3):65-87.
- Ercal N, Gurer-Orhan H, Aykin-Burns N. Toxic metals and oxidative stress part I: mechanisms involved in metal-induced oxidative damage. Curr.Top.Med.Chem. 2001; 1(6):529-539.

- 19. Hsu PC, Guo YL. Antioxidant nutrients and lead toxicity. Toxicology 2002; 180(1):33-44.
- Samet JM. Tobacco smoking: the leading cause of preventable disease worldwide. Thorac. Surg. Clin. 2013; 23(2):103-112.
- Patrick L. Lead toxicity part II: the role of free radical damage and the use of antioxidants in the pathology and treatment of lead toxicity. Altern. Med. Rev.2006 ;11(2):114.
- Pacht ER, Kaseki H, Mohammed JR, Cornwell DG, Davis WB. Deficiency of vitamin E in the alveolar fluid of cigarette smokers. Influence on alveolar macrophage cytotoxicity. J.Clin.Invest. 1986; 77(3):789-796.
- Hubbard RC, Ogushi F, Fells GA, Cantin AM, Jallat S, Courtney M, et al. Oxidants spontaneously released by alveolar macrophages of cigarette smokers can inactivate the active site of alpha 1-antitrypsin, rendering it ineffective as an inhibitor of neutrophil elastase. J.Clin.Invest. 1987; 80(5):1289-1295.
- Nowak D, Antczak A, Krol M, Pietras T, Shariati B, Bialasiewicz P, et al. Increased content of hydrogen peroxide in the expired breath of cigarette smokers. Eur.Respir.J. 1996; 9(4):652-657.
- Schaberg T, Haller H, Rau M, Kaiser D, Fassbender M, Lode H. Superoxide anion release induced by platelet-activating factor is increased in human alveolar macrophages from smokers. Eur.Respir.J. 1992; 5(4):387-393.
- Eisinger J. Lead and wine. Eberhard Gockel and the colica Pictonum. Med.Hist. 1982; 26(3):279-302.
- 27. Gidlow DA. Lead toxicity. Occup.Med.(Lond). 2004; 54(2):76-81.
- Ahamed M, Siddiqui MK. Low level lead exposure and oxidative stress: current opinions. Clin.Chim.Acta. 2007; 383(1-2):57-64.
- Pande M, Flora S. Lead induced oxidative damage and its response to combined administration of α-lipoic acid and succimers in rats. Toxicology. 2002; 177(2):187-196.
- 30. Jarup L. Hazards of heavy metal contamination. Br.Med.Bull. 2003; 68:167-182.
- Andren P, Schütz A, Vahter M, Attewell R, Johansson L, Willers S, et al. Environmental exposure to lead and arsenic among children living near a glassworks. Sci.Total Environ. 1988; 7(1):25-34.
- Gurer H, Ercal N. Can antioxidants be beneficial in the treatment of lead poisoning? Free Radic.Biol.Med. 2000; 15;29(10):927-945.
- Monteiro HP, Bechara EJ, Abdalla DS. Free radicals involvement in neurological porphyrias and lead poisoning. Mol.Cell.Biochem. 1991; 103(1):73-83.
- Monteiro HP, Abdalla DS, Faljoni-Alàrio A, Bechara EJ. Generation of active oxygen species during coupled autoxidation of oxyhemoglobin and δ-aminolevulinic acid. Biochim. Biophys. Acta (BBA)-General Subjects. 1986; 881(1):100-106.
- Yiin SJ, Lin TH. Lead-catalyzed peroxidation of essential unsaturated fatty acid. Biol.Trace Elem.Res. 1995; 50(2):167-172.
- Kasperczyk S, Slowinska-Lozynska L, Kasperczyk A, Wielkoszynski T, Birkner E. The effect of occupational lead exposure on lipid peroxidation, protein carbonylation, and plasma viscosity. Toxicol.Ind.Health. 2015; 31(12):1165-1171.

- Shafiq-Ur-Rehman. Lead-induced regional lipid peroxidation in brain. Toxicol.Lett. 1984; 21(3):333-337.
- Valko M, Morris H, Cronin M. Metals, toxicity and oxidative stress. Curr.Med.Chem. 2005;12(10):1161-1208.
- Jarup L, Akesson A. Current status of cadmium as an environmental health problem. Toxicol.Appl.Pharmacol. 2009; 238(3):201-208.
- 40. Godt J, Scheidig F, Grosse-Siestrup C, Esche V, Brandenburg P, Reich A, *et al.* The toxicity of cadmium and resulting hazards for human health. J.Occup.Med.Toxicol. 2006; 10;1:22.
- 41. Galaris D, Evangelou A. The role of oxidative stress in mechanisms of metal-induced carcinogenesis. Crit.Rev.Oncol.Hematol. 2002; 42(1):93-103.
- 42. Järup L. Cadmium overload and toxicity. Nephrol. Dial. Transplant. 2002;17(suppl 2):35-39.
- Liu J, Qu W, Kadiiska MB. Role of oxidative stress in cadmium toxicity and carcinogenesis. Toxicol.Appl.Pharmacol. 2009; 238(3):209-214.
- 44. Viccellio P. Handbook of medical toxicology: Little, Brown, and Company; 1993.
- 45. Sittig M. Hazardous and toxic effects of industrial chemicals: Noyes Data Corporation Park Ridge, New Jersey, USA; 1979.
- Sarkar S, Yadav P, Trivedi R, Bansal A, Bhatnagar D. Cadmium-induced lipid peroxidation and the status of the antioxidant system in rat tissues. J.Trace. Elem. Med. Biol. 1995; 9(3):144-149.
- 47. Tainer J. Macromolecular Machines as Master Keys for Genome Integrity, the Cell Cycle, Control of Reactive Oxygen Species, and Pathogenesis. 2006.
- 48. Valko M, Jomova K, Rhodes CJ, Kuča K, Musílek K. Redox-and non-redox-metal-induced formation of free radicals and their role in human disease. Arch.Toxicol. 2016 90(1):1-37.
- Kostić M, Ognjanović B, Dimitrijević S, Zikić R, Zsctajn A, Rosić G, et al. Cadmium-induced changes of antioxidant and metabolic status in red blood cells of rats: in vivo effects. Eur.J.Haematol. 1993; 51(2):86-92.
- Ognjanović B, Pavlović S, Maletić S, Zikić R, Stajn A, Radojicić R, et al. Protective influence of vitamin E on antioxidant defense system in the blood of rats treated with cadmium. Physiol.Res. 2003; 52(5):563-570.
- 51. Bagchi D, Joshi SS, Bagchi M, Balmoori J, Benner E, Kuszynski C, *et al.* Cadmium-and chromium-induced oxidative stress, DNA damage, and apoptotic cell death in cultured human chronic myelogenous leukemic K562 cells, promyelocytic leukemic HL-60 cells, and normal human peripheral blood mononuclear cells. J.Biochem.Mol.Toxicol. 2000; 14(1):33-41.
- 52. Dayan AD, Paine AJ. Mechanisms of chromium toxicity, carcinogenicity and allergenicity: review of the literature from 1985 to 2000. Hum.Exp.Toxicol. 2001; 20(9):439-451.
- 53. Qi W, Reiter RJ, Tan DX, Garcia JJ, Manchester LC, Karbownik M, et al. Chromium(III)induced 8-hydroxydeoxyguanosine in DNA and its reduction by antioxidants: comparative effects of melatonin, ascorbate, and vitamin E. Environ.Health Perspect. 2000; 108(5):399-402.
- 54. Goldhaber SB. Trace element risk assessment: essentiality vs. toxicity. Regul.Toxicol.Pharmacol. 2003; 38(2):232-242.

- 55. Anderson RA. Chromium as an essential nutrient for humans. Regul.Toxicol.Pharmacol. 1997;26(1 Pt 2):S35-41.
- Park RM, Bena JF, Stayner LT, Smith RJ, Gibb HJ, Lees PS. Hexavalent chromium and lung cancer in the chromate industry: a quantitative risk assessment. Risk.Anal. 2004; 24(5):1099-1108.
- 57. Pechova A, Pavlata L. Chromium as an essential nutrient: a review. Vet.Med (Praha).2007;52(1):1.
- Gad SC. Acute and chronic systemic chromium toxicity. Sci.Total Environ. 1989; 86(1):149-157.
- 59. Lee CR, Yoo CI, Lee J, Kang SK. Nasal septum perforation of welders. Ind.Health. 2002;40(3):286-289.
- Chiba M, Shinohara A, Matsushita K, Watanabe H, Inaba Y. Indices of lead-exposure in blood and urine of lead-exposed workers and concentrations of major and trace elements and activities of SOD, GSH-Px and catalase in their blood. Tohoku J.Exp.Med. 1996; 178(1):49-62.
- Smith CJ, Livingston SD, Doolittle DJ. An international literature survey of "IARC Group I carcinogens" reported in mainstream cigarette smoke. Food Chem.Toxicol. 1997 35(10-11):1107-1130.
- Quievryn G, Messer J, Zhitkovich A. Carcinogenic chromium(VI) induces cross-linking of ascorbic acid to DNA in vitro and in human lung A549 cells. Biochemistry. 2002; 5;41(9):3156-3167.
- O'Brien T, Mandel HG, Pritchard DE, Patierno SR. Critical role of chromium (Cr)-DNA interactions in the formation of Cr-induced polymerase arresting lesions. Biochemistry. 2002; 15;41(41):12529-12537.
- Shi X, Dalal NS, Kasprzak KS. Generation of free radicals from hydrogen peroxide and lipid hydroperoxides in the presence of Cr(III). Arch.Biochem.Biophys. 1993; 302(1):294-299.
- 65. Lupescu A, Jilani K, Zelenak C, Zbidah M, Qadri SM, Lang F. Hexavalent chromium-induced erythrocyte membrane phospholipid asymmetry. Biometals. 2012; 25(2):309-318.
- Soudani N. Oxidative Damage in Erythrocytes of Rats after 1 and 2 Weeks of Exposure to Chromium (VI): Protective Effect of Selenium. Research & Reviews in BioSciences. 2016;11.
- Flaten TP, Alfrey AC, Birchall JD, Savory J, Yokel RA. Status and future concerns of clinical and environmental aluminum toxicology. J.Toxicol.Environ.Health. 1996; 48(6):527-541.
- Becaria A, Campbell A, Bondy S. Aluminum as a toxicant. Toxicol.Ind.Health. 2002; 18(7):309-320.
- Soni MG, White SM, Flamm WG, Burdock GA. Safety evaluation of dietary aluminum. Regul.Toxicol.Pharmacol. 2001; 33(1):66-79.
- Bharathi, Vasudevaraju P, Govindaraju M, Palanisamy AP, Sambamurti K, Rao KS. Molecular toxicity of aluminium in relation to neurodegeneration. Indian J.Med.Res. 2008; 128(4):545-556.
- Bondy SC, Ali SF, Guo-Ross S. Aluminum but not iron treatment induces pro-oxidant events in the rat brain. Mol. Chem. Neuropathol. 1998; 34(2-3):219-232.

- Lukyanenko LM, Skarabahatava AS, Slobozhanina EI, Kovaliova SA, Falcioni ML, Falcioni G. In vitro effect of AlCl₃ on human erythrocytes: changes in membrane morphology and functionality. J. Trace Elem. Med Biol. 2013; 27(2):160-167.
- 73. Ghorbel I, Maktouf S, Kallel C, Chaabouni SE, Boudawara T, Zeghal N. Disruption of erythrocyte antioxidant defense system, hematological parameters, induction of proinflammatory cytokines and DNA damage in liver of co-exposed rats to aluminium and acrylamide. Chem.Biol.Interact. 2015; 236:31-40.
- 74. Nazir SA, Al-Hamed MM, Erbland ML. Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease in the older patient. Clin.Chest Med. 2007; 28(4):703-15, vi.
- Wouters EF. Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. 5: systemic effects of COPD. Thorax. 2002; 57(12):1067-1070.
- 76. Beers MH, Fletcher AJ, Jones T, Porter R. The Merck manual of medical information: Pocket Books; 2004.
- Edelman NH, Rucker RB, Peavy HH. NIH workshop summary: Nutrition and the respiratory system. Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD). Am.Rev.Respir.Dis. 1986; 134(2):347-352.
- Taraseviciene-Stewart L, Voelkel NF. Molecular pathogenesis of emphysema. J.Clin.Invest. 2008; 118(2):394-402.
- Barnes PJ, Celli BR. Systemic manifestations and comorbidities of COPD. Eur.Respir.J. 2009; 33(5):1165-1185.
- Rahman I, Adcock IM. Oxidative stress and redox regulation of lung inflammation in COPD. Eur.Respir.J. 2006; 28(1):219-242.
- Rahman I, MacNee W. Role of oxidants/antioxidants in smoking-induced lung diseases. Free Radic.Biol.Med. 1996; 21(5):669-681.
- 82. MacNee W. Oxidants/antioxidants and COPD. Chest 2000; 117(5 Suppl 1):303S-17S.
- Fiorini G, Crespi S, Rinaldi M, Oberti E, Vigorelli R, Palmieri G. Serum ECP and MPO are increased during exacerbations of chronic bronchitis with airway obstruction. Biomed.Pharmacother. 2000; 54(5):274-278.
- Van der Vliet A, Smith D, O'Neill CA, Kaur H, Darley-Usmar V, Cross CE, et al. Interactions of peroxynitrite with human plasma and its constituents: oxidative damage and antioxidant depletion. Biochem.J. 1994; 303 (Pt 1)(Pt 1):295-301.
- Cooley ME. Symptoms in adults with lung cancer. A systematic research review. J.Pain Symptom Manage. 2000; 19(2):137-153.
- Landis SH, Murray T, Bolden S, Wingo PA. Cancer statistics, 1999. CA Cancer.J.Clin. 1999; 49(1):8-31.
- Hecht SS. Tobacco smoke carcinogens and lung cancer. J.Natl.Cancer Inst. 1999; 91(14):1194-1210.
- Wistuba II, Lam S, Behrens C, Virmani AK, Fong KM, LeRiche J, et al. Molecular damage in the bronchial epithelium of current and former smokers. J.Natl.Cancer Inst. 1997; 89(18):1366-1373.

- Morabia A, Wynder EL. Cigarette smoking and lung cancer cell types. Cancer. 1991; 68(9):2074-2078.
- Pryor WA. Cigarette smoke radicals and the role of free radicals in chemical carcinogenicity. Environ.Health Perspect. 1997; 105 Suppl 4:875-882.
- 91. Patel YM, Park SL, Carmella SG, Paiano V, Olvera N, Stram DO, et al. Metabolites of the polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon phenanthrene in the urine of cigarette smokers from five ethnic groups with differing risks for lung cancer. PloS one. 2016;11(6):1-15
- Halliwell B, Gutteridge JM. Oxygen toxicity, oxygen radicals, transition metals and disease. Biochem.J. 1984;219(1):1-14.
- Lakhtakia R, Ramji MT, Lavanya K, Rajesh K, Jayakumar K, Sneha C, et al. The role of antioxidants in human health maintenance: Small molecules with infinite functions. IJPSR. 2011; 2:1395-1402.
- Vertuani S, Angusti A, Manfredini S. The antioxidants and pro-antioxidants network: an overview. Curr.Pharm.Des. 2004; 10(14):1677-1694.
- 95. Sies H. Oxidative stress: oxidants and antioxidants. Exp. Physiol. 1997; 82(2):291-295.
- 96. Mozaffarieh M, Grieshaber MC, Orgul S, Flammer J. The potential value of natural antioxidative treatment in glaucoma. Surv.Ophthalmol. 2008; 53(5):479-505.
- Huang D, Ou B, Prior RL. The chemistry behind antioxidant capacity assays. J.Agric.Food Chem. 2000 ;53(6):1841-1856.
- Hacisevki A. An overview of ascorbic acid biochemistry. J Fac Pharm Ankara. 2009; 38:233-255.
- Bravo L. Polyphenols: chemistry, dietary sources, metabolism, and nutritional significance. Nutr.Rev. 1998; 56(11):317-333.
- Manach C, Williamson G, Morand C, Scalbert A, Remesy C. Bioavailability and bioefficacy of polyphenols in humans. I. Review of 97 bioavailability studies. Am.J.Clin.Nutr. 2005; 81(1 Suppl):230S-242S.
- 101. Scalbert A, Williamson G. Dietary intake and bioavailability of polyphenols. J.Nutr. 2000;130(8S Suppl):2073S-85S.
- Dimitrios B. Sources of natural phenolic antioxidants. Trends Food Sci.Technol. 2006; 17(9):505-512.
- 103. Nijveldt RJ, van Nood E, van Hoorn DE, Boelens PG, van Norren K, van Leeuwen PA. Flavonoids: a review of probable mechanisms of action and potential applications. Am.J.Clin.Nutr. 2001; 74(4):418-425.
- 104. Ghasemzadeh A, Ghasemzadeh N. Flavonoids and phenolic acids: Role and biochemical activity in plants and human. J. Med. Plant. Res. 2011; 5(31):6697-6703.
- 105. Sroka Z, Cisowski W. Hydrogen peroxide scavenging, antioxidant and anti-radical activity of some phenolic acids. Food Chem. Toxicol. 2003; 41(6):753-758.
- 106. Flora G, Gupta D, Tiwari A. Toxicity of lead: A review with recent updates. Interdiscip.Toxicol. 2012; 5(2):47-58.

- 107. Chen L, Yang X, Jiao H, Zhao B. Tea catechins protect against lead-induced ROS formation, mitochondrial dysfunction, and calcium dysregulation in PC12 cells. Chem.Res.Toxicol. 2003; 16(9):1155-1161.
- 108. Garcia-Rodriguez Mdel C, Carvente-Juarez MM, Altamirano-Lozano MA. Antigenotoxic and apoptotic activity of green tea polyphenol extracts on hexavalent chromium-induced DNA damage in peripheral blood of CD-1 mice: analysis with differential acridine orange/ethidium bromide staining. Oxid Med.Cell.Longev. 2013; 2013:486419.
- 109. Mandel SA, Amit T, Weinreb O, Reznichenko L, Youdim MB. Simultaneous manipulation of multiple brain targets by green tea catechins: a potential neuroprotective strategy for Alzheimer and Parkinson diseases. CNS Neurosci. Ther. 2008; 14(4):352-365.
- Zhai Q, Narbad A, Chen W. Dietary strategies for the treatment of cadmium and lead toxicity. Nutrients. 2015; 7(1):552-571.
- 111. Simon JA, Hudes ES. Relationship of ascorbic acid to blood lead levels. JAMA. 1999; 281(24):2289-2293.
- 112. Ghorbel I, Elwej A, Chaabane M, Jamoussi K, Mnif H, Boudawara T, et al. Selenium alleviates oxidative stress and lung damage induced by aluminum chloride in adult rats: Biochemical and Histological Approach. Biol.Trace Elem.Res. 2016; Vol 1-11.
- 113. El-Demerdash FM, Yousef MI, Kedwany FS, Baghdadi HH. Cadmium-induced changes in lipid peroxidation, blood hematology, biochemical parameters and semen quality of male rats: protective role of vitamin E and beta-carotene. Food Chem.Toxicol. 2004; 42(10):1563-1571.
- 114. Afeefy AA, Salah M, Tolba AM. The role of vitamin E in reducing aluminum hydroxide effects on testes of albino rats: a histological and immunohistochemical study. IRJABS. 2016; 10(4):369-379.
- Sugiyama M, Lin XH, Costa M. Protective effect of vitamin E against chromosomal aberrations and mutation induced by sodium chromate in Chinese hamster V79 cells. Mutat. Res. 1991; 260(1):19-23.
- 116. Kumari RR, Kumar P, Mondal TK. Effect of Vitamin E and selenium on haematological parameters in sub-acute toxicity of hexavalent chromium in broiler chick. Natl. J. Physiol. Pharm. Pharmacol. 2013; 3(2):158-161.
- 117. El-Batouti A. Histological and ultrastructural evaluation of the protective effect of ginseng on gamma-irradiated rats' salivary glands. J.Nat.Sci. 2013; 11(8):114.
- 118. Deraz EM, Abd-Elhamid AME, Fahmi AN. Histological and ultrastructural study of the effect of potassium dichromate with evaluation of potential protective role of ascorbic acid on submandibular salivary gland of rats. J. Am.Sci. 2016; 12(2):84-90.
- 119. Koyuturk M, Yanardag R, Bolkent S, Tunali S. Influence of combined antioxidants against cadmium induced testicular damage. Environ.Toxicol.Pharmacol. 2006; 21(3):235-240.
- 120. Godic A, Poljsak B, Adamic M, Dahmane R. The role of antioxidants in skin cancer prevention and treatment. Oxid Med.Cell.Longev. 2014; 2014:860479.
- 121. Baradaran A, Rafieian-kopaei M. Oxidative stress and hypertension: Possibility of hypertension therapy with antioxidants. J. Res. Med Sci. 2014 19(4):358-367.

- 122. Ardalan MR, Rafieian-Kopaei M. Antioxidant supplementation in hypertension. J Renal Inj Prev. 2014; 3(2):39-40.
- 123. Zuo L, He F, Sergakis GG, Koozehchian MS, Stimpfl JN, Rong Y, et al. Interrelated role of cigarette smoking, oxidative stress, and immune response in COPD and corresponding treatments. Am.J.Physiol.Lung Cell.Mol.Physiol. 2014; 307(3):L205-18.
- 124. Britton JR, Pavord ID, Richards KA, Knox AJ, Wisniewski AF, Lewis SA, et al. Dietary antioxidant vitamin intake and lung function in the general population. Am.J.Respir.Crit.Care Med. 1995; 151(5):1383-1387.
- Rubio ML, Martin-Mosquero MC, Ortega M, Peces-Barba G, González-Mangado N. Oral Nacetylcysteine attenuates elastase-induced pulmonary emphysema in rats. Chest. 2004; 125(4):1500-1506.
- 126. Tanaka K, Sato K, Aoshiba K, Azuma A, Mizushima T. Superiority of PC-SOD to other anti-COPD drugs for elastase-induced emphysema and alteration in lung mechanics and respiratory function in mice. Am.J.Physiol.Lung Cell.Mol.Physiol. 2012; 302(12):L1250-61.
- 127. Riso P, Del Bo C, Vendrame S, Brusamolino A, Martini D, Bonacina G, et al. Modulation of plasma antioxidant levels, glutathione S-transferase activity and DNA damage in smokers following a single portion of broccoli: a pilot study. J.Sci.Food Agric. 2014; 94(3):522-528.
- 128. Fuchs-Tarlovsky V. Role of antioxidants in cancer therapy. Nutrition 2013 29(1):15-21.
- Clemens MR, Waladkhani AR, Bublitz K, Ehninger G, Gey KF. Supplementation with antioxidants prior to bone marrow transplantation. Wien.Klin.Wochenschr. 1997; 109(19):771-776.
- 130. Drisko JA, Chapman J, Hunter VJ. The use of antioxidants with first-line chemotherapy in two cases of ovarian cancer. J.Am.Coll.Nutr. 2003; 22(2):118-123.
- 131. Pathak AK, Bhutani M, Guleria R, Bal S, Mohan A, Mohanti BK, et al. Chemotherapy alone vs. chemotherapy plus high dose multiple antioxidants in patients with advanced non small cell lung cancer. J.Am.Coll.Nutr. 2005; 24(1):16-21.
- 132. MacNee W. Oxidants/antioxidants and COPD. Chest. 2000; 117(5 Suppl 1):303S-17S.
- Yasuda Y, Akiguchi I, Shio H, Kameyama M. Scanning electron microscopy studies of erythrocytes in spinocerebellar degeneration. J.Neurol.Neurosurg.Psychiatry. 1984; 47(3):269-274.
- 134. Gyawali P, Richards RS, Bwititi PT, Nwose EU. Association of abnormal erythrocyte morphology with oxidative stress and inflammation in metabolic syndrome. Blood Cells. Mol. Dis. 2015; 54(4):360-363.
- Chukhlovin A. Apoptosis and red blood cell echinocytosis: Common features. Scanning Microsc. 1996; 10(3):795.
- Číž M, Čížová H, Denev P, Kratchanova M, Slavov A, Lojek A. Different methods for control and comparison of the antioxidant properties of vegetables. Food Control. 2010; 21(4):518-523.
- 137. Ou B, Hampsch-Woodill M, Flanagan J, Deemer EK, Prior RL, Huang D. Novel fluorometric assay for hydroxyl radical prevention capacity using fluorescein as the probe. J. Agric. Food Chem. 2002; 50(10):2772-2777.

- Anipsitakis GP, Dionysiou DD. Degradation of organic contaminants in water with sulfate radicals generated by the conjunction of peroxymonosulfate with cobalt. Environ. Sci. Technol. 2003; 37(20):4790-4797.
- Leonard S, Gannett PM, Rojanasakul Y, Schwegler-Berry D, Castranova V, Vallyathan V, et al. Cobalt-mediated generation of reactive oxygen species and its possible mechanism. J. Inorg. Biochem. 1998; 70(3):239-244.
- 140. Serem JC, Bester MJ. Physicochemical properties, antioxidant activity and cellular protective effects of honeys from southern Africa. Food Chem. 2012; 133(4):1544-1550.
- 141. Blasa M, Angelino D, Gennari L, Ninfali P. The cellular antioxidant activity in red blood cells (CAA-RBC): a new approach to bioavailability and synergy of phytochemicals and botanical extracts. Food Chem. 2011; 125(2):685-691.
- 142. Ayers M. ChemSpider: The Free Chemical Database. 2015; Available at: <u>http://www.chemspider.com/</u>. Accessed 03/20/2015.
- 143. Pellegrini N, Serafini M, Colombi B, Del Rio D, Salvatore S, Bianchi M, et al. Total antioxidant capacity of plant foods, beverages and oils consumed in Italy assessed by three different in vitro assays. J. Nutr. 2003; 133(9):2812-2819.
- Yach D, McIntyre D, Saloojee Y. Smoking in South Africa: the health and economic impact. Tob.Control. 1992; 1(4):272.
- Lawton LJ, Donaldson W. Lead-induced tissue fatty acid alterations and lipid peroxidation. Biol.Trace Elem.Res. 1991;28(2):83-97.
- 146. Ribarov SR, Benov LC. Relationship between the hemolytic action of heavy metals and lipid peroxidation. Biochim. Biophys. Acta. 1981; 640(3):721-726.
- 147. Trombini TL, Oliveira E, Berlese DB, Minozzo R, De Deus T, Muller CD, et al. Inhibition of thiol-containing enzymes in erythrocytes of workers exposed to lead. Interciencia. 2015; 40(2):84-90.
- 148. Kiyoatake K, Nagadome S, Yamaguchi T. Membrane perturbations induced by the interactions of zinc ions with band 3 in human erythrocytes. Biochemistry and Biophysics Reports. 2015; 2:63-68.
- 149. Zhang J, Hou X, Ahmad H, Zhang H, Zhang L, Wang T. Assessment of free radicals scavenging activity of seven natural pigments and protective effects in AAPH-challenged chicken erythrocytes. Food Chem. 2014; 145:57-65.
- 150. Vinardell M, Sordé A, Díaz J, Baccarin T, Mitjans M. Comparative effects of macro-sized aluminum oxide and aluminum oxide nanoparticles on erythrocyte hemolysis: influence of cell source, temperature, and size. J. Nanopart. Res. 2015; 17(2):80-90.
- 151. Lahet J, Lenfant F, Lecordier J, Bureau A, Duvillard L, Chaillot B, et al. Effects of various osmolarity on human red blood cells in terms of potassium efflux and hemolysis induced by free radicals. Biomed. Pharmacother. 2008; 62(10):697-700.
- 152. Zhu QY, Holt RR, Lazarus SA, Orozco TJ, Keen CL. Inhibitory effects of cocoa flavanols and procyanidin oligomers on free radical-induced erythrocyte hemolysis. Exp.Biol.Med.(Maywood). 2002; 227(5):321-329.

- Niki E. [3] Free radicals initiators as source of water-or lipid-soluble peroxyl radicals. Meth.Enzymol. 1990; 186:100-108.
- 154. van den Berg R, Haenen GR, van den Berg H, Bast A. Applicability of an improved Trolox equivalent antioxidant capacity (TEAC) assay for evaluation of antioxidant capacity measurements of mixtures. Food Chem. 1999; 66(4):511-517.
- 155. Mandal S, Samanta T, Nelson VK, Bhandari K, Mitra A, Ghosh BC, et al. Protective effect of tea against copper (Cu) toxicity in erythrocytes. IJTS. 2013; 9(2/3):12-25.
- Kuznetsova TG, Starodubtseva MN, Yegorenkov NI, Chizhik SA, Zhdanov RI. Atomic force microscopy probing of cell elasticity. Micron. 2007; 38(8):824-833.
- 157. Starodubtseva MN. Mechanical properties of cells and ageing. Ageing. Res Rev. 2011; 10(1):16-25.
- 158. Starodubtseva MN, Tattersall AL, Kuznetsova TG, Yegorenkov NI, Ellory JC. Structural and functional changes in the membrane and membrane skeleton of red blood cells induced by peroxynitrite. Bioelectrochemistry. 2008; 73(2):155-162.
- 159. Vetbook. Echino Figure 1. 2009; Available at: http://vetbook.org/wiki/cat/images/4/4f/EchinoFig1.jpg. Accessed 03/07, 2015.
- Lang K, Duranton C, Poehlmann H, Myssina S, Bauer C, Lang F, et al. Cation channels trigger apoptotic death of erythrocytes. Cell. Death. Differ. 2003; 10(2):249-256.
- 161. Lang F, Föller M, Lang K, Lang P, Ritter M, Gulbins E, et al. Ion channels in cell proliferation and apoptotic cell death. J. Membr. Biol. 2005; 205(3):147-157.
- 162. Lang KS, Lang PA, Bauer C, Duranton C, Wieder T, Huber SM, et al. Mechanisms of suicidal erythrocyte death. Cell. Physiol. Biochem. 2005;15(5):195-202.
- Lang PA, Kaiser S, Myssina S, Wieder T, Lang F, Huber SM. Role of Ca2+-activated K+ channels in human erythrocyte apoptosis. Am. J. Physiol. Cell. Physiol. 2003; 285(6):C1553-60.
- Brunauer LS, Moxness MS, Huestis WH. Hydrogen peroxide oxidation induces the transfer of phospholipids from the membrane into the cytosol of human erythrocytes. Biochemistry. 1994; 33(15):4527-4532.
- 165. Ciccoli L, Signorini C, Alessandrini C, Ferrali M, Comporti M. Iron release, lipid peroxidation, and morphological alterations of erythrocytes exposed to acrolein and phenylhydrazine. Exp. Mol. Pathol. 1994; 60(2):108-118.
- 166. Lloyd RV, Hanna PM, Mason RP. The origin of the hydroxyl radical oxygen in the Fenton reaction. Free Radical. Bio. Med. 1997; 22(5):885-888.
- 167. Xu J, Lian L, Wu C, Wang X, Fu W, Xu L. Lead induces oxidative stress, DNA damage and alteration of p53, Bax and Bcl-2 expressions in mice. Food. Chem. Toxicol. 2008; 46(5):1488-1494.
- 168. Jing Y, Liu LZ, Jiang Y, Zhu Y, Guo NL, Barnett J, et al. Cadmium increases HIF-1 and VEGF expression through ROS, ERK, and AKT signaling pathways and induces malignant transformation of human bronchial epithelial cells. Toxicol. Sci. 2012; 125(1):10-19.

- 169. Ye J, Wang S, Leonard SS, Sun Y, Butterworth L, Antonini J, et al. Role of reactive oxygen species and p53 in chromium(VI)-induced apoptosis. J. Biol. Chem. 1999; 274(49):34974-34980.
- 170. Vota DM, Crisp RL, Nesse AB, Vittori DC. Oxidative stress due to aluminum exposure induces eryptosis which is prevented by erythropoietin. J.Cell.Biochem. 2012; 113(5):1581-1589.
- 171. Lopes, Ana Carolina B Almeida, Peixe TS, Mesas AE, Paoliello MM. Lead exposure and oxidative stress: A systematic review. Rev. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 2016; 263: 193-238.
- 172. Rahman I, Kode A, Biswas SK. Assay for quantitative determination of glutathione and glutathione disulfide levels using enzymatic recycling method. Nat. Protoc. 2006; 1(6):3159-3165.
- 173. Ribarov S, Benov L, Benchev I, Monovich O, Markova V. Hemolysis and peroxidation in heavy metal-treated erythrocytes; GSH content and activities of some protecting enzymes. Experientia. 1982; 38(11):1354-1355.
- 174. Ow Y, Stupans I. Gallic acid and gallic acid derivatives: effects on drug metabolizing enzymes. Curr. Drug Metab. 2003; 4(3):241-248.
- 175. Manach C, Williamson G, Morand C, Scalbert A, Remesy C. Bioavailability and bioefficacy of polyphenols in humans. I. Review of 97 bioavailability studies. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 2005; 81(1 Suppl):230S-242S.
- Arts I, van de Putte B, Hollman P. Catechin contents of foods commonly consumed in The Netherlands. 2. Tea, wine, fruit juices, and chocolate milk. J. Agric. Food Chem. 2000; 48(5):1752-1757.
- 177. Halliwell B, Gutteridge JM. Free radicals in biology and medicine: Oxford University Press, USA; 2015.
- 178. El Gharras H. Polyphenols: food sources, properties and applications–a review. Int. J. Food Sci. Tech. 2009; 44(12):2512-2518.
- 179. Hollman PC, van Trijp JM, Buysman MN, Mengelers MJ, de Vries JH, Katan MB. Relative bioavailability of the antioxidant flavonoid quercetin from various foods in man. FEBS Lett. 1997; 418(1-2):152-156.
- Szeto YT, Tomlinson B, Benzie IF. Total antioxidant and ascorbic acid content of fresh fruits and vegetables: implications for dietary planning and food preservation. Br. J. Nutr. 2002; 87(1):55-59.
- 181. Tagliafierro L, Officioso A, Sorbo S, Basile A, Manna C. The protective role of olive oil hydroxytyrosol against oxidative alterations induced by mercury in human erythrocytes. Food. Chem. Toxicol. 2015;82:59-63.
- 182. Officioso A, Alzoubi K, Lang F, Manna C. Hydroxytyrosol inhibits phosphatidylserine exposure and suicidal death induced by mercury in human erythrocytes: possible involvement of the glutathione pathway. Food. Chem. Toxicol. 2016; 89: 47-53.
- 183. Liu S, Huang H. Assessments of antioxidant effect of black tea extract and its rationals by erythrocyte haemolysis assay, plasma oxidation assay and cellular antioxidant activity (CAA) assay. J. Funct. Foods. 2015; 18:1095-1105.

- Manach C, Scalbert A, Morand C, Remesy C, Jimenez L. Polyphenols: food sources and bioavailability. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 2004; 9(5):727-747.
- 185. Weinreb O, Mandel S, Amit T, Youdim MB. Neurological mechanisms of green tea polyphenols in Alzheimer's and Parkinson's diseases. J. Nutr. Biochem. 2004; 15(9):506-516.
- Yen G, Duh P, Tsai H. Antioxidant and pro-oxidant properties of ascorbic acid and gallic acid. Food Chem. 2002; 79(3):307-313.
- 187. Kim S, Choi JE, Choi J, Chung K, Park K, Yi J, et al. Oxidative stress-dependent toxicity of silver nanoparticles in human hepatoma cells. Toxicol. In Vitro. 2009; 23(6):1076-1084.
- Malešev D, Kuntić V. Investigation of metal-flavonoid chelates and the determination of flavonoids via metal-flavonoid complexing reactions. J. Serb. Chem. Soc. 2007; 72(10):921-939.
- David Hoffmann F. Medical herbalism: the science and practice of herbal medicine: Inner Traditions/Bear & Co; 2003.
- 190. Hajji HE, Nkhili E, Tomao V, Dangles O. Interactions of quercetin with iron and copper ions: complexation and autoxidation. Free Radic. Res. 2006; 40(3):303-320.
- Fiorani M, De Sanctis R, De Bellis R, Dachà M. Intracellular flavonoids as electron donors for extracellular ferricyanide reduction in human erythrocytes. Free Rad. Bio. Med. 2002; 32(1):64-72.
- 192. de Souza RF, De Giovani WF. Antioxidant properties of complexes of flavonoids with metal ions. Redox Rep. 2004; 9(2):97-104.
- 193. Ostrowska J, Luczaj W, Skrzydlewska E, Panglossi H. Are teas the universal antioxidants? New York: Nova Science; 2007.
- 194. Weiss JF, Landauer MR. Protection against ionizing radiation by antioxidant nutrients and phytochemicals. Toxicology. 2003; 189(1):1-20.
- 195. Renugadevi J, Prabu SM. Naringenin protects against cadmium-induced oxidative renal dysfunction in rats. Toxicology. 2009; 256(1):128-134.
- Perron NR, Brumaghim JL. A review of the antioxidant mechanisms of polyphenol compounds related to iron binding. Cell Biochem. Biophys. 2009; 53(2):75-100.
- 197. Ji Y, Wang Z, Wang H, Zhang C, Zhang Y, Zhao M, et al. Ascorbic acid protects against cadmium-induced endoplasmic reticulum stress and germ cell apoptosis in testes. Reprod. Toxicol. 2012; 34(3):357-363.
- 198. Erdogan Z, Erdogan S, Celik S, Unlu A. Effects of ascorbic acid on cadmium-induced oxidative stress and performance of broilers. Biol.Trace Elem. Res. 2005; 104(1):19-31.
- Grosicki A. Influence of ascorbic acid on cadmium absorption and distribution in rats. J.Trace. Elem. Med. Bio. 2004; 18(2):183-187.
- Chambial S, Dwivedi S, Shukla KK, John PJ, Sharma P. Ascorbic acid in disease prevention and cure: an overview. Indian. J. Clin. Biochem. 2013; 28(4):314-328.
- 201. Messarah M, Klibet F, Boumendjel A, Abdennour C, Bouzerna N, Boulakoud MS, et al. Hepatoprotective role and antioxidant capacity of selenium on arsenic-induced liver injury in rats. Exp. Toxicol. Pathol. 2012; 64(3):167-174.

- 202. Othman AI, EI-Missiry MA. Role of selenium against lead toxicity in male rats. J.Biochem.Mol.Toxicol. 1998;12(6)345-349.
- 203. Krishnamoorthy VK, Rather IA. Protective effects of Emblica officinalis (Amla) on metalinduced lipid peroxidation in human erythrocytes. Pak. J. Pharm. Sci. 2016; 29(3):1023-1026.
- 204. Maya S, Prakash T, Madhu KD, Goli D. Multifaceted effects of aluminium in neurodegenerative diseases: a review. Biomed. Pharmacother. 2016; 83:746-754.
- 205. Lo JO, Schabel MC, Roberts VH, Morgan TK, Rasanen JP, Kroenke CD, et al. Ascorbic acid supplementation ameliorates the adverse effects of nicotine on placental hemodynamics and histology in nonhuman primates. Obstet.Gynecol. 2015 212(3):370e1-370.e8
- 206. McEvoy CT, Schilling D, Clay N, Jackson K, Go MD, Spitale P, et al. Ascorbic acid supplementation for pregnant smoking women and pulmonary function in their newborn infants: a randomized clinical trial. JAMA. 2014; 311(20):2074-2082.
- 207. Bo S, Ciccone G, Castiglione A, Gambino R, De Michieli F, Villois P, et al. Anti-inflammatory and antioxidant effects of resveratrol in healthy smokers a randomized, double-blind, placebocontrolled, cross-over trial. Curr.Med.Chem. 2013; 20(10):1323-1331.
- 208. Panahi Y, Ghanei M, Hajhashemi A, Sahebkar A. Effects of curcuminoids-piperine combination on systemic oxidative stress, clinical symptoms and quality of life in subjects with chronic pulmonary complications due to sulfur mustard: a randomized controlled trial. J. Diet. Suppl. 2016; 13(1):93-105.
- 209. Cho W, Duffin R, Bradley M, Megson IL, MacNee W, Lee JK, et al. Predictive value of in vitro assays depends on the mechanism of toxicity of metal oxide nanoparticles. Part. Fibre. Toxicol. 2013; 10(55):1-15.
- 210. Rizzo DC. Fundamentals of anatomy and physiology: Cengage Learning; 2015.
- Tamashiro E, Cohen NA, Palmer JN, Lima WTA. Effects of cigarette smoking on the respiratory epithelium and its role in the pathogenesis of chronic rhinosinusitis. Braz. J. Otorhinolaryngol. 2009; 75(6):903-907.
- Dye JA, Adler KB. Effects of cigarette smoke on epithelial cells of the respiratory tract. Thorax. 1994; 49(8):825-834.
- 213. Hecht SS. Lung carcinogenesis by tobacco smoke. Int. J. Cancer. 2012; 131(12):2724-2732.
- Lang F, Abed M, Lang E, Föller M. Oxidative stress and suicidal erythrocyte death. Antioxid. Redox Signal. 2014; 21(1):138-153.
- 215. Shamuyarira KK, Gumbo JR. Assessment of heavy metals in municipal sewage sludge: a case study of Limpopo Province, South Africa. Int. J. Environ. Res. 2014; 11(3):2569-2579.
- 216. Sopjani M, Foller M, Dreischer P, Lang F. Stimulation of eryptosis by cadmium ions. Cell. Physiol. Biochem. 2008; 22(1-4):245-252.
- Mechanisms and pathophysiological significance of eryptosis, the suicidal erythrocyte death.
 Seminars in Cell and Developmental Biology: Elsevier; 2015.
- 218. Lang E, Lang F. Triggers, inhibitors, mechanisms, and significance of eryptosis: the suicidal erythrocyte death. BioMed. Res. Int. 2015;2015:1-16.

- 219. Thai P, Statt S, Chen CH, Liang E, Campbell C, Wu R. Characterization of a novel long noncoding RNA, SCAL1, induced by cigarette smoke and elevated in lung cancer cell lines. Am. J. Resp. Cell Mol. Biol. 2013; 49(2):204-211.
- Checa M, Hagood JS, Velazquez-Cruz R, Ruiz V, García-De-Alba C, Rangel-Escareño C, et al. Cigarette smoke enhances the expression of profibrotic molecules in alveolar epithelial cells. PloS one. 2016; 11(3):1-19.
- 221. Churg A, Cosio M, Wright JL. Mechanisms of cigarette smoke-induced COPD: insights from animal models. Am. J. Physiol. Lung Cell. Mol. Physiol. 2008; 294(4):L612-31.
- 222. Marín L, Miguélez EM, Villar CJ, Lombó F. Bioavailability of dietary polyphenols and gut microbiota metabolism: antimicrobial properties. BioMed. Res. Int. 2015; 2015:1-18.
- 223. Khand F, Shah AA, Khand TU. Effect of smoking on serum xanthine oxidase, malondialdehyde, ascorbic acid and α-tocopherol levels in healthy male subjects. Pak. J. Med. Sci. 2015; 31 (1): 146-149.
- 224. Mathias T, Silva JF, Sapata VM, Marson FC, Zanoni JN, Silva CO. Evaluation of the effects of periodontal treatment on levels of ascorbic acid in smokers. J. Int. Acad. Periodontol. 2014; 16(4):109-114.